



Financial Markets Management

Class-XII

Preface

About NSE Academy

NSE Academy is a subsidiary of National Stock Exchange of India. NSE Academy straddles the entire spectrum of financial courses for students of standard VIII and right up to MBA professionals. NSE Academy has tied up with premium educational institutes in order to develop pool of human resources having right skills and expertise which are apt for the financial market. Guided by our mission of spreading financial literacy for all, NSE Academy has constantly innovated its education template, this has resulted in improving the financial well-being of people at large in society. Our education courses have so far facilitated more than 41.8 lakh individuals become financially smarter through various initiatives.

NSE Academy's Certification in Financial Markets (NCFM)

NCFM is an online certification programme aimed at upgrading skills and building competency.

The programme has a widespread reach with testing centres present at more than 154+ locations across the country.

The NCFM offers certifications ranging from the Basic to Advanced.

One can register for the NCFM through:

- Online mode by creating an online login id through the link `Education'>`Certifications'
 >`Online Register / Enroll' available on the website www.nseindia.com
- Offline mode by filling up registration form available on the website www.nseindia.com > 'Education' >'Certifications' >'Register for Certification'

Once registered, a candidate is allotted a unique NCFM registration number along with an online login id and can avail of facilities like SMS alerts, online payment, checking of test schedules, online enrolment, profile update etc. through their login id.

CONTENTS

CHAP	TER1:]	Introduction to Indian Securities Market and Trading Membership 10
1.1	Market	Segments10
	1.1.1	Primary Market10
	1.1.2	Secondary Market10
1.2	Key Inc	licators of Securities Market10
	1.2.1	<i>Index</i> 10
	1.2.2	Market Capitalisation10
	1.2.3	Market Capitalisation Ratio11
	1.2.4	Turnover11
	1.2.5	Turnover Ratio11
1.3	Product	ts and Participants11
	1.3.1	Products11
	1.3.2	Participants11
1.4	Market	Segments and their Products13
1.5	Reform	s in Indian Securities Markets13
1.6	Stock E	Brokers16
1.7	NSE Me	embership17
	1.7.1	New Membership17
	1.7.2	Eligibility Criteria for Membership at NSE19
	1.7.3	Admission Procedure for New Membership25
1.8	Surren	der of Trading membership26
1.9	Suspen	sion & Expulsion of Membership28
	1.9.1	Basis of Suspension of Membership28
	1.9.2	Suspension of Business
	1.9.3	Removal of Suspension
	1.9.4	Consequences of Suspension
	1.9.5	Consequences of Expulsion
1.10	Declara	ition of Defaulter
1.11	Authori	sed Persons
1.12	Sub-Br	okers
	1.12.1	Eligibility
	1.12.2	Registration
	1.12.3	Cancellation of Registration

1.13	Broker-Clients Relations	6
	1.13.1 Client Registration Documents	6
	1.13.2 Unique Client Code(UCC)	7
	1.13.3 Margins from the Clients	8
	1.13.4 Execution of Orders	8
	1.13.5 Contract Note	9
	1.13.6 Payments/Delivery of Securities to the Clients	9
	1.13.7 Brokerage	9
	1.13.8 Segregation of Bank Accounts3	9
	1.13.9 Segregation of Demat (Beneficiary)Accounts4	0
1.14	Sub-Broker-Clients Relations4	0
	1.14.1 Relationship with clients4	0
	1.14.2 Contract notes4	0
	1.14.3 Securities/Funds4	0
1.15	Investor Service Cell and Arbitration4	1
1.16	Code of Advertisement4	1
СНАР	TER 2 : TRADING	5
2.1	Introduction4	5
2.2	NEAT System4	7
2.3	Market Types4	7
2.4	Trading System Users Hierarchy4	8
2.5	Local Database4	8
2.6	Market Phases4	9
2.7	Logging On5	1
2.8	Log Off / Exit from the Application5	4
2.9	NEAT Screen5	5
2.10	Invoking an Inquiry Screen5	6
	Market Watch5	6
	Security Descriptor	8
	Market by Price5	9
	Previous Trades	0
	Outstanding Orders	1
	Activity Log	2
	Order Status	3
	Snap Quote6	4
	Market Movement	4

	Market	Inquiry	65
	Auctior	n Inquiry	66
	Securit	ty /Portfolio List	67
	Multipl	e Index Broadcast and Graph	68
	Online	Backup	69
	Basket	Trading	70
	Buy Ba	ack Trades	72
	Supple	ementary Functions	72
2.10	Order I	Management	86
	2.10.1	Entering Orders	86
	2.10.2	2 Order Modification	92
	2.10.3	3 Order Cancellation	93
	2.10.4	Order Matching	93
2.11	Interne	et Broking	96
2.12	Co-loca	ation	97
2.13	Wireles	ss Application Protocol (WAP)	97
CHAF	TER3:	Clearing, Settlement and Legal Framework	
3.1	Introdu	uction	98
3.2	Key ter	rminologies used in Clearing and Settlement Process	98
3.3	Transa	ction Cycle	99
3.4	Settlen	nent Agencies	99
3.5	Clearin	ng and Settlement Process	
	3.5.1	Clearing Process	
	3.5.2	Settlement Process	
	3.5.3	Settlement Cycle	104
3.6	Securit	ties and Funds Settlement	
	3.6.1	Securities Settlement	106
	3.6.2	Funds Settlement	109
3.7	Shorta	ges Handling	
	3.7.1	Valuation Prices	
	3.7.2	Close-out Procedures	
3.8	Risks i	n Settlement	115
3.9	Risk Ma	anagement	116
	3.9.1	Capital Adequacy Requirements	
	3.9.2	Margins	
	3.9.3	On-Line Exposure Monitoring	
	3.9.4	Off-line Monitoring	
		2	

	3.9.5 Index-based Market-wide Circuit Breakers/Price Bands for Securities127
	3.9.6 Settlement Guarantee Mechanism128
3.10	International Securities Identification Number128
3.11	Data and Report Downloads130
	3.11.1 Obligation Reports130
	3.11.2 Custodial Trade Reports130
	3.11.3 Deliveries Reports
	<i>3.11.4 Funds Reports</i>
	3.11.5 Auction Reports
	3.11.6 Other Reports
3.12	SEBI (Intermediaries) Regulations,2008132
3.13	SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations,2015134
	3.13.1 Prohibition on Dealing, Communicating or Counseling (ChapterII)135
	3.13.2 Investigation (Chapter III)
	3.13.3 Disclosures and Internal Procedure for Prevention of Insider Trading (Chapter IV)
3.14	SEBI (Prohibition of fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices relating to securities
	market) Regulations, 2003
	3.14.1 Promotion of Certain Dealings in Securities
	<i>3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices</i> 139
3.15	<i>3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices</i>
3.15 3.16	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144
3.15 3.16 3.17	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 it important to learn about Derivatives?150
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 it important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 it important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151Basic Derivatives.153
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 Sit important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151Basic Derivatives153History of Financial Derivatives Markets154
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 it important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151Basic Derivatives153History of Financial Derivative Market156
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 s it important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151Basic Derivatives153History of Financial Derivative Market156Economic Function of the Derivative Market157
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 it important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151Basic Derivatives153History of Financial Derivatives Markets154Participants in a Derivative Market157Understanding Interest Rates158
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices139The Depositories Act, 1996141Indian Contract Act, 1872144Income Tax Act, 1961145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives150 Tit important to learn about Derivatives?150Types of Derivative Contracts151Basic Derivatives153History of Financial Derivatives Markets154Participants in a Derivative Market156Economic Function of the Derivative Market157Understanding Interest Rates158Understanding The Stock Index160
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices 139 The Depositories Act, 1996 141 Indian Contract Act, 1872 144 Income Tax Act, 1961 145 TER4: Introduction to Derivatives 150 it important to learn about Derivatives? 150 Types of Derivative Contracts 151 Basic Derivatives 153 History of Financial Derivative Markets 154 Participants in a Derivative Market 156 Economic Function of the Derivative Market 157 Understanding Interest Rates 158 Understanding The Stock Index 160 Economic Significance of Index Movements 160
3.15 3.16 3.17 CHAP Why is 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices 139 The Depositories Act, 1996 141 Indian Contract Act, 1872 144 Income Tax Act, 1961 145 FER4: Introduction to Derivatives 150 it important to learn about Derivatives? 150 Types of Derivative Contracts 151 Basic Derivatives 153 History of Financial Derivatives Markets 154 Participants in a Derivative Market 156 Economic Function of the Derivative Market 157 Understanding Interest Rates 158 Understanding The Stock Index 160 Index Construction 161

4.11	Applications of Index164
	Points to Remember165
CHA	PTER5: Introduction to Futures and Options167
5.1	Forward Contracts
5.2	Limitations of Forward Markets168
5.3	Introduction to Futures
5.4	Distinction between Futures and Forwards Contracts
5.5	Futures Terminology
5.6	Trading Underlying Vs. Trading Single Stock Futures
5.7	Futures Payoffs171
5.8	Pricing Futures173
5.9	Understanding Beta (β)
5.10	Numerical Illustration of Applications of Stock Futures177
5.11	Hedging using Stock Index Futures180
5.12	Option Terminology
5.13	Comparison between Futures and Options

List of Abbreviations

ADs	Authorised Dealers
AT	Algorithmic Trading
AI	Auction Inquiry
AL	Activity Log
ASBA	Application Supported by Blocked Amount
ADRs	American Depository Receipts
AL	Activity Log
AON	All or None
BOVL	Branch Order Value Limit
BSE	Bombay Stock Exchange
BM	Branch Manager
CADT	Client Allocation Details
CDS	Currency Derivatives Segment
CD	Cum-Dividend
СВ	Cum-Bonus
CLI	Client
CI	Cum-Interest
CM	Clearing Member
CR	Cum-Rights
CSD	Collateral Security Deposit
CDSL	Central Depositories Services Ltd.
CM	Capital Market
Co.	Company
CTCL	Computer to Computer Link
DEA	Department of Economic Affairs
DFDS	Demat Final Delivery Statement
DFRS	Demat Final Receipt Statement
DMA	Direct Market Access
DP	Depository Participant
DPG	Dominant Promoter Group
DQ	Disclosed Quantity
DvP	Delivery versus Payment
ECBs	External Commercial Borrowings
EPI	Early Pay-In
FCCBs	Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds
FI	Financial Institution
FII	Foreign Institutional Investors
FIPB	Foreign Investment Promotion Board
F&O	Futures and Options
FTP	File Transfer Protocol
FPO	Follow-on Public Offer
GDRs	Global Depository Receipts

HUF	Hindu Undivided Family
ICDR	Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements
IEPF	Investor Education and Protection Fund
IFSD	Initial Free Security Deposit
INST	Institutional
IOC	Immediate or Cancel
IPO	Initial Public Offer
IPF	Investor Protection Fund
ISC	Investor Service Cell
ISIN	International Securities Identification Number
KYC	Know Your Client
LTP	Last Trade Price
MBP	Market By Price
MAC	Membership Approval Committee
MF	Mutual Funds
MI	Market Inquiry
MM	Market Movement
MCA	Member Constituent Agreement
MCA	Ministry of Corporate Affairs
MRC	Membership Recommendation Committee
МТМ	Mark To Market
MW	Market Watch
NEAT	National Exchange for Automated Trading
NCFM	NSE's Certification in Financial Markets
NCIT	Non Custodian Institutional Trade
ND	No Delivery
NISM	National Institute of Securities Market
NOC	No Objection Certificate
NSCCL	National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd.
NSDL	National Securities Depository Ltd.
NSE	National Stock Exchange
NT	Negotiated Trade
0	Odd Lot market
OCXL	Order Cancellation
OTC	Over The Counter
OECLOB	Open Electronic Consolidated Limit Order Book
00	Outstanding Orders
ОМ	Order Modification
OS	Order Status
PAN	Permanent Account Number
PCM	Professional Clearing Member
PFRDA	Pension Fund Regulatory and Development Fund
PRO	Proprietary
	. ,

PT	Previous Trades
RBI	Reserve Bank of India
RDD	Risk Disclosure Document
RETDEBT	Retail Debt
RDM	Retail Debt Market
SAT	Securities Appellate Tribunal
SBTS	Screen Based Trading System
SC(R)A	Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956
SC(R)R	Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957
SEBI	Securities and Exchange Board of India
SL	Stop Loss
SLBS	Securities Lending and Borrowing Scheme
SGF	Settlement Guarantee Fund
SQ	Snap Quote
SRO	Self Regulatory Organization
STT	Securities Transaction Tax
SURCON	Surveillance and Control
T+2	Second day from the trading day
TFT	Trade for Trade
TFTS	Trade for Trade Surveillance
ТМ	Trading Member
UCC	Unique Client Code
UDR	Unique Documentary Requirement
UTI	Unit Trust of India
UOVL	User Order Value Limit
VaR	Value at Risk
VIX	Volatility Index
VSAT	Very Small Aperture Terminal
WDM	Wholesale Debt Market
XB	Ex-Bonus
XD	EX-Dividend
XI	Ex-Interest
XR	Ex-Rights

References and suggested readings

The readings suggested here are supplementary in nature and would prove to be helpful for those interested in acquiring advanced knowledge about Capital Markets.

- 1. <u>www.nseindia.com</u>
- 2. www.sebi.gov.in
- 3. www.rbi.org.in
- 4. <u>www.finmin.nic.in</u>
- 5. Rules, Regulations and Byelaws of NSEIL & NSCCL
- 6. Indian Securities Market: A Review NSEIL publication
- 7. NSE Newsletter NSEIL publication

Note:- Candidates are advised to refer to NSE's website: <u>www.nseindia.com</u> while preparing for NCFM test (s) for announcements pertaining to revisions/updations in NCFM modules or launch of new modules, if any.

Copyright © 2016 by NSE ACADEMY LTD (NAL)

National Stock Exchange of India Ltd. (NSE) Exchange Plaza, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051 INDIA

All content included in this book, such as text, graphics, logos, images, data compilation etc. are the property of NSE. This book or any part thereof should not be copied, reproduced, duplicated, sold, resold or exploited for any commercial purposes. Furthermore, the book in its entirety or any part cannot be stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise.

CHAPTER1: Introduction to Indian Securities Market and Trading Membership

1.1 Market Segments

Securities markets provide a channel for allocation of savings to those who have a productive need for them. The securities market has two interdependent and inseparable segments: (i) primary market and (ii) secondary market.

1.1.1 Primary Market

Primary market provides an opportunity to the issuers of securities, both Government and corporations, to raise resources to meet their requirements of investment. Securities, in the form of equity or debt, can be issued in domestic/international markets at face value, discount or premium.

The primary market issuance is done either through public issues or private placement. Under Companies Act, 1956, an issue is referred as public if it results in allotment of securities to 50 investors or more. However, when the issuer makes an issue of securities to a select group of persons not exceeding 49 and which is neither a rights issue nor a public issue it is called a private placement.

1.1.2 Secondary Market

Secondary market refers to a market where securities are traded after being offered to the public in the primary market or listed on the Stock Exchange. Secondary market comprises of equity, derivatives and the debt markets. The secondary market is operated through two mediums, namely, the Over-the-Counter (OTC) market and the Exchange-Traded market. OTC markets are informal markets where trades are negotiated.

1.2 key IndIcatorS of SecurItIeS Market

1.2.1 Index

An Index is used to give information about the price movements of products in the financial, commodities or any other markets. Stock market indices are meant to capture the overall behaviour of the equity markets. The stock market index is created by selecting a group of stocks that are representative of the whole market or a specified sector or segment of the market. The bluechip index of NSE is CNX Nifty.

1.2.2 Market Capitalisation

Market capitalisation is defined as value of all listed shares on the country's exchanges. It is computed on a daily basis. Market capitalisation of a particular company on a particular day

can be computed as product of the number of shares outstanding and the closing price of the share. Here the number of outstanding shares refers to the issue size of the stock.

Market Capitalisation = Closing price of share * Number of outstanding shares

Similarly, to compute the market capitalization of all companies listed on an Exchange we aggregate the market capitalization of all the companies traded on the Exchange.

1.2.3 Market Capitalisation Ratio

The market capitalization ratio is defined as market capitalization of stocks divided by GDP. It is used as a measure of stock market size.

1.2.4 Turnover

Turnover for a share is computed by multiplying the traded quantity with the price at which the trade takes place. Similarly, to compute the turnover of the companies listed at the Exchange we aggregate the traded value of all the companies traded on the Exchange.

1.2.5 Turnover Ratio

The turnover ratio is defined as the total value of shares traded on a country's stock Exchange for a particular period divided by market capitalization at the end of the period. It is used as a measure of trading activity or liquidity in the stock markets.

Turnover Ratio = Turnover at Exchange / Market Capitalisation at Exchange

1.3 **P**roductS and **P**artIcIPantS

1.3.1 Products

Financial markets facilitate reallocation of savings from savers to entrepreneurs. Savings are linked to investments by a variety of intermediaries through a range of complex financial products called "securities". Under the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act [SC(R)A], 1956, "securities" include (i) shares, bonds, scrips, stocks or other marketable securities of like nature in or of any incorporate company or body corporate, (ii) government securities, (iii) derivatives of securities, (iv) units of collective investment scheme, (v) interest and rights in securities, and security receipt or any other instruments so declared by the central government. Broadly, securities can be of three types - equities, debt securities and derivatives.

1.3.2 Participants

The securities market has essentially three categories of participants (i) the investors, (ii) the issuers, (iii) the intermediaries (Figure 1.1). These participants are regulated by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI), Reserve Bank of India (RBI), Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) and the Department of Economic Affairs (DEA) of the Ministry of Finance.



Figure 1.1 Market Participants

Table 1.1 below provides the information on Market participants in India.

Table: 1.1 Market Participants in India

MarketParticipants
Investors
Individual Investors
Corporate Investors
Foreign Venture Capital Investors
FIIs
Depositories
Stock Exchanges
With Equities Trading
With Debt Market Trading
With Derivative Trading
With Currency Derivatives
Brokers
Corporate Brokers
Sub-brokers
Portfolio Managers
Custodians
Registrars to an issue & Share Transfer Agents
Primary Dealers
Merchant Bankers
Bankers to an Issue
Debenture Trustees
Underwriters
Venture Capital Funds
Mutual Funds
Collective Investment Schemes

1.4 Market SegMentS and theIr ProductS

The Exchange (NSE) provides trading in four different segments - Wholesale Debt Market, Capital Market, Futures and Options and Currency Derivatives Segment as depicted in the figure 1.2 below.



Figure 1.2: Market Segments

- (i) Wholesale Debt Market (WDM) Segment: This segment at NSE commenced its operations in June 1994. It provides the trading platform for wide range of debt securities which includes State and Central Government securities, T-Bills, PSU Bonds, Corporate debentures, Commercial Papers, Certificate of Deposits etc.
- (ii) Capital Market (CM) Segment: This segment at NSE commenced its operations in November 1994. It offers a fully automated screen based trading system, known as the National Exchange for Automated Trading (NEAT) system. Various types of securities e.g. equity shares, warrants, debentures etc. are traded on this system.
- (iii) Futures & Options (F&O) Segment: This segment provides trading in derivatives instruments like index futures, index options, stock options, and stock futures, and commenced its operations at NSE in June 2000.
- (iv) Currency Derivatives Segment (CDS) Segment: This segment at NSE commenced its operations on August 29, 2008, with the launch of currency futures trading in US Dollar-Indian Rupee (USD-INR). Trading in other currency pairs like Euro-INR, Pound Sterling-INR and Japanese Yen-INR was further made available for trading in February 2010. 'Interest rate futures' was another product made available for trading on this segment with effect from August 31, 2009.

1.5 **FeforMS In IndIan SecurItIeS MarketS**

Over a period, the Indian securities market has undergone remarkable changes and grown exponentially, particularly in terms of resource mobilisation, intermediaries, the number of listed stocks, market capitalisation, turnover and investor population. The following paragraphs list the principal reform measures undertaken since 1992.

Creation of Market Regulator: Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI), the securities market regulator in India, was established under SEBI Act 1992, with the main objective

and responsibility for (i) protecting the interests of investors in securities, (ii) promoting the development of the securities market, and (iii) regulating the securities market.

Screen Based Trading: Prior to setting up of NSE, the trading on stock exchanges in India was based on an open outcry system. The system was inefficient and time consuming because of its inability to provide immediate matching or recording of trades. In order to provide efficiency, liquidity and transparency, NSE introduced a nation-wide on-line fully automated screen based trading system (SBTS) on the CM segment on November 3, 1994.

Reduction of Trading Cycle: Earlier, the trading cycle for stocks, based on type of securities, used to vary between 14 days to 30 days and the settlement involved another fortnight. The Exchanges, however, continued to have different weekly trading cycles, which enabled shifting of positions from one Exchange to another. It was made mandatory for all Exchanges to follow a uniform weekly trading cycle in respect of scrips not under rolling settlement. In December 2001, all scrips were moved to rolling settlement and the settlement period was reduced progressively from T+5 to T+3 days. From April 2003 onwards, T+2 days settlement cycle is being followed.

Equity Derivatives Trading: In order to assist market participants in managing risks better through hedging, speculation and arbitrage, SC(R) A was amended in 1995 to lift the ban on options in securities. Trading in derivatives, however, took off in 2000 with index futures after suitable legal and regulatory framework was put in place. The market presently offers index futures, index options, single stock futures and single stock options.

Demutualisation: Historically, stock exchanges were owned, controlled and managed by the brokers. In case of disputes, integrity of the stock exchange suffered. NSE, however, was set up with a pure demutualised governance structure, having ownership, management and trading with three different sets of people. Currently, all the stock exchanges in India have a demutualised set up.

Dematerialisation: As discussed before, the old settlement system was inefficient due to (i) the time lag for settlement and (ii) the physical movement of paper-based securities. To obviate these problems, the Depositories Act, 1996 was passed to provide for the establishment of depositories in securities with the objective of ensuring free transferability of securities with speed and accuracy. There are two depositories in India, viz. NSDL and CDSL. They have been set up to provide instantaneous electronic transfer of securities. Demat (Dematerialised) settlement has eliminated the bad deliveries and associated problems. To prevent physical certificates from sneaking into circulation, it has been made mandatory for all newly issued securities to be compulsorily traded in dematerialised form. Now, the public listed companies making IPO of any security for Rs.10 crore or more have to make the IPO only in dematerialised form.

Clearing Corporation: The anonymous electronic order book ushered in by the NSE did not permit members to assess credit risk of the counter-party and thus necessitated some innovation in this area. To address this concern, NSE had set up the first clearing corporation, viz. National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd. (NSCCL), which commenced its operations in April 1996.

Investor Protection: In order to protect the interest of the investors and promote awareness, the Central Government (Ministry of Corporate Affairs¹) established the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) in October 2001. With the similar objectives, the Exchanges and SEBI also maintain investor protection funds to take care of investor claims. SEBI and the stock exchanges have also set up investor grievance / service cells for redress of investor grievance. All these agencies and investor associations also organise investor education and awareness programmes.

Globalisation: Indian companies have been permitted to raise resources overseas through issue of ADRs, GDRs, FCCBs and ECBs. Further, FIIs have been permitted to invest in all types of securities, including government securities and tap the domestic market. The investments by FIIs enjoy full capital account convertibility. They can invest in a company under portfolio investment route upto 24% of the paid up capital of the company. This can be increased up to the sectoral cap/statutory ceiling, as applicable to the Indian companies concerned, by passing a resolution of its Board of Directors followed by a special resolution to that effect by its general body. The Indian stock exchanges have been permitted to set up trading terminals abroad. The trading platform of Indian exchanges is now accessible through the Internet from anywhere in the world. RBI permitted two-way fungibility for ADRs / GDRs, which means that the investors (foreign institutional or domestic) who hold ADRs / GDRs can cancel them with the depository and sell the underlying shares in the market.

Launch of India VIX2²: Volatility index is a measure of market's expectation of volatility over the near term. It measures the amount by which an underlying Index is expected to fluctuate in the near term, based on the order book of the underlying index options. India's first volatility index, India VIX (based on the Nifty 50 Index Option prices) was launched by NSE in April 2008.

Direct Market Access: In April 2008, SEBI allowed the direct market access (DMA) facility to the institutional investors. DMA allows brokers to offer their respective clients, direct access to the Exchange trading system through the broker's infrastructure without manual intervention by the broker.

¹ Earlier known as Department of Company Affairs.

^{2 &}quot;VIX" is a trademark of Chicago Board Options Exchange, Incorporated ("CBOE") and Standard & Poor's has granted a license to NSE, with permission from CBOE, to use such mark in the name of the India VIX and for purposes relating to the India VIX.

Launch of Securities Lending & Borrowing Scheme: In April 2008, the Securities Lending & Borrowing mechanism was allowed. It allows market participants to take short positions effectively with less cost.

Launch of Currency Futures: On August 29, 2008, NSE launched trading in currency future contracts in the USD-INR pair for the first time in India. Trading in other currency pairs like Euro – INR, Pound Sterling – INR and Japanese Yen was further made available for trading in March 2010.

ASBA: Application Supported by Blocked Amount (ASBA) is a major primary market reform. It enables investors to apply for IPOs / FPOs and rights issues without making a payment. Instead, the amount is blocked in investors' own account and only an amount proportionate to the shares allotted goes out when allotment is finalized.

Launch of Interest Rate Futures: On August 31, 2009, futures on interest rate was launched on the National Stock Exchange.

Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements (ICDR) Regulations 2009: In August 2009, the SEBI issued Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements (ICDR) Regulations 2009, replacing the Disclosure and Investor Protection (DIP) Guidelines 2000. ICDR Regulations 2009 would govern all disclosure norms regarding issue of securities.

1.6 Stock BrokerS

A stock broker is an intermediary who arranges to buy and sell securities on the behalf of clients (the buyer and the seller). According to SEBI (Stock Brokers and Sub-Brokers) Regulations, 1992, a stockbroker is member of a stock exchange and requires to hold a certificate of registration from SEBI in order to buy, sell or deal in securities. SEBI grants a certificate to a stock broker subject to the conditions that the stock broker:

- (a) holds the membership of any stock exchange;
- (b) should abide by the rules, regulations and bye-laws of the stock exchange or stock exchanges of which he is a member;
- (c) should obtain prior permission of SEBI to continue to buy, sell or deal in securities in any stock exchange in case of any change in the status and constitution;
- (d) should pay the amount of fees for registration in the prescribed manner; and
- (e) should take adequate steps for redress of grievances of the investors within one month of the date of the receipt of the complaint and keep SEBI informed about the number, nature and other particulars of the complaints.

While considering the application of an entity for the grant of registration as a stock broker, SEBI checks out if the applicant:

(a) is eligible to be admitted as a member of a stock exchange;

- (b) has the necessary infrastructure like adequate office space, equipment and manpower to effectively discharge his activities;
- (c) has any past experience in the business of buying, selling or dealing in securities;
- (d) is subjected to any disciplinary proceedings under the rules, regulations and bye-laws of a stock exchange with respect to his business as a stock-broker involving either himself or any of his partners, directors or employees.

1.7 NSE MeMBerShIP

There are no entry/exit barriers to the membership of NSE. Anybody can become a member by complying with the prescribed eligibility criteria and exit by surrendering membership without any hidden cost.

The members are admitted to different segments of the Exchange subject to the provisions of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, the SEBI Act, 1992, the rules, circulars, notifications, guidelines, etc. issued hereunder and the byelaws, rules and regulations of the Exchange. The trading members of NSE have certain benefits, which includes:

- Access to a nation-wide trading facility for equities, derivatives, debt and hybrid instruments / products;
- Ability to provide a fair, efficient and transparent securities market to the investors;
- Use of state-of-the-art electronic trading systems and technology;
- Dealing with an organisation which follows strict standards for trading & settlement at par with those available at the top international bourses and constantly strives to move towards a global marketplace in the securities industry.

1.7.1 New Membership

The persons eligible to become trading members of Exchange are:

- (a) Individuals;
- (b) Partnership firms registered under the Indian Partnership Act, 1932.
- (c) Limited Liability Partnerships registered under the Limited Liability Partnership Act, 2008
- (d) Institutions, including subsidiaries of banks engaged in financial services;
- (e) Banks for Currency Derivatives Segment;
- (f) Body corporates including companies as defined in the Companies Act, 2013. A company is eligible to be admitted as a member if:
 - (i) It is formed in compliance with provisions of Companies Act 2013 which mentions about the mode of forming incorporated company;

- (ii) It complies with the financial requirements and norms as may be specified by SEBI;
- (iii) The directors of the company shouldn't have been disqualified for being members of a stock exchange and should not have held the offices of the directors in any company which had been a member of the stock exchange and had been declared defaulter or expelled by the stock exchange; and
- (f) Such other persons or entities as may be permitted from time to time by RBI/SEBI under the Securities Contracts (Regulations) Rules, 1957.

Membership for Different Segments at NSE

Persons or Institutions desirous of securing admission as members (stock brokers) on the Exchange may apply for membership on any one of the following segment groups:

- (a) Wholesale Debt Market (WDM) Segment
- (b) Capital Market (CM) segment
- (c) Capital Market (CM) and Wholesale Debt Market (WDM) segment
- (d) Capital Market (CM) and Futures & Options (F&O) segment
- (e) Capital Market (CM), Futures & Options (F&O) segment and Wholesale Debt Market (WDM) segment
- (f) Currency Derivatives (CD) segment with or without the above mentioned segments.
- (g) Clearing Membership of National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd. (NSCCL) as a Professional Clearing Member (PCM). Professional Clearing Members do not trade but only clear and settle trades executed by other trading members (TMs). Professional clearing membership is only applicable for the F&O and Currency Derivatives segments.

Two types of memberships are offered:

- Normal Unrestricted business expansion
- Alpha For focused proprietary trading with limited clientele

Following categories are available under Normal Membership :

Types of Membership	Cash Segment	Futures & Option Segment	Currency Derivatives Segment	Debt Segment
Trading Member	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Trading Cum Self Clearing Member	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Trading Cum Clearing Member	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Professional Clearing Member	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

Membership of Alpha can be taken in combination with any of the above segments except for Futures & Options segment which has to be taken in combination with Cash segment. Following categories are available under Alpha Membership:

Types of Membership	Cash Segment	Futures & Option Segment
Trading Member	-	\checkmark
Trading Cum Self Clearing Member	\checkmark	\checkmark
Trading Cum Clearing Member	_	\checkmark

In addition to the trading membership in the F&O segment, the trading member can also take two types of clearing membership in the F&O Segment i.e. as a clearing member and self-clearing member. The self-clearing members clear and settle the trades executed by them only, either on their account or on account of their clients. Trading members cum clearing members can clear and settle their own trades as well as trades of other trading members.

Trading members registered in F&O segment and CD segment are eligible to trade in interest rate futures market.

Membership can be taken for any segments individually or in combination

Trading Member	This category of membership entitles a member to execute trades on his own account as well as on account of his clients but, clearing and settlement of trades executed through the Trading Member would have to be done through a Trading-cum Clearing Member or Professional Clearing Member of the Exchange
Trading Cum Self Clearing Member	This category of membership entitles a member to execute trades and to clear and settle the trades executed on his own account as well as on account of his clients.
Trading Cum Clearing Member	This category of membership entitles a member to execute trades on his own account as well as on account of his clients and to clear and settle trades executed by themselves as well as by other trading members who choose to use clearing services of the member.
Professional Clearing Member	This category of membership entitles a member to clear and settle trades of such members of the Exchange who choose to clear and settle their trades through this member.

1.7.2 Eligibility Criteria for Membership at NSE

The standards for admission of members are laid down by the Exchange in terms of corporate structure (shareholding pattern), capital adequacy (Paid up capital), net worth, Interest Free Security Deposit (IFSD), Collateral Security Deposit (CSD), track record, education, experience etc. This is done to ensure quality broking services so as to build and sustain confidence among investors in the Exchange's operations.

Corporate Structure (Shareholding Pattern)

Securities markets are inherently volatile and risky, and hence risk containment mechanisms are put in place by the stock exchange. One such risk containment tool is the concept of 'Dominant Promoter/Shareholder Group' which is very unique for applicants acquiring membership on the NSE. The shareholders holding the majority of shares have a dominant role in the affairs of the company. In case of any default by the broking entity, the Exchange should be able to identify and take action against the persons who are behind the company. The Exchange, therefore, needs to know the background, financial soundness and integrity of the shareholders holding such controlling interest. Hence, during the admission process (explained in the later section of the book) the dominant shareholders are called for an interview with the Membership Recommendation Committee (MRC).

Dominant Promoter norms are applicable to all trading members. The norms relating to dominant promoters falls in different categories such as unlisted corporate trading member, listed corporate trading member, corporate shareholders, banks, central or state government owned finance and development institutions and foreign entities, which are given as under:

 Unlisted corporate trading member: In case of an unlisted corporate trading member, there are three conditions under which the corporate trading member will be eligible to constitute dominant promoter group. These conditions are given below:

If a person holds 51% of shares in the trading member corporate on his own or together with

- (a) his relatives as defined under Companies Act 2013
- (b) person(s) falling within the definition of `control'³ under the SEBI (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 1997.
- (c) the support of strategic investors in such corporate trading member. (Strategic investors mean the corporates or individual investors that add value to investments they make through industry and personal ties that can assist companies in raising additional capital including financial investors, venture capitalists and others who invest primarily with the aim of generating a large return on their investment).
- (ii) Listed corporate trading member: In case of listed corporate trading members, any person(s) identified as promoter in the offer document or in any document for offer of securities to the public or existing shareholders or in the shareholding pattern disclosed by the corporate trading member under the provisions of the Listing Agreement, whichever is later, would be eligible to constitute dominant promoter group.
- (iii) Corporate shareholders to be identified as dominant shareholders: Corporate shareholder is allowed to be identified as dominant shareholders (Dominant Promoter Group DPG) of a corporate trading member provided that the corporate shareholder identifies any person or persons as their dominant promoter group as per the aforesaid

norms applicable to the corporate trading member. In case the dominant promoter group consists of more than one corporate shareholder, the dominant promoter group should be identified separately for each such corporate shareholder.

- Banks, central or state government owned finance and/or development institutions: The following entities are allowed to be identified as dominant shareholder(s) provided they have a networth of at least Rs.50 crores:
 - (a) Scheduled Banks;
 - (b) Central or State Government owned Finance and/or Development Institutions;
 - (c) Any financial institution registered and regulated by any regulatory authority such as RBI, SEBI, IRDA;
 - (d) Any other entity that is fit to be identified as dominant shareholder in the opinion of relevant authority.
- (v) Foreign Entities: Foreign entities are allowed to take trading membership of the Exchange through their Indian subsidiary under the automatic approval route permitted by the government, subject to compliance with the following guidelines of the RBI in this regard.
 - (a) The promoting foreign entity or its subsidiary should be either a bank or insurance organisation regulated by the Central Bank or such other appropriate regulatory authority of that country

Or

The promoting foreign entity or its subsidiary should be broking house/ participant in the securities market that is registered or regulated by the relevant regulatory authority of that country and that the relevant authority should be a member of International Organisation of Securities Commission (IOSCO). The entity should have a sound track record.

Or

The promoting foreign entity is one whose domestic arm or subsidiary is registered with SEBI for participation in any domestic venture for custodial or Asset Management services.

- (b) The promoting foreign entity shall hold, directly or indirectly not less than 51 % of the controlling stake in the applicant company proposing to take the trading membership of the Exchange.
- (c) The net worth of the entity having controlling stake in the applicant company or the promoting foreign entity should be at least Rs. 50 Crores.

A foreign entity is allowed to become part of the dominant promoter group of an existing

³ Here 'control' means the right to appoint majority of directors or to control the management or policy decisions by virtue of the shareholding or management rights.

trading member corporate provided it meets the dominant promoter group norms as applicable to Indian entities, FIPB (Foreign Investment Promotion Board) norms / RBI norms and any other requirements of the Exchange / SEBI as may be applicable from time to time.

Corporate trading members will also be allowed to change their shareholding pattern so long as such change is within the above norms and the existing Dominant Promoter Group (DPG) continues to hold controlling interest and prior approval from the Exchange is obtained. Once a DPG is identified during admission, the same has to be maintained at all points of time. In case of any change in the DPG, the trading member is required to seek fresh approval of the Exchange as it is done at the time of admission of new trading member and rules relating to the same apply. Inter-se transfer of shareholding among the dominant promoters, however will be exempt from the formalities as required in case of new trading membership. Any changes in the shareholding require prior approval from the Exchange, except in case of shareholding changes related to public shareholding in a listed company.

Failure to maintain the required level of shareholding by DPG is treated as a breach of the continuing membership norms and tantamounts to reconstitution of the trading member corporate. This is because the existing DPG would no longer hold controlling interest in the trading member corporate or alternatively a new group would have emerged with controlling stake. In such case the Exchange can initiate disciplinary action including withdrawal of trading facility of such trading members.

Networth and Other Deposit Requirements

The networth of the member is calculated as summation of Capital and free reserves less non allowable assets. Non allowable assets include fixed assets, pledged securities, member's card, non-allowable securities (unlisted securities), bad deliveries, doubtful debts and advances, prepaid expenses, intangible assets and 30% of marketable securities.

Deposit requirements are of two types i.e. Interest Free Security Deposit (IFSD) and Collateral Security Deposit (CSD). IFSD has to be in liquid cash while CSD can be in cash or non-cash form. Cash component means cash, bank guarantees, fixed deposit receipts, units of money market mutual fund and gilt funds and any other form of collateral as may be prescribed from time to time. Non-cash component means all other forms of collateral deposits like deposit of approved list of demat securities and units of the other mutual funds and any other form of collateral as may be prescribed from time to time.

The eligibility criteria for corporates, individuals and partnership firms for different segments of the Exchange are explained in Table 2.1 and 2.2 below.

DEPOSIT STRUCTURE (` in lakhs)									
Segment	Type of Membership		Cash- NSEIL	Non- Cash NSEIL	Cash NSCCL	Non- Cash NSCCL	Total	Net Worth	
Capital Market	TM & SCM		85	-	15	25	125	100	
Futures & Options	TM		25	-	-	-	25	100	
	TM & SCM		25	-	25	25	75	100	
	TM & CM		25	-	25	25	75	300	
	PCM		-	-	25	25	50	300	
Currency Derivatives Segment	Existing Members	ТМ	2	8	-	-	10	100	
		TM & SCM	2	8	25	25	60	500	
		TM & CM	2	8	25	25	60	1000	
	New Members	ТМ	2	13	-	-	15	100	
		TM & SCM	2	18	25	25	70	500	
		TM & CM	2	18	25	25	70	1000	
	РСМ		-	-	25	25	50	1000	

 Table 2.1: Deposit & Networth Requirements (Corporates / Limited Liability Partnership)

* TM = Trading Membership.

* TM & SCM = Trading and Self Clearing Membership.

* TM & CM = Trading and Clearing Membership.

* PCM = Professional Clearing Membership.

Table 2.2: Deposit & Networth Requirements(Individual	/	⁷ Partnership Firm	s)
---	---	-------------------------------	----

DEPOSIT STRUCTURE (` in lakhs)										
Segment	Type of Membership		Cash- NSEIL	Non- Cash NSEIL	Cash NSCCL	Non- Cash NSCCL	Total	Net Worth		
Capital Market	TM & SCM		26.5	-	6	17.5	50	75		
Futures & Options	ТМ		25	-	-	-	25	75		
	TM & SCM		25	-	25	25	75	100		
	TM & CM		25	-	25	25	75	300		
Currency Derivatives Segment	Existing Members	ТМ	2	8	-	-	10	100		
		TM & SCM	2	8	25	25	60	500		
		TM & CM	2	8	25	25	60	1000		
	N e w Members	ТМ	2	13	-	-	15	100		
		TM & SCM	2	18	25	25	70	500		
		TM & CM	2	18	25	25	70	1000		

* TM = Trading Membership.

* TM & SCM = Trading and Self Clearing Membership.

* TM & CM = Trading and Clearing Membership.

* PCM = Professional Clearing Membership.

Fees and Charges :

- Application Processing Fees : `10,000/- + Applicable Service Tax.
- Admission Fees : One time ` 5,00,000/- + Applicable Service Tax except in case of Alpha Membership
- Annual subscription charges (Captial Market Segment):
 For Corporates `1,00,000 P.A.+ Applicable Service Tax
 For Individuals/Partnership Firms `50,000 P.A.+ Applicable Service Tax
- Advance minimum transaction charges (Futures & Options segment):
 `1,00,000 p.a. + Applicable Service Tax
- Advance transaction charges (Currency Derivatives segment) ` 50,000 p.a. + Applicable Service Tax

In addition to the individuals, corporates and partnership firms, Banks authorized by the Reserve Bank of India under section 10 of the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 as 'AD Category - I bank' are permitted to become trading and clearing members of the currency derivatives market of the recognized stock exchanges, on their own account and on behalf of their clients, subject to minimum prudential requirements of minimum net worth of Rs. 500 crores, minimum CRAR of 10 per cent, net NPA not exceeding 3 per cent and net profit should have been made for last 3 years.

The AD Category - I banks which fulfill the prudential requirements are required to lay down detailed guidelines with the approval of their Boards for trading and clearing of currency derivatives contracts and management of risks. AD Category - I banks which do not meet the above minimum prudential requirements and AD Category - I banks which are Urban Co-operative banks or State Co-operative banks can participate in the currency derivatives market only as clients, subject to approval therefore from the respective regulatory Departments of the Reserve Bank.

1.7.3 Admission Procedure for New Membership



Figure: 1.7.3 Admission procedure for new membership at NSE

Admission is a two-stage process with applicants requiring to go through an examination (a module of NCFM) followed by an interview with the Membership Recommendation Committee. At any point of time the applicant has to ensure that at least the sole proprietor/ one of the designated partner/one of the designated director/compliance officer has a valid certificate of Securities Market (Basic) Module or Compliance Officers (Brokers) Module or the relevant module pertaining to the segments wherein membership of the Exchange has been sought. i.e.

- (a) Capital Market (Dealers) Module
- (b) Derivatives Market (Dealers) Module
- (c) National Institute of Securities Markets (NISM) Series I Currency Derivatives Certification Examination

The admission procedure for new membership depicted in figure 1.7.3 is explained below:

Applicants are required to submit application form, in the prescribed format along with other relevant documents to the Exchange.

The application for new membership is then forwarded to Membership Recommendation Committee. The Membership Recommendation Committee (MRC) consists Exchange officials. The MRC conducts interviews of the applicants for trading membership. In case of corporates, the dominant shareholder and designated directors; in case of individuals, the individual himself and in case of partnership firms – two designated partners have to appear for the interview. The purpose of the interview is to acquire information about their capability & commitment to carry on stock broking activities, financial standing and integrity.

The MRC recommends the names for admission of trading members to the Membership Selection Committee (Sub-committee of board of directors)/Board of directors of the Exchange.

Membership Selection Committee (MSC) after taking into consideration the recommendations of the MRC either approves or rejects the applications.

On getting approval from MSC (NSEIL/NSCCL), an admission on a provisional basis is provided to the applicant subject to certain conditions like registration with SEBI, submission of relevant fees/ deposits and documents. The documents of the member are then forwarded to SEBI for registration.

After satisfying itself as to compliance with respect to all the prescribed norms, SEBI grants a Registration Certificate in the name of the applicant.

The applicant then has to remit the prescribed membership deposits (as required by the demand advice attached to the offer letter) within the time frame prescribed in the demand advice attached to the offer letter.

After obtaining SEBI Registration, the trading member has to satisfy the Exchange and NSCCL regarding all the formalities and requirements such as payment of fees/deposits and submission of relevant documents, for enablement. The dealers on CM segment are required to clear the Capital Market (Dealers) Module of NCFM; dealers on Futures & Options Segment are required to clear the Derivatives Market (Dealers) Module or equivalent examination of NCFM and dealers on Currency Derivatives segment are required to clear National Institute of Securities Market (NISM) Series I- Currency Derivatives Certification Examination. This is a pre-requisite without which user-ids are not issued.

After ensuring that all the formalities and requirements with regard to the Exchange and NSCCL are complied, the Trading Member is enabled to trade on the NEAT system.

1.8 Surrender of tradIng MeMBerShIP

Trading members can apply for surrender of their trading membership once admitted to the Exchange. Surrender of trading membership can be permitted by the Exchange after fulfilling certain conditions by the member such as, clearing off all the dues to the Exchange and NSCCL, notifying all other TMs of the approval of surrender, ', issuance of a public notification in leading dailies, etc. The deposits of the trading members would be released by the Exchange/ NSCCL after a prescribed lock-in period. There is, however, no lock-in period applicable in case of trading member, who is,

(a) SEBI registered but not enabled

(b) SEBI registered and enabled but not traded at all Provided certain criteria's are fulfilled

NSE provides a scheme for enabling the trading member to surrender their membership to the Exchange. Details of the norms and procedures related to the surrender of membership to the Exchange are prescribed as below:

- (a) A trading member desirous of surrendering its membership of the Exchange is required to send its request in writing in the prescribed format.
- (b) Before submission of an application for surrender of membership, the trading member is required to comply with all the pre-requisites for application of surrender in the prescribed format. The following aspects should be covered in the application for surrender of membership from a trading member,
 - (i) who has been suspended/ disciplinary action taken by the Exchange /SEBI
 - (ii) in respect of whom any investigation/ action consequent to a default has been initiated by the Exchange /SEBI,
 - (iii) who is falling within the category of 'associates' as defined by SEBI,
 - (iv) who owes dues to the Exchange/ NSCCL,
 - against whom claims by investors of value of Rs.10 lakh or more are pending or any claim for any amount is pending for a period more than 6 months,
 - (vi) against whom any other claim /complaint is pending which, in the opinion of the Exchange/ NSCCL, needs to be resolved by the concerned trading member,
 - (vii) whose turnover fees liability to SEBI is still outstanding,

The Exchange has absolute discretion in dealing with such applications and if it decides to process/accept the surrender application of such trading member, it may impose additional terms and conditions as it may deem fit.

- (c) No trading member, who has surrendered its trading membership, their partners (in case of partnership firm) and/ or dominant shareholders (in case of corporates) is eligible to be re-admitted to the trading membership of the Exchange in any form for a period of one year from the date of cessation of trading membership (i.e. from the date of approval of surrender).
- (d) The application of surrender of trading membership is subject to fulfillment of certain conditions, such as submission of original SEBI registration certificate(s) on all segments on which the trading member is registered; submission of sub-broker registration certificate(s) of all the sub-brokers associated with the trading member for onward transmission to the SEBI for cancellation etc.
- (e) The trading member should request the Exchange through their surrender application

to dismantle and recover all the leased line(s)/ VSAT(s) and other equipment given to them at their dealing offices.

- (f) A notice to public by way of a public notification in newspapers should be made by the Exchange and certain time (from the date of public notification) is given to investors, public, etc. to lodge claims against the surrendering trading member.
- (g) A letter is also sent to SEBI seeking pending dues, if any, from member.
- (h) On the expiry of period for receipt of investor claims and on receipt of intimation of dues amount, if any, from SEBI, the total amount payable by the member should be appropriated against trading member's deposits available with the Exchange / NSCCL and the trading member will be intimated accordingly. In case the amount payable exceeds the deposits, the trading Member would be intimated to bring in the requisite amount within 21 days of intimation. Upon the failure of the member to do so within 21 days of intimation, the case shall be referred to the relevant authority for further action.

1.9 SuSPenSIon & ExPulSIon of MeMBerShIP

The Exchange may expel or suspend, fine under censure, warn, withdraw any of the membership rights of a trading member if it is guilty of contravention, non-compliance, disobedience, disregard or evasion of any of the bye-laws, rules and regulations of the Exchange or of any resolutions, orders, notices, directions or decisions or rulings of the Exchange or the relevant authority.

1.9.1 Basis of Suspension of Membership

Following are some grounds on basis of which there can be suspension or expulsion of membership:

- (i) Misconduct: A trading member is deemed guilty of misconduct for any of the following or similar acts or omissions namely:
 - (a) Fraud or fraudulent act or if he is convicted of a criminal offence.
 - (b) Violation of the provisions of any statute governing the activities, business and operations of the Exchange.
 - (c) Improper conduct.
 - (d) Failure to submit to or abide by arbitration.
 - (e) Failure to testify or give information sought by the Exchange or any committee or any other person authorized on that behalf.
 - (f) Failure to submit special returns in such form as the relevant authority may from time to time prescribe.

- (g) Failure to submit audited accounts.
- (h) Failure to compare or submit accounts with defaulter.
- (i) Failure to submit or make any false or misleading returns.
- (j) Make vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints.
- (k) Failure to pay subscription fee, arbitration charges etc.
- (ii) Un-businesslike conduct: A trading member is deemed guilty of un-businesslike conduct for any of the following or similar acts or omissions namely:
 - (a) Transaction or business dealings in fictitious names.
 - (b) Circulation of rumours.
 - (c) Any unfair dealing in securities which does not reflect the true market values.
 - (d) Market manipulation and rigging.
 - (e) Unwarrantable business which effects purchases or sales for its account or any account related to the trading member.
 - (f) If a trading member accepts less than a full and bonafide money payment in settlement of a debt due by another trading member arising out of a transaction in securities.
 - (g) Dishonoured cheque.
 - (h) Failure to carry out transactions with constituents.
- (iii) Unprofessional conduct: A trading member is deemed guilty of unprofessional conduct for any of the following or similar acts or omissions namely:
 - (a) Business in securities in which dealings not permitted
- (b) Business for defaulting constituent who failed to carry out engagements relating to securities and is in default to another trading member
 - (c) Transacts in business with an insolvent without obtaining the consent of the relevant authority even if the individual has obtained his final discharge from an insolvency court
 - (d) Carrying out his business during his suspension period
 - (e) Business with suspended, expelled and defaulter trading members
 - (f) Business for employees of other trading members
 - (g) Business for Exchange employees if it makes a speculative transaction in which an employee of the Exchange is directly or indirectly interested
 - (h) If it advertises for business purposes or issue regularly circular or other business communications to persons other than its own constituents, trading members of the Exchange, banks and joint stock companies or publishes pamphlets, circular

or any other literature or report or information relating to the stock markets with its name attached

- (i) Evasion of margin requirements
- (j) Evasion of brokerage charges
- (k) Dealings with entities prohibited by SEBI to buy or sell or deal in securities market
- (iv) Trading member's responsibility for partners, agents and employees: A trading member is fully responsible for the acts and omissions of its partners, authorised officials, attorneys, agents, authorised representatives and employees. If any such act which is against the relevant rules and regulations is committed or omitted by them then the trading member is liable to the same penalty to the same extent has that act or omission been done or omitted by itself.
- (v) Suspension on failure to provide margin deposit and/or capital adequacy requirements: The Exchange can suspend the business of a trading member when it fails to provide the margin deposit and/or meets capital adequacy norms as provided in the Bye Laws, Rules and Regulations. The trading member shall remain suspended until he furnishes the necessary margin deposit or meet the capital adequacy requirements.

1.9.2 Suspension of Business

The relevant authority may require a trading member to suspend its business in part or in whole under following conditions:

- (a) Prejudicial business: When the relevant authority finds that the trading member conducts business in a manner prejudicial to the Exchange by making purchases or sales of securities or offers to purchase or sell securities for the purpose of upsetting equilibrium of the market or bringing about a condition of demoralisation in which prices will not fairly reflect market values, or
- (b) Unwarrantable business: When in the opinion of the relevant authority the trading member engages in unwarrantable business or effects purchases or sales for its constituent's account or for any account in which it is directly or indirectly interested which purchases or sales are excessive in view of its constituent's or its own means and financial resources or in view of the market for such security, or
- (c) Unsatisfactory financial condition: When the relevant authority finds that the trading member is in a bad financial condition and it cannot be permitted to do business with safety to its creditors or the Exchange.

1.9.3 Removal of Suspension

The suspension of business as above shall continue until the trading member has been allowed by the relevant authority to resume business. It may be done on its paying such deposit or on its doing such act or providing such thing as the relevant authority may require.

1.9.4 Consequences of Suspension

The suspension of a trading member has the following consequences:

- (a) Suspension of membership rights: The suspended trading member shall during the terms of its suspension be deprived of and excluded from all the rights and privileges of membership. It shall also include the right to attend or vote at any meeting of the general body of trading members of the relevant segment.
- (b) Rights of creditors unimpaired: The suspension should not affect the rights of the trading members who are creditors of the suspended trading member.
- (c) Fulfillment of contracts: The suspended trading members are bound to fulfill contracts outstanding at the time of its suspension.
- (d) Further business prohibited: The suspended trading member should not during the terms of its suspension make any trade or transact any business with or through a trading member. With the permission of the relevant authority, however it can close the transactions outstanding at the time of its suspension.
- (e) Trading members not to deal with suspended trading member: No trading member is allowed to transact in business with a suspended trading member during the terms of its suspension except with the prior permission of the relevant authority.

1.9.5 Consequences of Expulsion

The expulsion of a trading member has the following consequences:

- (a) Trading membership rights forfeited: The expelled trading member shall forfeit to the Exchange its right of trading membership and all rights and privileges as a trading member of the Exchange including any right to the use of or any claim upon or any interest in any property or funds of the Exchange but any liability of any such trading member to the Exchange or to any trading member of the Exchange shall continue and remain unaffected by its expulsion.
- (b) Office vacated: The expulsion would create a vacancy in any office or position held by the expelled trading member.
- (c) Rights of creditors unimpaired: The expulsion does not affect the rights of the trading members who are creditors of the expelled trading member.
- (d) Fulfillment of contracts: The expelled trading members are bound to fulfill transactions outstanding at the time of his expulsion and it may with the permission of the relevant

authority close such outstanding transactions with or through a trading member.

- (e) Trading members not to deal with expelled trading member: No trading member is allowed to transact business for or with or share brokerage with the expelled trading member except with the previous permission of the relevant authority.
- (f) Consequences of declaration of defaulter to follow: The provisions of pertaining to default and Protection Fund mentioned in the byelaws become applicable to the trading member expelled from the Exchange as if such trading member has been declared a defaulter.

1.10 declaratIon of defaulter

A trading member may be declared a defaulter by direction /circular/notification of the relevant authority of the trading segment if:

- (a) he is unable to fulfill his obligations; or
- (b) he admits or discloses his inability to fulfill or discharge his duties, obligations and liabilities; or
- (c) he fails or is unable to pay within the specified time the damages and the money difference due on a closing-out effected against him under the bye laws, rules and regulations; or
- (d) he fails to pay any sum due to the Exchange or to submit or deliver to the Exchange on the due date, delivery and receive orders, statement of differences and securities, balance sheet and such other clearing forms and other statements as the relevant authority may from time to time prescribe; or
- (e) if he fails to pay or deliver to the defaulters' committee all monies, securities and other assets due to a trading member who has been declared a defaulter within such time of the declaration of default of such trading member as the relevant authority may direct; or
- (f) if he fails to abide by the arbitration proceedings as laid down under the bye laws, rules and regulations.
- (g) if he, being an individual and /or partnership firm, /it, being a company incorporated under the Companies Act, files a petition before a Court of Law for adjudication of himself as an insolvent or for its winding up, as the case maybe.
- (h) (1A) Without prejudice to the foregoing, if a trading member is either expelled or declared a defaulter by any other recognised stock exchange on which he is a member or if the registration certificate is cancelled by SEBI, the said Trading Member may be expelled from the Exchange after providing an opportunity of being heard to such Trading Member.

(i) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Byelaw, the trading facility of the member shall be withdrawn immediately after the receipt of information of expulsion /default by any other stock exchange or cancellation of registration certificate by SEBI.

1.11 **a**uthorISed **P**erSonS

Trading members of the Exchange can appoint authorised persons in the Capital Market, Futures & Options and Currency Derivatives Segments. Authorised Person is "Any personindividual, partnership firm, Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) or body corporate who is appointed as such by a stock broker (including trading member) and who provides access to trading platform of a stock exchange as an agent of the stock broker." Authorised Person can receive remuneration - fees, charges, commission, salary, etc. for his services only from the stock broker and shall not charge any amount from the clients. Accordingly, stock broker can share brokerage with the Authorised Person but shall not charge any amount directly from the clients

The clients introduced by the authorised person should have a direct relationship with the trading member i.e. the member-constituent agreement, know your client forms, risk disclosure document, etc. are executed between the client and the trading member. This implies that the authorised person is not allowed to have any trading relationship with the clients. The trading member should issue the contract notes and bills directly to the client i.e. the authorized person should not issue contract notes, confirmation memo and/or bills in their name.

The clients introduced by the authorised person are required to deliver securities and make payments directly in the trade name of the trading member (as appearing on the SEBI registration certificate). Similarly, the trading member should deliver securities and make payments directly in the name of the clients.

1.12 SuB-BrokerS

Sub broker is an important intermediary between stock broker and client in capital market segment. The trading members of the Exchange may appoint sub-brokers to act as agents of the concerned trading member for assisting the investors in buying, selling or dealing in securities. The sub-brokers are affiliated to the trading members and are required to be registered with SEBI. A sub-broker is allowed to be associated with only one trading member of the Exchange.

Trading members desirous of appointing sub-brokers are required to submit the following documents to the Membership Department of the Exchange:

- (a) Copy of sub-broker broker agreement duly certified by the trading members
- (b) Application form for registration as a sub-broker with Securities and Exchange Board

of India (Form B)

- (c) Recommendation letter to be given by the trading member with whom the sub-broker is affiliated (Form C)
- (d) Reference Letter from the applicant's Banker
- (e) Reference letter from any other Third Party (Such as CA/CS/ Lawyer/Notary or other Stock Broker
- (f) Declaration from Sub-Broker about Non-Conviction or presently not under trial for any offence (On the letterhead of the sub broker)
- (g) Undertaking from Sub-Broker about Dealing directly with investors and not with any unregistered intermediary. (On the letterhead of the sub broker)
- (h) Confirmation from sub-broker that he has not applied through any other TM & also he is not a member /Sub-broker of any of the Commodity Exchange (On the letterhead of the sub broker)
- (i) Annexure J or K Letter from Trading Member to NSE giving Undertaking about dealing in fake and forged shares by the sub-broker as per circular no 69 dated July 23, 1997 ref no NSE/MEMB/0311. To be given by Trading member on their letterhead.
- (j) Annexure I Letter from trading member undertaking to settle the obligations of the sub-broker as per circular no 63 dated June 25, 1997 ref no NSE/MEMB/0282. To be given by Trading member on their letterhead
- (k) Annexure O Certificate from sub broker relating to shareholding pattern as per circular no 513 dated February 9, 2006 ref no NSE/MEM/7157. This needs to be submitted by all sub-broker applicants including individuals on the letterhead.
- Annexure 3- Undertaking for "Fit & Proper Person" in the name of entity & its partners/ Directors as per circular no 534 dated August 09, 2006 ref no NSE/MEM/7743. To be given by Trading member on their letterhead
- Proof of address of sub broker Telephone Bill, Electricity bill, Voter ID, Driving License, Passport, MOA(Registration certificate), Rent agreement, Leave and License agreement, Ration Card.
- (n) Annexure L For Firms/Corporates Sharing Pattern as per circular no 168 dated May 19, 2000 ref no NSE/MEM/1708. It should be certified by C A & signed by all partners/ directors.
- (o) Registered Partnership Deed and Registered partnership Certificate / MOA & AOA Along with the Certificate of Incorporation
- (p) List of directors of sub broker as on specific date to be certified by CA/CS

The trading member has to ensure the settlement of all deals entered into by a trading
member even if the deals may have originated from its sub-broker.

The sub-broker will be required to adhere to NSE's 'know your clients' requirements. The important documents relating to dealing through a sub-broker are given below:

- 1) Individual client registration application form
- 2) Non-individual client registration application form
- 3) Sub-broker client agreement

1.12.1 Eligibility

A sub-broker may be an individual, a partnership firm or a corporate. In case of corporate or partnership firm, the directors or partners and in the case of an individual sub-broker applicant should comply with the following requirements:

- (a) They should not be less than 21 years of age;
- (b) They should not have been convicted of any offence involving fraud or dishonesty;
- (c) They should have either passed 12th standard equivalent examination from an institution recognized by the Government or 10th standard with 2 years of work experience in securities market.
- (d) They should not have been debarred by SEBI

1.12.2 Registration

No sub-broker is allowed to buy, sell or deal in securities, unless he or she holds a certificate of registration granted by SEBI. Sub-brokers are required to obtain certificate of registration from SEBI in accordance with SEBI (Stock Brokers & Sub-brokers) Rules and Regulations, 1992, without which they are not permitted to buy, sell or deal in securities. SEBI may grant a certificate to a sub-broker, subject to the conditions that:

- (a) he should pay the fees in the prescribed manner;
- (b) he should take adequate steps for redress of grievances of the investors within one month of the date of the receipt of the complaint and keep SEBI informed about the number, nature and other particulars of the complaints received;
- (c) in case of any change in the status and constitution, the sub-broker should obtain prior permission of SEBI to continue to buy, sell or deal in securities in any stock exchange; and
- (d) he should be authorised in writing, by a stock-broker being a member of a stock exchange for affiliating himself in buying, selling or dealing in securities.

The applicant sub-broker should submit the required documents to the stock exchange with the recommendation of a trading member. After verifying the documents, the stock exchange may forward the documents of the applicant sub-broker to SEBI for registration. A sub-broker can trade in that capacity after getting himself registered with SEBI. The Exchange may not forward the application of the sub-broker to SEBI for registration if the applicant dealt with fake, forged, stolen, counterfeit etc. shares and securities in the market.

1.12.3 Cancellation of Registration

In case a trading member / sub-broker intends to cancel the registration as a sub-broker, the sub-broker is required to the following documents:

- 1. Request letter of the Trading member for surrender of sub-broker registration (on the letter head of TM);
- 2. Undertaking from the Trading Member (on the letter head of TM).
- 3. Application from Sub-Broker for surrender of registration (Annexure II), if the sub broker is traceable.

If the sub broker is non-traceable than a copy of termination notice served to the sub broker along with the proof of delivery by the Trading Member.

Note: the difference between the proof of delivery of termination notice and the date of application to Exchange for surrender of sub-broker registration should be 30 days or more.

- 4. Copy of public notification intimating the investors/general public of the surrender of registration of sub broker and not to deal with such sub broker, issued in the local newspaper with wide circulation where the sub broker's place of work is situated – (The content of the advertisement should be in English)
- 5. SEBI registration certificate of the Sub-Broker in original.

In case the original certificate is lost, FIR copy along with the affidavit must be submitted to SEBI in this regard by the concerned Trading Member and the Sub-Broker separately on stamp paper of Rs.100/- or of appropriate value as defined in the stamp act, duly notarized.

- 6. An undertaking from the member that SEBI has not taken/ initiated any action like enquiry proceedings / cancellation / suspension of registration / debarred / administrative warning or prohibited from dealing in securities market / imposed penalty after enquiry / adjudication / prosecution etc. against the sub-broker
- 7. PAN card of the sub-broker truly certified by the trading member

1.13 Broker-Clients FelationS

1.13.1 Client Registration Documents

The trading member (TM) is required to enter into an agreement in the specified format provided by NSE with the client before accepting orders on latter's behalf. The agreement is

executed on non-judicial stamp paper of adequate value, duly signed by both the parties on all the pages. Copy of the agreement has to be kept with the TM permanently. The agreement should contain all the clauses mentioned in Uniform Documentary Requirement (UDR). Stock broker may incorporate any additional clauses in these documents provided these are not in conflict with any of the clauses in the model document, and also the rules, regulations, articles, byelaws, circulars, directives and guidelines. There should be segregation of mandatory and voluntary documents/clauses pertaining to client registration in separate docket (compilation of documents). In case of internet trading, in addition to clauses mentioned in UDR, the client has to mention clauses pertaining to internet trading.

Under "Know Your Client (KYC)" requirements, the TM should seek information such as: investor risk profile, financial profile, investor identification details, address details, income, PAN number, employment, age, investments experience, trading preference. The TM has to obtain recent passport size photograph (photographs of partners/whole time directors, individual promoters holding 5% or more, either directly or indirectly, in the shareholding of the company and of persons authorized to deal in securities, and of each of their clients in case of individual clients). The TM should also take proof of identification and address of the client. In-person verification should be done by the trading member's staff, name & signature of the person doing the in-person verification together with the stamp of trading member should be there on the KYC form.

Under Member Constituent Agreement (MCA), trading members are required to make the constituent/clients aware of (a) trading segment to which TM is admitted, (b) particulars of SEBI registration number, (c) the precise nature of the trading member's liability for business to be conducted, (d) basic risks involved in trading on the Exchange (equity and other instruments) including any limitations on the liability and the capacity in which the trading member acts.

In order to assess the risk involved in trading, TM is required to issue Risk Disclosure Document (RDD)⁴ in such format, as may be prescribed by the Exchange from time to time and should obtain the same from his constituents duly signed.

A stock-broker should not deal knowingly, directly or indirectly, with a client who defaults to another stock-broker. There is no limit on the number of clients for a TM.

Copy of the client registration documents is required to be sent to the clients. Trading member must ensure periodic review of client's financial information & client database.

1.13.2 Unique Client Code (UCC)

SEBI has made it mandatory for all trading members/brokers to use unique client codes for all clients. Brokers are required to collect and maintain the Permanent Account Number (PAN) allotted by Income Tax Department for all their clients.

Brokers should verify the documents with respect to the unique code and retain a copy of the

document. They are also required to provide the PAN and UCC of their clients to the stock exchanges/clearing corporations and these details have to be updated before placing orders for the clients. The stock exchanges are also required to maintain a database of client details submitted by brokers.

1.13.3 Margins from the Clients

Members should have a prudent system of risk management to protect themselves from client default. Margins are an important element of such a system. The policy of risk management addressing the margin requirements should be well documented and be made accessible to the clients and the stock exchanges. In capital market segment, however, the quantum of these margins, the form and the mode of collection are left to the discretion of the members⁵. The margin so collected is kept separately in the client bank account/client beneficiary account. In case of default, they are utilized for making payment to the clearing corporation for margin and settlement with respect to that client.

1.13.4 Execution of Orders

Where the constituent requires an order to be placed or any of his order to be modified after the order has entered the system but has not been traded, the trading member may, if it so desires, obtain order placement/modification details in writing from the constituent. The trading member should accordingly provide the constituent with the relevant order confirmation/ modification slip or copy thereof, forthwith, if so required by the constituent.

Where the constituent requires any of his orders to be cancelled after the order has been entered in the system but has not been executed, the trading member may, if it so desires, obtain the order cancellation details in writing from the constituent. The trading member should accordingly provide the constituent with the relevant order cancellation details, forthwith, if so required by the constituent. The trading member may, if it so desires, obtain in writing, the delivery and payment requirement in any instructions of an order that it receives from the constituent.

Where a trading member receives a request for order modification or order cancellation from the constituent, it should duly bring it to their notice that if the total order results in a trade in the meantime, the requests for modification or cancellation cannot be executed.

1.13.5 Contract Note

Contract note is a confirmation of trade(s) done on a particular day for and on behalf of a client. A stock-broker should issue a contract note to his clients for trades (purchase/sale of securities). The contract note should contain name and address (registered office address as well as dealing office address) of the TM, the SEBI registration number of the TM, details of trade viz. order number, trade number, order time, trade time, security name, quantity, trade price, brokerage, settlement number and details of other levies.

As per Regulation 18 of SEBI (Stock-Brokers & Sub-Brokers) Regulations, 1992, the TM should preserve the duplicate copy of the contract notes issued for a minimum of five years. The TM should ensure that:

- (a) Contract note is issued to a client within 24 hours and should be signed by the trading member or by an authorized signatory trading member.
- (b) Contract notes are in the prescribed format⁶.
- (c) Stamp duty is paid,
- (d) All statutory levies are shown separately in the contract note

1.13.6 Payments/Delivery of Securities to the Clients

Every TM should make payments to his clients or deliver the securities purchased within one working day of pay-out unless the client has requested otherwise.

1.13.7 Brokerage

The maximum brokerage chargeable by TM in respect of trades effected in the securities admitted to dealing on the CM segment of the Exchange is fixed at 2.5% of the contract price, exclusive of statutory levies. This maximum brokerage is inclusive of sub-brokerage. The brokerage should be indicated separately from the price, in the contract note. The TM may not share brokerage with a person who is a TM or in employment of another TM.

For example: If a client has sold 10000 shares of a scrip @ Rs. 50, what is the maximum brokerage that the client can be charged?

In this case, the maximum brokerage = brokerage rate*value of the transaction

= 2.5 %*(10000 shares *Rs. 50) = Rs. 12,500

1.13.8 Segregation of Bank Accounts

The TM should maintain separate bank accounts for client's funds and own funds. It is compulsory for all TMs to keep the money of the clients in a separate account and their own money in a separate account. Funds should be transferred from the client account to the clearing account for the purpose of funds pay-in obligations on behalf of the clients and viceversa in case of funds pay-out. No payment for transaction in which the TM is taking position as a principal is allowed to be made from the client's account.

⁴ The said documents are to be obtained as per Exchange circular NSE/INSP/5387 dt. 27-Aug-04

⁵ SEBI/MRD/DoP/SE/Cir-07/2005 dated February 23, 2005

⁶ As per circular NSE/LEGL/7036 dated January 05, 2006 in Cash Market segment

1.13.9 Segregation of Demat (Beneficiary) Accounts

The trading members should keep the dematerialised securities of constituents in a separate beneficiary account distinct from the beneficiary account maintained for holding their own dematerialised securities. No delivery towards the own transactions of the trading members is allowed to be made from the account meant for constituents. For this purpose, every trading member is required to open a beneficiary account in the name of the trading member exclusively for the securities of the constituents (to be referred to as "constituents' beneficiary account"). A trading member may keep one consolidated constituents' beneficiary account for all its constituents or different accounts for each of its constituents as it may deem fit.

1.14 SuB-Broker-Clients FelationS

1.14.1 Relationship with clients

A sub-broker is required to enter into a tripartite agreement with its clients and the stock broker specifying the scope of rights and obligations of the sub-broker, the stock broker and such client of the sub-broker as per the format prescribed by SEBI for dealing in securities in cash segment. There should be privacy of contract between the stock broker and the subbroker's client. A separate agreement has to be executed for each Exchange.

Sub-broker is required to help the client in redress of grievance in respect of transactions executed through its associated broker. Sub-broker is also required to assist and co-operate in ensuring faster settlement of any arbitration proceeding arising out of the transaction entered through its associated broker and is jointly/severally liable to implement the arbitration award.

A sub-broker should provide assistance to stock broker and clients to reconcile their accounts at the end of each quarter with reference to all the settlements where payouts have been declared during the quarter.

1.14.2 Contract notes

A stock broker should issue contract note as per the format prescribed by the Exchange to client introduced through a sub-broker. A sub-broker should render necessary assistance to its client in obtaining the contract note from the stock broker. Sub-broker should not issue any contract note or confirmation memo to its client.

1.14.3 Securities/ Funds

Transactions in securities executed on behalf of a client introduced through the sub-broker should be settled by delivery/ payment between the stock broker and the client directly, in accordance of the rules, regulations and byelaws of the Exchange and such settlements should not take place through sub-broker. Delivery of securities and payment of funds relating to the transactions of a client introduced by the sub-broker should be directly between the

stock broker and the client of the sub broker.

1.15 InveStor ServIce Cell and **a**rBItratIon

Investor complaints received against the trading members / companies in respect of claims/ disputes for transactions executed on the Exchange are handled by the Investor Service Cell (ISC). The complaints are forwarded to the trading members for resolution and seeking clarifications. The ISC follows-up with the trading members and makes efforts to resolve the complaint expeditiously. In certain cases, on account of conflicting claims made by the investor and the trading member, when it is not possible to administratively resolve the complaint, investors are advised to take recourse to the arbitration mechanism prescribed by the Exchange.

Arbitration, which is a quasi judicial process, is an alternate dispute resolution mechanism prescribed under the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996. The Exchange bye-laws prescribe the provisions in respect of arbitration and the procedure therein has been prescribed in the regulations. The reference to arbitration should be filed within six months from the date when the dispute arose. The time taken by the ISC is excluded by the arbitrator, while considering the issue of limitation.

1.16 Code of **a**dvertISeMent

Trading Members of the Exchange while issuing advertisements in the media have to comply with the Code of Advertisement prescribed by the Exchange. In pursuance of that, a copy of an advertisement has to be submitted to the Exchange to get a prior approval before its issue in publication/media. The trading members may apply for approval of advertisement as per the application format. Trading Members not complying with the Code of Advertisement may have to face disciplinary proceedings.

The code of Advertisement is as follows:

- Advertisement shall include all forms of communications issued by or on behalf of Stock Broker in publicly available media that may influence investment/sale decisions of any investor/prospective investors.
- 2. Forms of communications shall include, form of document, pamphlets, circulars, brochures, notice or any research reports or any other literature or information, material published, or designed for use in a newspaper, magazine, SMS or other periodical, radio, television, telephone or tape recording, video tape display, signs or bill boards, motion pictures, telephone directories (other than routine listings) or other public media including websites or emails, whether in print or audio visual form or used in workshop/seminar or public speaking or in any other manner.
- 3. Advertisement/Material shall contain:
- 3.1. Name of the Stock Broker, registered office address of the member, SEBI Registration No

(all registration numbers and names of the Exchanges in case of multiple memberships)/ Stock Broker ID allotted by Exchange and logo of the Stock Broker, if any.

- 3.2. Information which is accurate, true, fair, clear, complete, unambiguous and concise.
- 3.3. Standard warning in legible fonts (minimum 10 font size) which states *`investment in securities market are subject to market risks, read all the related documents carefully before investing.*' No addition or deletion of words shall be made to the standard warning. In audio-visual media based advertisements, the standard warning in visual and accompanying voice over reiteration shall be audible in a clear and understandable manner. For example, in standard warning both the visual and the voice over reiteration containing 17 words running for at least 5 seconds may be considered as clear and understandable.
- 3.4. In case the mode of advertisement is SMS/Message/Pop-up, etc. and the details such as full name, logo, full registered office address, SEBI registration numbers and standard disclaimer are not mentioned, then official website hyperlink has to be provided in such SMS/Message/Pop-up, etc. and the website must contain all such details.
- 3.5. If there is mentioning of content pertaining to any other business activity such as Mutual Funds, IPO, Insurance, Commodities, Bonds, Fixed Deposits, Loans, etc., in the advertisement, then respective registration number(s) where applicable should be mentioned.
- 3.6. If the member is only a distributor/s for any of the products mentioned in the advertisement, disclaimer that they are only distributor/s of such products should be specifically mentioned in the disclaimer.
- 3.7. In case any specific security/securities are displayed in the advertisement as examples, disclaimer that "The securities quoted are exemplary and are not recommendatory" should be mentioned.
- 3.8. If the advertisement contains prepaid Brokerage schemes, Exchange circular (ref. no. NSE/INSP/26252 dated March 24, 2014) regarding pre-paid schemes should be complied with. In case anything related to the brokerage rates offered by the member is mentioned in the advertisement, then a disclaimer stating that the "Brokerage will not exceed the SEBI prescribed limit" should be mentioned.
- 4. Advertisement/Material shall not contain:
- 4.1. Anything which is otherwise prohibited for publication under the relevant Act, unwarranted, or make any promises.
- 4.2. Statements which are false, misleading, biased or deceptive, based on assumptions projections.
- 4.3. Shall not contain any misleading or deceptive testimonials.

- 4.4. Statements which directly or by implication or by omission may mislead the investor.
- 4.5. Any statement designed as likely to be misunderstood or likely to disguise the significance of the statement.
- 4.6. Any statement designed to exploit the lack of experience or knowledge of the investors.
- 4.7. Any slogan that is exaggerated or unwarranted or slogan that is inconsistent with or unrelated to the nature and risk and return profile of the product.
- 4.8. Any promise or guarantee of assured return to the general investors.
- 4.9. Any statement which directly or indirectly discredits other advertisements or Stock Broker or make unfair comparisons.
- 4.10. Representations made about the performance or activities of the broker unless accompanied by data regarding performance, disclosures of all the risk factors, etc. and disclaimer that "Such representations are not indicative of future results". Such disclaimer shall be in the same font as the rest of the advertisement.
- 4.11. Superlative terms, such as best, no. 1, one of the best, among market leaders, etc. unless such terms is provided by an entity independent of the Stock Broker and its affiliates, and whose services are not procured by the Stock Broker or any of its affiliates to assign the Stock Broker such term.
- 4.12. Recommendations such as BTST (buy today and sell tomorrow), ATST (acquire today and sell tomorrow) etc. cannot be mentioned in the advertisement as per Exchange circular ref. no. NSE/COMP/13186 dated October 05, 2009.
- 5. Compliance and Other Requirements:
- 5.1. Prior approval for the advertisement/material to be obtained from the Stock Exchange before issue.
- 5.2. No celebrities shall form part of the advertisement/material.
- 5.3. Statistical information, charts, graphs, etc. when used should be supported by their source, if any
- 5.4. Where advertising claims are expressly stated to be based on or supported by independent research or assessment, the source and date of this should be indicated in the advertisement.
- 5.5. In the event of suspension of any Stock Broker by the Exchange, the Stock Broker so suspended shall not issue any advertisement either singly or jointly with any other Stock Broker, during the period of suspension.
- 5.6. In the event of any proceeding/action initiated against a Stock Broker by a regulatory body other than the Exchange, the Exchange reserves the right to direct the Stock Broker to refrain from issuing any advertisement for such a period as it may deem fit.

- 5.7. The Stock Broker shall not involve/engage in games/leagues/schemes/competitions etc. which may involve distribution of prize monies/medals/gifts, etc.
- 5.8. These norms shall be applicable to any other investment/consultancy agencies associated with the Stock Broker concerned and issuing advertisement wherein the Stock Broker has been named in the advertisement.
- 5.9. Copy of the advertisement shall be submitted to the Exchange atleast seven days in advance before its issue.
- 5.10. Further to Exchange circular ref. no. NSE/COMP/30985 dated October 21, 2015 wherein members were instructed to submit an undertaking alongwith every advertisement submitted for approval, the updated undertaking format in compliance with the revised Code of Advertisement for Stock Brokers is provided at Annexure II circular ref. no. NSE/COMP/33643 dated 16 November 2016.

CHAPTER 2: TRADING

2.1 IntroductIon

In the past, the trading on stock exchanges in India was based on open outcry system. Under the system, brokers assemble at a central location usually the exchange trading ring, and trade with each other. This was time consuming, inefficient and imposed limits on trading volumes and trading hours. In order to provide efficiency, liquidity and transparency, NSE introduced a nation-wide on-line, fully-automated screen based trading system (SBTS). Under this system a trading member can punch into the computer, the number of securities and the prices at which he would like to transact. The transaction is executed as soon as it finds a matching sell or buy order from a counter party. See Box no. 3.1 for advantages of SBTS. This system was readily accepted by market participants and in the very first year of its operation, NSE became the leading stock exchange in the country.

Technology has been used to carry the trading platform from the trading hall of stock exchanges to the premises of brokers. NSE carried the trading platform further to the PCs at the residence of investors through the Internet. This made a huge difference in terms of equal access to investors in a geographically vast country like India.

The trading network is depicted in Figure 2.1. NSE has a main computer which is connected through Very Small Aperture Terminal (VSAT) installed at NSE office. The main computer runs on a fault tolerant STRATUS mainframe computer at the Exchange. Brokers have terminals (identified as the PCs in the Figure 2.1) installed at their premises which are connected through VSATs/leased lines/modems.

Box 2.1: Advantages of the Screen-Based Trading System (SBTS)

- It electronically matches orders on a strict price/time priority and hence cuts down on time, cost and risk of error, as well as on fraud resulting in improved operational efficiency.
- It allows faster incorporation of price sensitive information into prevailing prices, thus increasing the informational efficiency of markets.
- It enables market participants, irrespective of their geographical locations, to trade with one another simultaneously, improving the depth and liquidity of the market.
- It provides full anonymity by accepting orders, big or small, from members without revealing their identity, thus providing equal access to everybody.
- It also provides a perfect audit trail, which helps to resolve disputes by logging in the trade execution process in entirety.

Satellite



Figure 2.1: Trading Network

An investor informs a broker to place an order on his behalf. The broker enters the order through his personal computer and sends signal to the Satellite via VSAT/leased line/modem. The signal is directed to a mainframe computer at NSE via VSAT at NSE's office. A message relating to the order activity is broadcast to the respective member. The order confirmation message is immediately displayed on the PC of the broker. This order matches with the existing passive order(s), otherwise it waits for the active orders to enter the system. On order matching, a message is broadcast to the respective member.

The trading system operates on a strict price time priority. All orders received on the system are sorted with the best priced order getting the first priority for matching i.e., the best buy orders match with the best sell order. Similar priced orders are sorted on time priority basis,

i.e. the one that came in early gets priority over the later one. Orders are matched automatically by the computer keeping the system transparent, objective and fair. Where an order does not find a match, it remains in the system and is displayed to the whole market, till a fresh order comes in or the earlier order is cancelled or modified. The trading system provides tremendous flexibility to the users in terms of kinds of orders that can be placed on the system. Several time-related (immediate or cancel), price-related (buy/sell limit and stop loss orders) or volume related (disclosed quantity) conditions can be easily built into an order. The trading system also provides complete market information on-line. The market screen at any point of time provides complete information on total order depth in a security, the five best buys and sells available in the market, the quantity traded during the day in that security, the high and the low, the last traded price, etc. Investors can also know the fate of the orders almost as soon as they are placed with the trading members. Thus, the National Exchange for Automated Trading (NEAT) system provides an Open Electronic Consolidated Limit Order Book (OECLOB).

Limit orders are orders to buy or sell shares at a stated quantity and price. If the pricequantity conditions do not match, the limit order will not be executed. The term 'limit order book' refers to the fact that only limit orders are stored in the book and all market orders are crossed against the limit orders sitting in the book. Since the order book is visible to all market participants, it is termed as an 'Open Book'.

2.2 neat SySteM

NSE is the first exchange in the world to use satellite communication technology for trading. Its trading system, called National Exchange for Automated Trading (NEAT), is a state of-theart client server based application. At the server end all trading information is stored in an in memory database to achieve minimum response time and maximum system availability for users. It has uptime record of 99.7%. For all trades entered into NEAT system, there is uniform response time of less than one second. The NEAT system supports an order driven market, wherein orders match on the basis of time and price priority. All quantity fields are in units and prices are quoted in Indian Rupees. The regular lot size and tick size for various securities traded is notified by the Exchange from time to time.

2.3 Market tyPeS

The Capital Market system has four types of market:

- (i) Normal Market: Normal market consists of various book types in which orders are segregated as Regular Lot Orders, Special Term Orders, and Stop Loss Orders depending on the order attributes.
- (ii) Auction Market: In the auction market, auctions are initiated by the exchange on behalf of trading members for settlement related reasons. The main features of this market are detailed in a separate section (3.13) on auction.
- (iii) Odd Lot Market: The odd lot market facility is used for the Limited Physical Market and for the Block Trades Session. The main features of the Limited Physical Market are detailed in a separate section (3.14). The main features of the Block Trades Session are detailed in a separate section (3.15).

2.4 tradIng SySteM USerS hIerarchy

The trading member has the facility of defining a hierarchy amongst its users of the NEAT system. This hierarchy is depicted in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Trading System users hierarchy

The users of the trading system can logon as either of the user type. The significance of each type is explained below:

- (i) Corporate Manager: The corporate manager is a term assigned to a user placed at the highest level in a trading firm. Such a user receives the end-of-day reports for all branches of the trading member. The facility to set branch order value limits and user order value limits is available to the corporate manager. He can view outstanding orders and trades of all users of the trading member and can also cancel/modify outstanding orders of all users of the trading member.
- (ii) Branch Manager: The branch manager is a term assigned to a user who is placed under the corporate manager. The branch manager receives end-of-day reports for all the dealers under that branch. He can set user order value limit for each of his branch. He can view outstanding orders and trades of all users of his branch and can also cancel/ modify outstanding order of all users of his branch.
- (iii) Dealer: Dealers are users at the lowest level of the hierarchy. A dealer can view and perform order and trade related activities only for himself and do not have access to information on other dealers under either the same branch or other branches.

2.5 local dataBaSe

The local database provides a faster response time to the users. All inquiries made by a user for own orders/trades are serviced through the local database. If however, a corporate

manager or branch manager makes inquiries for orders of any dealer/branch manager of the trading firm, then the inquiry is serviced by the host. The data stored in the local database include system messages, security related information and order/trade related data of the user.

2.6 Market PhaSeS

The trading system is normally made available for trading on all days except Saturdays, Sundays and other holidays. Holidays are declared by the Exchange from time to time. A trading day typically consists of a number of discrete stages as below:

- Opening: The trading member can carry out the following activities after login to the NEAT system and before the market opens for trading:
 - (a) Set up Market Watch (the securities which the user would like to view on the screen)
- (ii) Pre-open: The pre-open session is for a duration of 15 minutes i.e. from 9:00 am to 9:15 am. The pre-open session is comprised of Order collection period and order matching period.

The order collection period of 8* minutes shall be provided for order entry, modification and cancellation. (* - System driven random closure between 7th and 8th minute). During this period orders can be entered, modified and cancelled.

The information like Indicative equilibrium / opening price of scrip, total buy and sell quantity of the scrip is disseminated on the NEAT Terminal to the members on real time basis.

Indicative NIFTY 50 Index value & % change of indicative equilibrium price to previous close price are computed based on the orders in order book and are disseminated during pre-open session.

Order matching period starts immediately after completion of order collection period. Orders are matched at a single (equilibrium) price which will be open price. The order matching happens in the following sequence:

- Eligible limit orders are matched with eligible limit orders
- Residual eligible limit orders are matched with market orders
- Market orders are matched with market orders

Equilibrium price determination

In a call auction price mechanism, equilibrium price is determined as shown below. Assume that NSE received bids for particular stock xyz at different prices in between 9.00 am & 9:07/08 am. Based on the principle of demand supply mechanism, exchange

will arrive at the equilibrium price - price at which the maximum number of shares can be bought / sold. In below example, the opening price will be 105 where maximum 27,500 shares can be traded.

Share Price	Order	Book	Demand, sche	Demand/Supply schedule				
	Buy	Sell	Demand	Supply	Quantity			
100	13500	11500	50500	11500	11500			
104	9500	9500	37000	21300	21300			
105	12000	15000	27500	36300	27500			
106	6500	12000	15500	48300	15500			
107	5000	12500	9000	60800	9000			
108	4000	8500	4000	69300	4000			

During order matching period, order modification, order cancellation, trade modification and trade cancellation is not allowed. The trade confirmations are disseminated to respective members on their trading terminals before the start of normal market. After completion of order matching there is a silent period to facilitate the transition from pre-open session to the normal market. All outstanding orders are moved to the normal market retaining the original time stamp. Limit orders are at limit price and market orders are at the discovered equilibrium price. In a situation where no equilibrium price is discovered in the pre-open session, all market orders are moved to normal market at previous day's close price or adjusted close price / base price following price time priority. Accordingly, Normal Market and Odd lot Market opens for trading after closure of pre-open session i.e. 9:15 am. Block Trading session is available for the next 35 minutes from the open of Normal Market.

The opening price is determined based on the principle of demand supply mechanism. The equilibrium price is the price at which the maximum volume is executable. In case more than one price meets the said criteria, the equilibrium price is the price at which there is minimum unmatched order quantity. In case more than one price has same minimum order unmatched quantity, the equilibrium price is the price closest to the previous day's closing price. In case the previous day's closing price is the mid-value of pair of prices which are closest to it, then the previous day's closing price itself will be taken as the equilibrium price. In case of corporate action, previous day's closing price is adjusted to the closing price or the base price. Both limit and market orders are reckoned for computation of equilibrium price. The equilibrium price determined in pre-open session is considered as open price for the day. In case if only market orders exists both in the buy and sell side, then order is matched at previous days close price or adjusted close price / base price. Previous day's close or adjusted close price / base price is the opening price. In case if no price is discovered in pre-open session, the price of first trade in the normal market is the open price.

- (iii) Normal Market Open Phase: The open period indicates the commencement of trading activity. To signify the start of trading, a message is sent to all the trader workstations. The market open time for different markets is notified by the Exchange to all the trading members. Order entry is allowed when all the securities have been opened. During this phase, orders are matched on a continuous basis. Trading in all the instruments is allowed unless they are specifically prohibited by the Exchange. The activities that are allowed at this stage are Inquiry, Order Entry, Order Modification, Order Cancellation (including quick order cancellation), Order Matching and Trade Cancellation.
- (iv) Market Close: When the market closes, trading in all instruments for that market comes to an end. A message to this effect is sent to all trading members. No further orders are accepted, but the user is permitted to perform activities like inquiries and trade cancellation.
- (v) Post-Close Market: This closing session is available only in Normal Market Segment. Its timings are from 3.40 PM to 4.00 PM. Only market price orders are allowed. Special Terms, Stop Loss and Disclosed Quantity Orders, Index Orders are not allowed. The trades are considered as Normal Market trades. Securities not traded in the normal market session are not allowed to participate in the Closing Session.
- (vi) Surcon: Surveillance and Control (SURCON) is that period after market close during which, the users have inquiry access only. After the end of SURCON period, the system processes the data for making the system available for the next trading day. When the system starts processing data, the interactive connection with the NEAT system is lost and the message to that effect is displayed at the trader workstation.

2.7 loggIng On

On starting NEAT application, the logon screen appears with the following detail:

- (i) User ID
- (ii) Trading Member ID
- (iii) Password

In order to sign on to the system, the user must specify a valid User ID, Trading Member ID and the corresponding password. A valid combination of User ID, Trading Member ID and the

password is needed to access the system. Figure 3.3 shows screenshot of log on screen of NEAT CM.

(I) NEAT	28 SEP 2006	14:44:40	
Welcome To The National Exchange For Automated Trading Capital Market - Trader Workstation			
User Id 5039 Trading Member Id NSEIL			
Password *****			
CONFIRM CANCEL EXIT BE	POBT		
(c) Copyright TCAM Systems, Inc. 1993, All Rights Rese	rved - V 8.05.00		

Figure 2.3: Logon Screen of NEAT CM

Following are the details of the Log-on screen:

- (i) User ID: Each trading member can have more than one user ID. The number of users allowed for each trading member is notified by the Exchange from time to time. Each user of a trading member must be registered with the Exchange and is assigned a unique user ID.
- (ii) Trading Member ID: The Exchange assigns a trading member ID to each trading member. The trading member ID is unique and functions as a reference for all orders/ trades of different users. This ID is common for all the users of a particular trading member. The trading member ID and user IDs form a unique and valid combination.

It is the responsibility of the trading member to maintain adequate control over the persons having access to user IDs. The trading member should request the Exchange for changes in names of the users of user ID, especially when there are changes in the users who are dealing on behalf of the trading member.

(iii) Password: When a user logs in for the first time, he has to enter the default password

'Neat@CM1' provided by the exchange. On entering this password, the system requests the user to enter a new password in the `New Password' field. On entering the new password, the system requests for confirmation of this new password. This new password is known to the user only. See box no. 2.2 for features of User ID and Password.

Box 2.2: Features of User ID and Password

Location Specific User ID: Earlier, it was possible for the members having connectivity at more than one location to use the allotted user IDs interchangeably from either location. This gave rise to various systems security related problems. To reduce such potential risks associated with the member's workstation, the exchange assigns user ID to a specific location. So, whenever a user attempts to log on to the trader workstation, the system checks for a valid location for that user ID in the database at the host end.

Password:

- The password should contain minimum of six characters and maximum of eight characters in length. A combination of characters and numbers is allowed in the password.
- The password can be changed if the user desires so and a new password can be entered. The new password must be different from the old password.
- Password appears in the encrypted form and thus complete secrecy is maintained. The system ensures the change in password for all users (password expiry period is parameterized by the exchange).
- In the event of the user forgetting his password, the trading member is required to reset the password from his corporate manager user id. In case the corporate manager id is disabled then he is required to inform the exchange in writing, requesting to reset the password. The user password is reset to the default password set by the exchange. The user can login by entering a new password as per the procedure outlined above.
- When a user tries to login with a wrong password a message 'Invalid Sign on' is displayed. If three attempts are made by a user to log on with an incorrect password, then that user is automatically disabled. In case of such an event, the trading member is required to reset the password from his corporate manager user id. In case the corporate manager id is disabled then he is required to makes a written request to the exchange for resetting of password. The user password is reset to the default password set by the exchange. The user can login by entering a new password as per the procedure outlined above.

2.8 log Off/exIt froM the aPPIIcatIon

One can exit from the application as and when one desires before the surcon period. On invoking the log off screen, the following options are displayed to the user. Figure 3.4 shows screenshot of log off screen of NEAT CM.

- (i) Permanent Sign Off: As the name suggests, a user can log off permanently from the trading system by selecting this option. The user is logged off and the log on screen appears.
- (ii) Temporary Sign Off: Temporary sign off is a useful feature that allows the user to disallow the use of the trading software without actually logging off. During a temporary sign-off period, the application continues to receive all market updates in the background. The user, however, cannot enter orders or make inquiries. This allows the user to leave the trading system temporarily inactive and prevents unauthorized access to the system. On selecting the temporary sign off option, a password entry screen is displayed. The use of the NEAT system is enabled on entering the correct password. The temporary sign off is automatically activated when the user is inactive for a period of 5 minutes. The user has to enter the password to resume activities. If five attempts are made to sign on with an incorrect password, the user is permanently logged off. In this case the user has to log on again.

- - X

(iii) Exit: On selection of this option, the user comes out of sign off screen.

								Nity 50	7910.40 (-1.65)
	23 A	+	112 2 5 5			2 2			
ACC	EQ N		1417.00	1417.45	8 1417.00	INE -			×
DANKINDIA CROMPOREAU	EQ N EQ N	2000	97.90 I 59.00 I	07.05 050 59.10 117	4 07.05 +	0.07 +			
SDIN	EQ N	3700	105.50	105.55 02	5 105.50	0.50 +			
					DIG NO	NEE.			
		Pe	ermanent 1		Tempo	rary		Exit	
							_		

Figure 2.4 Logoff screen of NEAT CM

B NEAT

2.9 neat Screen

The trader workstation screen of the trading member is divided into the following windows:

- (i) Title bar: It displays trading system name i.e. NEAT, the trading member name the user id, user type, the date and the current time.
- Ticker Window: The ticker displays information of all trades in the system as and when (ii) it takes place. The user has the option of selecting the securities that should appear in the ticker. Securities in ticker can be selected for each market type. On the extreme right hand of the ticker is the on-line index window that displays the current index value of NSE indices namely Nifty 50, Nifty50 PR 1x Inverse, Nifty100 Liquid 15, Nifty Services Sector, Nifty Midcap 50, Nifty Dividend Opportunities 50, Nifty Free Float Smallcap 100, Nifty PSE, Nifty MNC, Nifty Infrastructure, Nifty FMCG, Nifty Energy, Nifty Bank, Nifty 100, Nifty50 TR 1x Inverse, Nifty 11-15 yr G-Sec Index, Nifty 200, India VIX, Nifty 15 yr and above G-Sec Index, Nifty Auto, Nifty Media, Nifty Quality 30, Nifty PSU Bank, Nifty Metal, Nifty 500, Nifty IT, Nifty Commodities, Nifty CPSE, Nifty Financial Services, Nifty Pharma, Nifty Midcap Liquid 15, Nifty Free Float Midcap 100, Nifty50 PR 2x Leverage, Nifty Next 50, Nifty India Consumption, Nifty Growth Sectors 15, Nifty 4-8 yr G-Sec Index, Nifty 10 yr Benchmark G-Sec (Clean Price) Index, Nifty Composite G-Sec Index, Nifty50 TR 2x Leverage, Nifty50 Value 20, Nifty Realty, Nifty 8-13 yr G-Sec Index, Nifty 10 yr Benchmark G-Sec Index, Nifty50 Dividend Points and Nifty Private Bank. The user can scroll within these indices and view the index values respectively. Index point change with reference to the previous close is displayed along with the current index value. The difference between the previous close index value and the current index value becomes zero when the Nifty closing index is computed for the day.

The ticker window displays securities capital market segments. The ticker selection facility is confined to the securities of capital market segment only. The first ticker window, by default, displays all the derivatives contracts traded in the Futures and Options segment.

(iii) Tool Bar: The toolbar has functional buttons which can be used with the mouse for quick access to various functions such as Buy Order Entry, Sell Order Entry, Market By Price (MBP), Previous Trades (PT), Outstanding Order (OO), Activity Log (AL), Order Status (OS), Market Watch (MW), Snap Quote (SQ), Market Movement (MM), Market Inquiry (MI), Auction Inquiry (AI), Order Modification (OM), Order Cancellation (OCXL), Security List, Net Position, Online Backup, Supplementary Menu, Index Inquiry, Index Broadcast and Help. All these functions are also accessible through the keyboard.

- (iv) Market Watch Window: The 'Market Watch' window is the main area of focus for a trading member. This screen allows continuous monitoring of the securities that are of specific interest to the user. It displays trading information for the selected securities.
- (v) Inquiry Window: This screen enables the user to view information such as Market by Order (MBO), Market By Price (MBP), Previous Trades (PT), Outstanding Orders (OO), Activity Log (AL), Order Status (OS), Market Movement (MM), Market Inquiry (MI), Net Position, Online Backup, Index Inquiry, Indices Broadcast, Most Active Securities and so on. Relevant information for the selected security can be viewed.
- (vi) Snap Quote: The snap quote feature allows a trading member to get instantaneous market information on any desired security. This is normally used for securities that are not already set in the Market Watch window. The information presented is the same as that of the Marker Watch window.
- (vii) Order/Trade Window: This window enables the user to enter/modify/cancel orders and to send request for trade cancellation and modification.
- (viii) Message Window: This enables the user to view messages broadcast by the exchange such as corporate actions, any market news, auctions related information etc. and other messages like order confirmation, order modification, order cancellation, orders which have resulted in quantity freezes/price freezes and the exchange action on them, trade confirmation, trade cancellation/modification requests and exchange action on them, name and time when the user logs in/logs off from the system, messages specific to the trading member, etc. These messages appear as and when the event takes place in a chronological order.

2.10 Invoking an Inquiry Screen

All Inquiry screens have a selection where the security viewed can be selected. The screen shows the details of the security selected for that inquiry. The details for each inquiry screen are discussed below:

Market Watch

The Market Watch window is the third window from the top of the screen that is always visible to the user. The Market Watch is the focal area for users. The purpose of Market Watch is to setup and view trading details of securities that are of interest to users. For each security in the Market Watch, market information is dynamically updated. Following are the key features of Market Watch Screen:

(i) Market Information Displayed: The one line market information displayed in the market watch screen is for current best price orders available in the Regular Lot book. For each security the following information is displayed:

- (a) the corporate action indicator "Ex/Cum"
- (b) the total buy order quantity available at best buy price
- (c) best buy price
- (d) best sell price
- (e) total sell order quantity available at best sell price
- (f) the last traded price
- (g) the last trade price change indicator and
- (i) the Percentage change from previous day's closing price'

If the security is suspended, 'SUSPENDED' appears in front of the security. If a question mark (?) appears on the extreme right hand corner for a security, it indicates that the information being displayed is not the latest and the system will dynamically update it.

(ii) Information Update: In the Market Watch screen, changes in the best price and quantities are highlighted on a dynamic basis (in all pages of Market Watch). For example, if the best price changes as a result of a new order in the market, the new details are immediately displayed. The changed details are highlighted with a change of colour for a few seconds to signify that a change has occurred. The blue colour indicates that price/quantities have increased, while the red colour indicates that the price/quantities have decreased.

If the last traded price is higher than the previous last traded price then the indicator `+' appears or if the last traded price is lower than the previous last traded price then the indicator `-' appears. If there is no change in the last traded price, no indicator is displayed.

The list of securities that are available for trading on Capital Market segment is available in the Security List box. The user has the option to setup securities directly from the Security List without typing a single character on the market watch screen. This is a quick facility to setup securities. If the user tries to setup a security which is already present in the market watch one gets a message that the security is already setup. The user also has the option to add and delete the security set up in the market watch screen as many times as one desires. The user can print the contents of the Market Watch setup by the user. The user can either print the Market Watch on display or the Full Market Watch.

(iii) Market Watch Download: A user has to set up securities after the first download of the software. After setting up the market watch, it is suggested that the user should log out normally. This will help the user to save the freshly set up market watch securities in a file. If at any given time, when the user has freshly set up a few securities and encounters an abnormal exit, the newly set up securities are not saved and the user may have to repeat the process of setting up securities. The Market Watch setup is carried over to subsequent days, thus averting the need to set up the Market Watch on daily basis. During the logon stage, the relevant Market Watch details are downloaded from the trading system. The message displayed is 'Market Watch download is in progress'. The time taken for the Market Watch download depends on the number of securities set up.

- (iv) Setting up Securities: One of the best features of this software is that the user has the facility to set up 500 securities in the market watch. The user can view up to 30 securities in one page of the market watch screen.
- (v) Easy Navigation: The details of the current position in the Market Watch defaults in the order entry screen and the inquiry selection screen. It is therefore possible to do quick order entries and inquiries using this feature. The default details can also be overwritten.
- (vi) Corporate Actions Indication: An indicator for corporate actions for a security is another feature in market watch. The indicators are as follows:
 - 'XD' ex-dividend
 - 'XB' ex-bonus
 - 'XI' ex-interest
 - 'XR' ex-rights
 - 'CD' cum-dividend
 - 'CR' cum-rights
 - 'CB' cum-bonus
 - 'CI' cum-interest
 - 'C*' in case of more than one of CD, CR, CB, CI
 - $^{`}X^{*\prime}$ in case of more than one of XD, XR, XB, XI

Security Descriptor

Information such as Security Name, Book Closure Start and End Dates, Ex-Date, No-Delivery Start and End Dates, Tick Size, daily price range, Face Value, ISIN and Remarks is displayed in the Security Descriptor. The label DPR i.e. Daily Price Range displays the permissible price band for a security for the current trading day. Figure 2.5 shows screenshot of security descriptor window in NEAT CM.



Figure 2.5: Security Descriptor in NEAT CM

Market by Price

The purpose of Market by Price (MBP) is to enable the user to view outstanding orders in the market aggregated at each price and are displayed in order of best prices. Figure 2.6 shows screenshot of market by price window in NEAT CM.

The fields that are available on the selection screen are Symbol, Series and Book Type. The option available in the book type field are Regular Lot.

The detailed MBP screen is split into First Line, Detail Line and Summary Line. The first line displays Market Type, Symbol, Series, Total Traded Quantity, Highest Trade Price, Lowest Trade Price, Last Trade Price, % Change in LTP from Previous Day Close and Average Traded Price. The detail line displays Number of Buy Orders, Total Buy Order Quantity at that price, Buy Order Price, Sell Order Price, Total Sell Order Quantity at that price and Number of Sell Orders. The summary line displays Total Buy Order Quantity and Total Sell Order Quantity. For special term orders, the terms are not reflected in the MBP screen. Buy orders are displayed on the left side of the window and sell orders on the right. The orders appear in a price/time priority with the "best priced" order at the top. When any Regular Lot information, currently displayed on the window, is changed (for example as the result of a trade), this information is automatically reflected in the MBP i.e. dynamic updation of MBP screen is present.

All buyback orders are identified by an `*' in the MBP screen. In case a buyback order appears in the best five orders in the MBP an `*' will precede such an order record. In addition, an `*' will appear against the 'Total Buy' field in the MBP irrespective of the order being in best five orders in the MBP or not

Special Features of MBP

- (a) Regular lot & special term orders can be viewed in the MBP. The percentage change for last trade price with respect to previous day's closing price, open price (in case of preopen indicative opening price), high price for a day, low price a day and the average trade price of the security in the given market are the additional fields in the screen.
- (b) No untriggered stop-loss order will be displayed on the MBP screen.
 - Control
 <t
- (c) Only order details for the best 5 prices information is displayed.

Figure 2.6: Market by Price window in NEAT CM

Previous Trades

The purpose of the Previous Trades window is to provide security-wise information to users for own trades. The fields that are available on the selection screen are Symbol, Series, Market type, Auction Number, Trading Member ID, Branch ID, Dealer, CLI, Buy/Sell and Time. The options available in the Market type field are Normal Market, Odd Lot and Auction. If the user selects the option to view Auction Market trade details, the auction number has to be compulsorily entered. The Corporate Manager can view all the trades for all branches or for a specific branch. Under the specific branch, the user can view trade details for a specific dealer or for all dealers. The Branch Manager can view all details under that branch i.e. all previous trades for all dealers and for all clients or for all dealers or for a specific dealer. The dealer can view previous trades for own user id only. The user can select the previous trades up to a particular time period, by entering the relevant time in the time field.

The detailed Previous Trade screen information is split into First Line, Detail Line and Summary Line. The first line displays Market Type, Symbol, Series, Last Trade Price, Last Trade Quantity, Last Trade Time and Total Traded Quantity. The detail line contains Buy/Sell Indicator, PRO/CLI indicator (where P – PRO and C - CLI), Order Number, Trade Number, Trade Quantity, Trade

Price and Trade Time. The summary line contains Total Number of Buy Trades, Total Buy Quantity Traded, Total Buy Traded Value, Average Buy Traded Price, Total Number of Sell Trades, Total Sell Quantity Traded, Total Sell Traded Value and Average Sell Traded Price. Previous Trade Screen displays the client account number also. Preopen Indicator is displayed as "P" for all Preopen Trades.

Trades are displayed in a reverse chronological order. First all buy trades are displayed and then sell trades are displayed. A facility is provided to users to view their trades for BUY side or SELL side or ALL by selecting the BUY/SELL/ALL filter in primary window. By default, the filter is on ALL. Once the query is executed with the filter, the trades are displayed with time sorting for the chosen filter option. This functionality only works for self and not for hierarchal inquiry.

Special Features of Previous Trades

- (a) Trade cancellation can be requested from the Previous Trade screen. This facility is available only for member's own trades. The Corporate Manager can request for trade cancellation for any branch or any dealer. The Branch Manager can request for trade cancellation for any dealer under that branch. The dealer can request for trade cancellation only for trades under that user id.
- (b) The user can request the Exchange to modify only the client code field. Currently trade modification facility is not enabled on trading system.

Outstanding Orders

The purpose of Outstanding Orders is to enable the user to view the outstanding orders for a security. An outstanding order is an order that has been entered by the user, but which has not yet been completely traded or cancelled. The user is permitted to see his orders.

The fields which are available on the selection screen are Symbol, Series, Book type, Auction Number, Branch ID, Dealer, PRO/CLI and Time. The options available in the Book type field are Pre open, Regular Lot, Odd Lot, Stop Loss and Auction. If the user selects the option to view Auction Market trade details, the Auction Number has to be compulsorily entered. When the user selects Pre open book, in the detailed screen only pre open outstanding orders will be displayed. In the detailed screen, pre-open orders will have an Identifier 'P'.

The corporate manager can view all the Outstanding Orders for all branches or for a specific branch. Under the specific branch, the user can view Outstanding Orders details for a specific dealer or for all dealers. Similarly it is possible to view all Outstanding Orders for a particular client or for all clients under a dealer. The Branch Manager can view all Outstanding Orders details Orders details under that Branch i.e. all Outstanding Orders for all clients or for all clients or for all clients or for all clients or for all Outstanding Orders for all clients or for all cli

The detailed outstanding orders screen is split into First Line and Detail Line. The first line contains Symbol, Series, Market Type, Security Status, Label, Current Time and Current Date. The detail line contains Book Type, User ID, Client A/C Number, Order Number, Order Quantity Pending and Order Price.

The orders are listed on the basis of price/time priority. The orders are displayed in order of Regular Lot orders and then Stop Loss orders. Outstanding order screen is not dynamically updated, but the user has option to refresh the Outstanding Orders screen by reinvoking the inquiry.

Special Features of Outstanding Orders

- (a) The user can modify orders from the outstanding orders screen.
- (b) The user can cancel orders from the outstanding orders screen.
- (c) The user can view status of a particular order from the outstanding orders screen.

Activity Log

The Activity Log (AL) shows all the activities that have been performed on any order belonging to that user. These activities include order modification/cancellation, partial/full trade, and trade modification/cancellation. It displays information of only those orders in which some activity has taken place. It does not display those orders on which no activity has taken place.

The fields that are available on the selection screen are Symbol, Series, Market Type, Branch ID, Dealer, PRO/CLI and Client Account Number. The Symbol, Series and Market Type fields are compulsory. The options available in the Market Type field are Preopen, Normal Market, Odd Lot and Auction. A Preopen Identifier 'P' will be displayed for Preopen orders in Activity Log screen.

The detailed AL screen is split into first line and detail line. The first line displays Market Type, Symbol, Series, Current Time and Current Date. The detail line contains User Id, Order Number, PRO/CLI indicator (where P-PRO, C-CLI), Buy/Sell Indicator, Order quantity, Order price, Order Terms/Trade Number, Disclosed Quantity, MF Indicator, MF Quantity, Activity Indicator and Activity Time. One line appears for each activity that has taken place today. For example, if a buy order is traded against three separate sell orders, then the activity log for the buy order shows three separate lines and the original order details.

The following activities are displayed:

- B For buy orders, this indicates a match.
- S For sell orders, this indicates a match.
- OC This indicates an order was cancelled.
- OM This indicates an order was modified. The details displayed are the order after it was modified.
- TC For both buy and sell orders this indicates that a trade involving this order was cancelled.
- TM For both buy and sell orders this indicates that a trade involving this order was modified.Special terms associated with the order are displayed to help identify the order.

Special Features of Activity Log

- (a) The AL gives details of all activities in chronological orders.
- (b) Within the order number, the details appear with the oldest activity first and the latest last.
- (c) The activity consists only of orders entered by the requesting trading member.
- (d) This inquiry option is not available to users in inquiry mode.

Order Status

The purpose of the Order Status (OS) is to look into the status of one of dealer's own specific orders. The screen provides the current status of orders and other order details. The order status screen is not dynamically updated. In case the order is traded, the trade details are also displayed. In case of multiple trades the display is scrolled.

• To view the status of a particular order, enter the order number for which the order status is to be viewed in the selection screen of OS. The user has to enter the second part of the order number. If the user does not know the order number, then the user can position the highlight bar on the desired order on the Outstanding Order screen and then invoke the OS screen. The order number is directly defaulted in the Order Status selection screen. Additionally if it is a preopen order then there will be an identifier 'P' with tool tip as "Preopen Identifier" indicating that it is a Preopen order.

The detailed OS screen is divided into three parts. The first part covers order related information, the second part covers the trade related information if the order has resulted in a trade and the third part gives summary details.

The first part details are in two lines. The first line gives Book Type, Symbol, Series, Order Number, Type (Buy/Sell), Total Order Quantity, Order Price, PRO/CLI, Client A/C Number and Participant ID. The second line gives Disclosed Quantity, MF/AON Indicator, MF Quantity,

Trigger Price, Day, Indicator 1 (Order Modified - MOD), Indicator 2 (Order Cancelled - CXL) and Indicator 3 (Order Traded - TRD). The second part details are Trade Quantity, Trade Price, Trade Time and Trade Number. The third part details are Quantity Traded Today and Balance Quantity (remaining quantity).

Special Features of Order Status

- (a) The OS provides the user the current status of the order i.e. whether order has been modified, order was cancelled, order was traded, or order has been partially traded.
- (b) It shows all the order details. It also shows the trade details for each trade done against this order.
- (c) The data is presented in chronological order. One line appears for each activity that has taken place today.
- (d) The dealer can view order status of orders entered under that Dealer ID only.
- (e) This Inquiry option is not available to Users in Inquiry mode.

Snap Quote

The Snap Quote is a feature available in the system to get instantaneous market information on a desired security. This is normally used for a security that is not setup in the Market Watch window. The information displayed for the set up security is same as that in Market Watch window i.e. Corporate action indicator 'Ex/Cum', the total buy order quantity, best buy price, best sell price, total sell order quantity, last traded price, last trade price change indicator and the no delivery indicator 'ND'. The Snap Quote is displayed for the time specified by the exchange from time to time. The display position of Snap Quote is reserved and no other information overlaps it. A user can therefore simultaneously view a regular inquiry (e.g. MBP) and the Snap Quote display.

Market Movement

The purpose of the Market Movement screen is to provide information to the user regarding the movement of a security for the current day. This inquiry gives the snap shot for a particular security for a time interval as parameterised by the exchange. The fields that are available on the selection screen are Symbol, Series and Market type. The user can select the Market Type as Normal Market and Odd Lot market. Figure 3.7 shows screenshot of market movement window in NEAT CM.

The detailed output screen is given in two parts. The first part gives information regarding the security for the entire day namely Symbol, Series, Market Type, Total Buy Order Quantity, Total Sell Order Quantity, Total Traded Quantity, High Price, Low Price, Open Price and Last Traded Price. The second part gives information for a particular time interval namely Time Interval, Buy Order Quantity, Sell Order Quantity, Traded Quantity, High Price and Low Price. The user can save the Market Movement screen by specifying the directory and file name to save the information. This file can be viewed in MSDOS editor.

Special Features of Market Movement

- (a) The Market Movement screen provides information to the user regarding the movement of a security for the current day on orders/trades done today.
- (b) The information displayed is from the time the market was opened today and in chronological sequence.

💮 NEAT		1000								—
									🖨 Niity 50	7904.90 (-7.15)
	. ~ 3 M	+ - '	8 8 10 1	2 🗊 📼 🏹		A ₍₂₎	2 ?			
ACC	EQ N		202	1417.10	1417.70	5 1417.4		1.10		
BANKINDIA	EQ N		2934	97.75	97.90 48	97.7		0.88		
CROMPGREAV	EQ N		1716	57.95 (58.00 40	25 57.9		3.33		
SBIN	EŲ N		1260	195.30	195.45 17	46 136.4	•	1.62 +		
		6	Mariat Manage							
		i i	Market Movem	ent				and the second second		
		- 1	Symbol		Series	Market Ty	pe			
			ACC		EQ	Normal	• Se	arch		
		1	Total Buy	Order Otv	Total Sell Order Otv	Total Trad	e Oty			
			159073		199596	72373		1		
			High Pric	P	Low	Open Price	Last Tra	ded		
		11	1430.35		1413.50	1430.00	1417.4	5		
			Time Interes	Dun Orden Ob	foll Order Obr	Trada Otu	High Dries	-		
			Time interva	i buy Under Qt	y sentituer day	trade city	nightence	Low Price		
			10:00	58852	153237	32029	1430.35	1413.50		
		- II								
			I							
								1		
				Print	Sa	we	Exit			
		U								
11:05:39 M/C :1	Latest Announ	cements and	I on the Extranet	Server						
11:05:39 M/C :1	(/intdbut1/mnt/e	appin/list/con	nmon/Corporate/A	nnouncements).						

Figure 2.7: Market Movement window in NEAT CM

Market Inquiry

The purpose of the Market Inquiry is to enable the user to view the market statistics, for a particular market, for a security. It also displays the open price and previous close price for a security.

The fields that are available on the selection screen are Symbol, Series and Market type. The user can select market type as Normal and Odd Lot. The detailed output screen is given in two parts. The first line displays Symbol, Series, Security Status, Corporate Actions Indicator 1, Corporate Actions Indicator 2, Corporate Actions Indicator 3, Total Traded Quantity, 52 Week High and 52 Week Low. The second line displays Closing Price, Opening Price, High Price, Low Price, Last Traded Price and Net change from closing price. The third line displays Last Traded Quantity, Last Traded Time and Last Traded Date. The fourth line displays Best Buy Order Quantity, Best Buy Order Price, Best Sell Order Price and Best Sell Order Quantity.

Special Features of Market Inquiry

- (a) This screen is not dynamically updated. It displays the security status of the security selected. 'S' indicates that the security is suspended, 'P' indicates that the security is in pre open (only for normal market) and in absence of the above indicators the security is open for trading.
- (b) An indicator for corporate actions for a security is displayed on the screen. The indicators are as follows:

"CD" = cum-dividend	"XD'' = ex-dividend
"CR" = cum-rights	"XR" = ex-rights
"CB" = cum-bonus	"XB" = ex-bonus
"CI" = cum-interest	"XI" = ex-interest

- (c) The net change indicator for last trade price with respect to the previous day's closing price and the net change percentage for the last trade price with respect to the previous day's closing price are displayed.
- (d) The base price of a security for the day is equal to the previous day's closing price of the security in normal circumstances. Thus, in the market inquiry screen the field indicating the closing price also gives the base price for the day.
- (e) If the base price is manually changed (due to a corporate action) then the market inquiry will not display the new base price in the closing price field.

Auction Inquiry

The purpose of Auction Inquiry (AI) is to enable the users to view the auction activities for the current trading day. This window displays information about auctions currently going on and auctions that have been completed.

The detailed line in the auction inquiry screen displays: No. - Serial Number, St. - Status of the auction security, Type - Buy/Sell auction, Symbol, Series, Best Buy Qty, Best Buy Price, Best Sell Price, Best Sell Qty, Auction Qty, Auction Price and Settlement Period.

The following are the different status displayed for an auction security:

- S Auction is in Solicitor Period
- M System is matching the orders
- F Auction is over
- X Auction is deleted
- P Auction is pending and yet to begin.

The user can view the auction details of a security setup in the market watch, by invoking the auction inquiry screen after highlighting the auction security. To view the auction details for

all the securities, the user should blank out the contents of all the fields in the auction inquiry selection screen. To view the auctions after a particular number, the user should blank out the contents in Symbol & Series field and enter the number in the auction number field on the selection screen. The auction inquiry screen then displays all auctions from that number onwards. This window is dynamically updated. Figure 3.8 shows screenshot of auction enquiry window in NEAT CM.

🔁 NEAT 🕐												
											Nity 50	7838.95 (-60.35)
		_		_								
回留 医(💪 🦧 🖇 📣	+-2%	1236	a a 🖬 🖬 🛓 🔿	F 💷 🖨 R 🖻	1 2	?					
DHFL	EQ N	167	201.25	201.40	100	201.25	2.13					
DISHTV	EQ N	3429	89.60	89.70	2047	89.70	1.01 +					_
ENERGYDEV	BL O		0.00	0.00		0.00 ?	0.00					
EXIDEIND	EQ N	4175	144.35	144.40	25	144.35	0.76 +					
FOURTHDIM	SM N	4000	69.50	73.50	4000	70.00	1.68 ·					
INFIBEAM	EQ N	54	497.20	497.25	308	497.20	0.68 +					
HITECH	SM N	3000	79.00	83.95	3000	80.00	2.37 ·					
HITECH	SM N	3000	79.00	83.95	3000	• 00.08	2.37 •					
INDIGO	EQ N	22	1008.45	1009.10	57	1008.45	0.69 +					
ADANIENT	EQ N	2083	346.60	346.30	785 6343	345.80	0.05					
ULISTINAL	EQ N	50	885.55	895 70	131	885.50	1 39 4					
LAI PATHI AB	FON	27	972.50	973.90	45	972.50	0.75 +					
HCG	EQ N	44	189.40	189.70	50	189.40	1.04 -					
WEALTH	SM N	3000	49.00	52.50	3000	52.30 +	0.00					
HECPROJECT	SM N	1200	95.05	103.00	1200	99.25	0.00					
OPAL	SM N		0.00	98.00	2000	86.00 ·	0.00					
NH	EQ N	33	302.00	302.40	50	302.00 ·	0.63 +					
NILKAMAL	EQ N	31	1282.20	1282.50	31	1282.50 +	2.62 +					
NTPC	EQ N	1396	138.55	138.65	63	138.55	3.55					
OPAL	SM N	0	0.00	98.00	2000	85.00 ·	0.00					
PEC	EQ N	110	173.80	173.95	1051	173.85	183.					
HINDUNILVH	EQ N	523	8/8.45	878.50	27	878.45	0.72					
DUICKNEAL	EQ N	2002	259.10	259.35	490	259.10	2.20					
SBIN	EQ N	5130 6130	198.40	198.50	1913	198.40	0.87					
SHK	EQ N	6	237.10	237.50	44	237.50 +	2.14					
SUZLON	EQ N	373897	14.65	14.70	968175	14.65	1.01					
TALWALKARS	EQ N	31	215.50	215.65	12	215.50	0.06 -					
OPAL	SM N		0.00	38.00	2000	86.00	0.00					*
24		S E	luy	ATA		10		0.00	0.00		0	
								550.00				
			25									
			30			ATA						
	Total B		90					Tot	al Sell :	50		
14:07:28 M/C	:1 The BUY IN Auc	No. 7574 for YESBAN	K EQ has been initia	ated.								
14:07:30 M/C	:1 The BUY IN Auc	No. 7575 for ZEEL EQ	has been initiated.	-								

Change screen

Figure 2.8: Auction Inquiry window in NEAT CM

Security/Portfolio List

This is a facility for the user for setting up the securities in the market watch screen. This screen also has a new facility of allowing the user to setup his own portfolio. Figure 3.9 shows screenshot of security descriptor window in NEAT CM.

- (i) Security List: The user can select securities based on Symbol, Series, Instrument Type and Market Type. A blank/partial search for Symbol and Series is also possible. The Symbol, Series, Market Type and Security Name are displayed based on the selection criteria. The user can also print the selected securities.
- (ii) Portfolio List: Once the security is selected, the same can be used for setting up a portfolio. The user can give a name to the list so selected. The existing portfolio can be modified and/or removed. The user can also set-up a particular portfolio in market watch. Portfolio created can be used for basket order entry also. Order files can be generated based on the portfolio created using basket trading option.



Figure 2.9: Security/Portfolio List window in NEAT CM

Multiple Index Broadcast and Graph

This screen displays information of NSE indices namely Nifty 50, Nifty50 PR 1x Inverse, Nifty100 Liquid 15, Nifty Services Sector, Nifty Midcap 50, Nifty Dividend Opportunities 50, Nifty Free Float Smallcap 100, Nifty PSE, Nifty MNC, Nifty Infrastructure, Nifty FMCG, Nifty Energy, Nifty Bank, Nifty 100, Nifty50 TR 1x Inverse, Nifty 11-15 yr G-Sec Index, Nifty 200, India VIX, Nifty 15 yr and above G-Sec Index, Nifty Auto, Nifty Media, Nifty Quality 30, Nifty PSU Bank, Nifty Metal, Nifty 500, Nifty IT, Nifty Commodities, Nifty CPSE, Nifty Financial Services, Nifty Pharma, Nifty Midcap Liquid 15, Nifty Free Float Midcap 100, Nifty50 PR 2x Leverage, Nifty Next 50, Nifty India Consumption, Nifty Growth Sectors 15, Nifty 4-8 yr G-Sec Index, Nifty 10 yr Benchmark G-Sec (Clean Price) Index, Nifty Composite G-Sec Index, Nifty50 TR 2x Leverage, Nifty 50 Value 20, Nifty Realty, Nifty 8-13 yr G-Sec Index, Nifty 10 yr Benchmark G-Sec (Clean Price) Index, Nifty Composite G-Sec Index, Nifty 50 TR 2x Leverage, Nifty50 Dividend Points and Nifty Private Bank. The indices are labeled vertically and the information is displayed against each index horizontally. The data displayed for each index is as follows:

- (a) Current Index
- (b) High Index
- (c) Low Index
- (d) Open Index
- (e) Close Index

- (f) % change in Current Index (w.r.t. previous close index)
- (g) 52 week High
- (h) 52 week low
- (i) Up Moves
- (j) Down Moves
- (k) Market Capitalisation (in Rs. Lakh)

Index Graph displays all the indices on a real time basis to the market.

Figure 2.10 shows screenshot of multiple index broadcast window in NEAT CM.

🛄 NEAT	0.7											
											Nifty 50	7902.10 (-9.95)
19 99 11 6	- 4 4 A	+-=====	0205	56 📙 😁 🛓		1	2 ?					
ACC	EQ N	1	4 1417.25	1417.45	5	1417.45		1.10				^
CROMPGREAV	EQN	401 311	2 57.95	58.00	6531	57.60		3.25				
SBIN	EQ N	8	9 195.25	195.35	1505	195.35		0.51 +				
		Multiple Index Broad	lcast / Graph					? ,	×			
		Data Graph										
		1										
			Curren	t High	Low Ope	en Close	%	52week				
		Niffer Ed	Index	Index	Index Ind	ex Index	Change	High				
		Nifty 500	6630.	15 6644.05	6610.05 6621	85 6634.30	-0.18	7283.75				
		Nifty MID100 Fre	ee 13245.	95 13278.65 60 1861 80	13209.10 13230	.40 13246.50 55 1854 55	0.00	14237.60				
		Nifty Commoditie	2545.	75 2552.80	2535.15 2542	.45 2543.85	0_07	2723.10 *				
			•					•				
					_							
				Prin	t Sav	e						
						OK	Cancel	Apply				
11:05:39 M/C:1	Latest Annou	incements and on the E	Extranet Server									
11:05:39 M/C :1	(/intdbut1/mn	t/appin/list/common/Co	rporateAnnouncement	8).								

Figure 2.10: Multiple Index Broadcast window in NEAT CM

Online Backup

On Line Backup is a facility that the user can invoke to take a backup of all order and trade related information for the user. The information available is for the current day only.

On the selection screen the user can select the various fields on which the output will be filtered. The fields that can be filtered are CLI, Market Type, Book Type, Symbol, Series, Instrument Type, Date, Time, Order Indicator, Trade Indicator, Buy/Sell Indicator, Order Numbers and Trade Numbers.

The user is provided the option to copy the files to any drive of the computer or on a floppy diskette. This utility generates two ASCII files namely Order.txt and Trade.txt. The user can specify any filename for Orders and Trades. This utility will help the user to generate the

Contract Notes. The user is requested to take backup first on the C:\ drive and subsequently copy to A:\ drive to avoid overloading PC capacity and abnormal log-off.

Basket Trading

The purpose of basket trading is to provide NEAT users with a facility to create offline order entry file for a selected portfolio. On inputting the value, the orders are created for the selected portfolio of securities according to the ratios of their market capitalisations. An icon has been provided in the Toolbar which can be selected by the mouse to invoke the functionality.

In the basket trading functionality, the user first selects a portfolio from combo box. The portfolio in the combo box is user defined portfolios (which can be created or edited from the Security List screen which is an existing functionality). All users defined Portfolios are automatically loaded in to the combo box. The User then allocates an amount to the portfolio by mentioning the amount in the 'Amount' edit box. The amount entered is in lakh and must be less than or equal to Rs. 3000 lakh. If the amount entered is not sufficient to buy/sell a complete basket, a message "Insufficient amount for creating the basket" is displayed. Then, the User mentions whether he wants to buy or sell the Portfolio by selecting a choice from BUY/SELL combo box. The User has to mention the name of offline order file which would be generated. The Output Offline order file is always generated in the Basket directory of the current selected login drive. If a file with the given name already exists then it asks for overwriting the old file. A Reverse File with the same name is also generated in 'R_Basket' directory of the current login drive. The Reverse File contains reverse order (if user has selected buy then it contains sell orders and vice-versa). The user can mention order's duration (IOC or day) by selecting from a check box. The User can also specify PRO/CLI orders by selecting from the combo box. In case of CLI orders it is compulsory to mention the account number in the edit box. The participant name can be mentioned. If mentioned it is verified whether it is a valid participant or not.

The amount mentioned in the 'Amount Edit' Box is divided among the securities of the portfolio, depending on their current market capitalisation, and the amount allocated per security is used to calculate the number of shares to be bought / sold for that security which is reflected in the offline order file. The number of shares is rounded off to the nearest integer. If the basket contains any security whose regular lot is not one, then the file will need to be corrected by the user to accommodate shares in tradable lots. If the portfolio contains a security which is suspended/not eligible in the chosen market then an error message is displayed on the screen.

All the orders generated through the offline order file are priced at the available market price. Quantity of shares of a particular security in portfolio is calculated as under

72
Number of Shares of a security in portfolio = <u>Amount * Issued Capital for the security</u> <u>Current Portfolio Capitalisation</u>

where

Current Portfolio = Summation [Last Traded Price (Previous close if not traded) * Number of Issued shares]

In case at the time of generating the basket if any of the constituents are not traded, the weightage of the security in the basket is determined using the previous close price. This price may become irrelevant if there has been a corporate action in the security for the day and the same has not yet been traded before generation of the file. Similarly, basket facility will not be available for a new listed security till the time it is traded. Figure 2.11 shows screenshot of basket trading window in NEAT CM.

Three portfolio names viz "NIFTY 50", "Nifty JUNIOR" & "Nifty 100" are provided in Security / Portfolio List to generate offline order entry file using basket trading facility. In this case the file will be generated based on free float market capitalization for the user defined securities under these names.

Quantity of shares of a particular security in portfolio is calculated as under: Number of

Shares of a portfolio = <u>Amount * Issued Capital for the security in</u> Current Port folio Capitalisation where		
Current Portfolio Capitalisation = Summation [Last Traded Price (Previous close if not traded) * Number of Issued shares]*	Free flo	at factor
ACC EO M		
11 05:39 M/C :1 Latest Announcements and on the Extranet Server 11 05:39 M/C :1 (indibut/imm/appin/but/common/CorporateAnnouncementa).		×

Figure 2.11: Basket Trading screen window in NEAT CM

Buy Back Trades

As per SEBI Notification, dated November 14, 1998, buyback of securities is permitted in the secondary market. This is termed as 'Buy-Back from the Open Market'. In the open market, buyback of shares is permitted through Stock Exchanges having electronic trading facility and such buyback orders are required to be identified upfront in the electronic trading screen as buyback orders.

The purpose of Buy Back Trade functionality is to give information to the market about the buy back trades executed from the start of the buy back period till current trading date in the securities whose buyback period is currently on. It provides information about Symbol, Series, Day's high price, Day's Low Price, Day's Weighted Average Price, Day's Volume, Total Volume, Highest/Lowest/Weighted Average Prices till previous day, Buy Back Start & End date.

The Buyback Trade functionality provides users with the information about the buyback trades going in various securities. The front screen shows Symbol, Series, Low price (Today), High price (Today), Weightage, Average price, Volume (Today) and Previous day Volume.

The user after selecting a particular row from the buyback list box can view further information viz. Symbol, Series, Start date, End date, Total Traded Qty (Till date), Previous High price, Previous Low price and Wt avg. Price till date of buyback scheme. The Buyback broadcast updates the information.

Supplementary Functions

This section discusses certain supplementary functions of NEAT such as Branch Order Value Limit, Most Active Securities, Colour Selection, Report Selection, Net Position and Print System Message.

The supplementary menu list box has the following options:

- (i) Report Selection
- (ii) Full Message Display
- (iii) Colour Selection
- (iv) Print System Message ON/OFF
- (v) Print Order/Trade Confirmation Slips On/Off
- (vi) Ticker Selection
- (vii) Market Movement
- (viii) Most Active Securities
- (ix) Reprint Order/Trade Confirmation Slip
- (x) Branch Order Value Limit
- (xi) Net Position and Net Position backup
- (xii) Online Backup
- (xiii) One line/Tabular Slips

- (xiv) User Order Value Limit Setup
- (xv) Offline Order Entry
- (xvi) Order Limits
- (xvii) Market Price protection functionality
- (xviii) Order Attributes Selection
- (xix) Client Master Maintenance
- (xx) Index Trading
- (xxi) Reverse Basket on Trading Quantity
- (xxii) Display CM Ticker
- (xxiii) Display FO Ticker
- (xxiv) Trade Confirmation Bell
- (xxv) Multiple Trade Cancellation
- (xxvi) Debarred Client Maintenance
- (xxvii) Reset User ID
- (xxviii) Offline File Conversion
- (xxix) Print Bhavcopy On/Off
- (xxx) Reset Password
- (xxxi) About
- (i) Report Selection: Report selection window allows the user (corporate manager and branch manager) to specify the number of copies to be printed for each report. The user can update the number of copies for a report. The Report Selection screen allows the user (Corporate manager and Branch Manager only) to specify the number of copies to be printed for each report. All the reports are generated at the end of day. Once the reports are printed, the Report Selection screen shows the date and the time the reports were printed. The user can request for reprinting any of the reports. The reports that are available to the trading member are Market Statistics and Market Indices.
 - (a) Market Statistics: The purpose of this report is to show the market statistics of that trading day. This report gives details related to all the securities traded on that day for all markets.
 - (b) Market Indices: A separate Market Indices Report is also disseminated to members which contains details regarding the Open, High, Low, Close, Previous Close and % change over the Previous Close of NIFTY 50, NIFTY Defty, NIFTY Junior, NIFTY 500, NIFTY 100, NIFTY Midcap NIFTY IT, Bank Nifty, Nifty Midcap 50, NIFTY Realty, NIFTY Infra, NIFTY Energy, NIFTY FMCG, NIFTY MNC, NIFTY Pharma, NIFTY PSE, NIFTY PSU Bank and NIFTY Service
- (ii) Full Message Display: This option enables the display of all the system messages right from the start of the Opening Phase. It is also possible to filter the messages depending

on the message code, symbol, series, PRO/CLI, Client, date and time. The system messages can be printed, if needed.

Message area contains user ID for order and trade confirmation\modification\ cancellation and rejection. The trade confirmation\modification\cancellation messages displayed in the message area will contain the corresponding remarks entered during the order entry.

The user can filter, print and save messages. In the message filtering screen the message code by default shows ALL. The user has the option to select the desired message code on which the messages can be filtered. The messages can also be filtered on Symbol, Series, Trading member Code, PRO/CLI/ ALL, Client A/C Number, Date and Time fields.

In case the user desires to filter messages for trading member's own order/trade related messages, 'PRO' has to be specified with the trading member code defaulting in the 'Client Account' field. In case the user desires to filter messages for a particular client, 'CLI' has to be specified with the client account code in the 'Client Account' field. In case the user desires to view all messages, 'ALL' has to be specified and the 'Client Account' field should be blank. The message filter displays 'ALL' by default when the user invokes the full message display screen.

Message area will contain the machine number along with the message specifying from which machine the message have been generated. An extra filter code has been provided in the message area to filter messages on the machine number parameter. The messages are filtered as per the selection criteria. The message codes on which the selection can be made are:

Message Code Description of Messages Selected

- ALL All messages
- AUC Auction order/trade messages
- AUI Auction initiation messages
- LIS All listing related messages
- MAR Margin Violation messages
- ORD Order Related messages
- OTH Miscellaneous
- SPD Security Suspension/De-suspension
- SYS System Messages
- TRD Trades

The full message display and filtered messages can be printed by invoking the print command by ensuring that the printer is online. The user can save messages by invoking the Save option on the Full Message Display screen and by specifying the directory and file name in the pop up box. Here an option is available to the user to both specify the directory and file name to save messages, or to choose the default directory i.e. nsecm\user directory. This file can be viewed in MS-DOS editor.

- (iii) Colour Selection: The user can customise the colours for various inquiry and other trader workstation screens as per choice. The background and the foreground colours can be selected by invoking the Colour Selection option. The following is displayed on the colour selection list box:
 - (a) List of Screens: Lists all the screens in NEAT system. The user has the option of changing both the foreground and the background colours of any screen.
 - (b) Display Window: Displays the screen with the changed colours. To change the colour of a particular screen, the user has to position the highlight bar on the desired screen and select any one of the sixteen colour buttons. The change in the colour can be seen in the Display window. The user can reset the colour to default setting by selecting the Default option. It is to be noted that the user cannot select the same colour for foreground of an inquiry screen.
- (iv) Print System Messages On/Off: The 'Print System Messages ON/OFF' enables/ disables printing of the system messages as and when they appear in the messages window. By default the option is set to `OFF'. The user can change the On/Off position by pressing the space bar. The current mode (On/Off) is displayed for this option on the Supplementary Menu screen itself.
- (v) Print Order/Trade Confirmation Slips On/Off: The 'Print Order/Trade Confirmation ON/ OFF' enables/disables printing of the order/trade slips. By default the option is set to `OFF'. The user can change the On/Off position by pressing the space bar. The current mode (On/Off) is displayed for this option on the Supplementary Menu screen itself. Pre open Identifier 'P' is displayed for Pre open records.
- (vi) Ticker Selection: The ticker selection screen allows the user to set up the securities that should appear in the user's ticker window. All the securities available in the system for a particular market are displayed. If a security is deleted from the system, it is also removed from the ticker selection display. The selection of securities can be done for each market separately. The user can select one or all security type for display.
- (vii) Market Movement: The purpose of the 'Market Movement' screen is to provide information to the User regarding the movement of a security for the current day. This

inquiry gives the snap shot for a particular security for a time interval as parameterised by the exchange.

- (viii) Most Active Securities: This screen displays the details of the most active securities based on the total traded value during the day. The number 'N' is parameterised by the Exchange. The information provided on this screen is not dynamically updated. The user, however, can get the latest information by refreshing the screen.
- (ix) Reprint Order/Trade Confirmation Slips: Although the order and trade slips for 'confirmation', 'modification', 'rejection' and 'cancellation' slips can be printed as and when a particular operation is performed. The user, however, can reprint these slips later during the trading day by using this option.

The user can select the order or trade and the type of slips i.e. confirmation, modification, cancellation or rejection. There is facility to select one or more operations for printing the slips.

For example one can select 'confirmation' as well as 'modification' at a time. After the user specifies the type of slip to be printed, the start and end order/trade numbers are automatically filled. The user has to specify the range of order or trade numbers by appropriately selecting the start and the end order/trade numbers. Initially, the options have such values that all the order related slips can be printed. The start and the end order numbers contain order numbers that was entered by the user on the current day. On selecting Print option all the selected order/trade slips are printed and on selecting the Cancel option, no slips are printed.

(x) Branch Order Value Limit Setup: The purpose of this screen is to enable corporate manager to setup a limit on order entry for each branch under the trading member firm. This option in supplementary menu is available to the user only if the user is a corporate manager. On selection, the Branch Order Value Limit Setup screen appears. To view the limit for a particular branch, the user has to select the Branch ID and the details for the branch i.e. branch name, the limit set and the used up value are displayed. The values for the branch order limit are displayed in Rs. lakhs.

To change the limit for a branch, the user has to select the 'Limited' option and enter the new limit in the 'New Limit Value'. The new limits are then updated by the system.

The user can also print the details of a branch by selecting the Print option. Viewing and modification is possible during market hours.

A corporate manager can set the branch order value limit for any/all branches either before or during trading hours. Also, the corporate manager can view the set limit and the used limit any time during the trading day. Whenever the corporate manager modifies the branch order limit of any of his branches, the branch manager receives a message to that effect at his trader workstation. (xi) Net Position and Net position Backup: The user can interactively view his net position across securities. The Net Position screen displays Symbol, Series, Buy Value (in lacs), Buy Qty, Buy Average Price, Sell Average Price, Sell Qty, Sell Value (in lacs), Net Qty and Net Value (in lacs).

It also displays the Grand Total of Buy Value (in lacs), Buy Qty, Sell Qty, Sell Value (in lacs), Net Value (in lacs) and Net Value Mark to Market (in lacs). Net position screen displays the Net Mark to market value scrip wise as well as total net mark to market value.

The user has the option for selecting market type as Normal/Odd Lot/All. The user can also select Client Type as CLI/PRO/All. The user is provided with an option to select the client code from the drop down menu to view the net position of specific client. The user can refresh the screen to update the Net Position and can also print the details of the Net Position screen at any point of time. Net position backup is available from the Net position screen. The User can select the fields as Symbol, Series, PRO/CLI and CLI A/c Number on which the output would be filtered.

By default the output file is generated and stored as 'Netpos.txt'. The user can overwrite and specify any other file name also. The user has the option of generating the output file in any directory he wants to or on a pen drive.

🗒 NEAT			
		Nity 50	7822.55 (-68.20)
₽ ₩₩%	(())) +-Ex U2PE ©-III =================================		
ACC BANKINDIA	EQTN 90 1431.35 1 431.75 1 1431.75 1 1.21 - EQTN 7671 84.40 84.50 275 84.50 0.51		·
CROMPGREAV SBIN	EQIN 6592 60.50 60.60 8012 60.60 1.22 - EQIN 777 178.50 1 778.55 2477 178.55 0 994		
	TODAYS NET POSITION		
	Symbol Buy Buy Sell Sell Sell Net Net Value Mark Total Cost		
	and Value Qty. Avg. Avg. Value Qty. Value to market (in Lacs) Series (in Lacs) Price (in Lacs) (in Lacs) (in Lacs)		
	Buy Value Buy Qty. Sell Qty. Sell Value Net Value Met Value mark Total Cost (In Lacs) (In Lacs) (In Lacs) to market[In Lacs) (In Lacs)		
	GRAND TOTALS		
	© 10/0 SOMADE OFF		
	CIDAY		
	Select ALL Clear ALL		
	Market Type Client Type Client A/C		
	This functionality is not available for inquiny user		
	THE THE THE TENS IN THE THE TENS IN THE TENS		-
A K	emount-user Suria-Foun passward snan expire on 23 MAY 2016 Idly change it to avoid any login issue on 23 MAY 2016		

SQUARE OFF:

This special functionality has been added for the user to Square of his position. This can be done by clicking the new option Square Off provided in the screen. The user first needs to select one or more records from the list box. To select all the records, Select All button is provided. To clear all the selected records, Clear All button is provided.

When user clicks on Square off, an offline file will be generated containing counter orders which will square off the position of that particular user. The offline file generated will be stored in the drive from where the exe is re-inflated. The name of the offline file generated will be SqrOffPosition.txt".

The position can be squared off only for Normal Market. If the ODDLOT market is selected, the Square Off button will get disabled.

If ALL is selected from the Market type drop down list, then the positions will be squared off for open position of NORMAL Market only.

If the user selects PRO or CLI from the Client Type drop down box, then the position would be squared off only for those corresponding Open positions.

In case of CLI if user selects a particular Account Number, then the position would be squared off only for those corresponding Open positions only.

The user is given an option to generate either DAY/IOC (IOC is defaulted) order while generating the offline file.

(xii) Online Backup: On Line Backup is a facility which the User can invoke to take a backup of all order and trade related information for the User. The information available is for the current day only. Figure 2.12 shows screenshot of online backup window in NEAT CM.



8:39:55	T I	NORY ON	ILY -	1950	INQUIRY					
	_					200			S&P CNX Nity	4872.80 (+76.65)
1.12			ON-LINI	BACKUP		SEU	EUN 250 @ _NT	ULU CHAMBLIER	1 EU N 100 @ 51	25 CROMPGREAV
	User ID	19500	Branch ID :	Client A/C No. :		RØ	12?			
IP491	Market	Tune :	All Markets 💌	Book Type :	All 1					^
IP491				_						
IP491	Symbol	RELIANC	E Series: EQ	Instr. Type :	Al	<u> </u>				
IP491		Start Date :	09 NOV 2009	End Date :	09 NOV 2009					
IP493			001107 2000	End Pare .	001107 2000	U U				
IP493		Start Time :	09:00	End Time :	13:39	Ő				
IP493						0				
IP493	Orde	er 🔽	Buy 🗌 Sell 🕅	Trade	Boy 📃 Sell.					
IP493		All Buy	· []	All Sell	E	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i				
IP493						- i i				
IP493	Ord	ler Start No. :		Order End No. :	I	ŏ				
LCCI	Ten	da Ciad Na		Trada End No. 1	-	-				
BIRU	118	ue statt nu.		Haue Enu No		0				
ADAN	Format	ASCIL	Copy to Drive : C	Directory :		- 0				
ADAN						0				
	Order F	ile Name :	ORDER.TXT	Trade File Name :	TRADE.TXT	- 0				
ADAN						ů l				
ADAN			OK.	Can	cel	0				
ADAN						0				
ADAN						0				
ADANIPO					92.50	1401				
ADANIPO	WER									
ADANIPU	WER									
ADANIPO										
ONWARD										
RCOM			14	173.55	173.60	869	173.60			
MPSLTD										
ONWARD										
EKC			19		141.95	331	141.75 +			
RELMEDI				279.55	279.75	600	279.55			
GMRINDS MADHHO				129.35	120.50		120.25			
WWI				7.40						
CONCOR										
NHPC			20314		32.85	56311	32.85			~
13.30:01	MAC :1	The Auction	market has closed.							
13:39:14	4 M/C:3		MACHINE 3 SIGNED ON.							

Figure 2.12 Online Backup window in NEAT CM

- (xiii) One line/Tabular Slips: The 'One Line or Tabular slips' is used to select the format for printing confirmation slips. By default the option is set to 'One Line'. The user can change the format to 'Tabular slip' by pressing the spacebar. The current mode is displayed on the Supplementary Menu screen.
- (xiv) User Order Value Limit Setup: User order value limit is the cumulative value of orders placed by the user during the day across all securities. This enables the corporate manager to set up different limits among the users depending upon the permitted user activity in single/multiple scrips. For a new user, the user order value limit is set as zero by default.

Every order entry will be checked for user order value limit. A user is restricted to enter orders greater than the order value limit specified by his corporate manager. In case the user order value limit is exhausted a message "Order number request rejected. Used limit cannot exceed the user order value limit." is displayed on the message window screen.

Following are the main features of user order value limit functionality:

(a) A corporate manager can set up branch order value limit and user order value limit for all users. A branch manager can also set up the user order value limit for the users under his branch. The corporate manager can also query for order limits of any user under the trading member firm. While the branch manager can view the user order limits of the users under his branch only.

- (b) User order value limits are dependent on branch order value limit. It is not possible for a corporate manager to set only branch order value limit and not assign any user order value limit. It is mandatory for the corporate manager to configure user order value limit. The branch manager may also set up the user order value limit for users under his branch.
- (c) The cumulative value of user order value limit should not exceed the corresponding branch order value limit. Also, user order value limit cannot be set as unlimited if branch order value limit is set as specific value. In case the corporate manager tries to revise the branch order value limit to a value less than the user order value limit a message "Cumulative user limit exceeded the branch limit" is displayed on the branch order value limit screen.
- (d) When the corporate manager sets up the user order value limit as specified, a message "User order value limit for user number has been set to Rs. lakh" is displayed on the message window screen of the corporate manager, respective Branch Manager and the concerned user.
- (e) The user order value limit can be revised during trading hours.
- (f) The corporate manager/branch manager can also print the user order value limit details.

Example: M/s. Agre Financial Services, a trading member on the NSE, has a branch order value of Rs. 700 lakh for his Chennai branch and Rs. 650 lakh for Kolkata branch. Chennai branch has two users 'X' and 'Y' with user order value limits of Rs. 250 lakh and Rs. 300 lakh respectively. Kolkata branch has one user 'Z' with user order value limit of Rs. 350 lakh. The member applies for a new user at Chennai. What is the maximum user order value that can be set for the new user?

The maximum User Order Value limit for Chennai is

= Rs. 700 - (Rs. 250 + Rs. 300) = Rs.150 lakh

(xv) Offline Order Entry: A facility 'Offline Order Entry' has been incorporated in the trading software where the user can generate order file in a specific format outside the trading system and upload the file in the system by invoking this facility. The user has to specify the exact file location that can be a hard disk drive or a pen drive. The status of the orders so uploaded is recorded in last two fields of the same file. Once the order processing is complete, the user can open the same file in MS-DOS editor. If the system assigns an order number, the same is written against the record. In case of any error(s), the corresponding error code is written against the record. Users can place bulk orders in pre-open with book type as 'PO'

The user has to specify the relevant order file name in the Offline Order Entry pop-up box and then initiate the upload process. The user can also interrupt the injection of the orders. It should be noted that the file has to be in the format as specified by the Exchange. The offline order entry facility accepts comma separated file structure (file saved as *.csv where * is the file name).

Advanced Offline Order Entry

A special feature 'Advanced Offline Order Entry' has been incorporated in the trader workstation for all types of users ('Corporate Manager', 'Branch Manager' and 'Dealer') except 'Inquiry users'. The user can create an offline order file using this feature. This file can be used to place orders in bulk. The user has the option of adding, modifying or deleting a record in the created file. The user can also create the file in a specific format (as mentioned below) outside the trading system and upload the file in the system by invoking this facility.

(xvi) Order Limits: An Order limit is a facility to enable the user to specify maximum value per order and maximum quantity per order that can be entered from the trader workstation. At the time of order entry and order modification this limit is checked by the system. Order limits are set by individual users and are provided as safety measure against any inadvertent error during data entry while entering orders.

In case specific value/quantity is to be specified, data has to be entered in the respective input fields namely 'Order Value (in lakh)' & 'Order Quantity'. The order limits can be modified during market hours. When the user modifies these limits, a message 'Max. Value/Qty for one order has been set to Rs Lakh/ ... ' is displayed on the message window screen. While modifying the values if either of the input fields is left blank, the dealer gets an error message, either 'Quantity Limit not Entered' or 'Value Limit not Entered' respectively. In case the user tries to modify without entering any new values, amessage 'Values not changed' is displayed. Whenever the user places an order, the order values are validated against these values to confine the checking to the trader workstation. In case the user enters an order that exceeds the specified quantity limit, a message 'Order quantity entered exceeds the order limit quantity' is displayed. In case the user enters an order which exceeds specified order value (order price x order quantity) a message 'Order value exceeds order value limit' is displayed. The quantity check is always done prior to order value check. Only if both values are not exceeded, the order is sent to the system for further processing. In case of a market order if the order quantity exceeds the order quantity limit, the checking is done at the trader

workstation itself as in the case of priced orders. For order value check, however, the check is performed by the Host.

(xvii) Market Price protection functionality: This functionality gives an option to a trader to limit the risk of a market order, within a pre-set percentage of the Last Trade Price (LTP). The pre-set Market price protection percentage is by default set to 5% of the LTP. The users can change the pre-set Market price protection percentage from the Order Limit Screen which can be invoked from the Supplementary Menu. The set percentage will be applicable till the Ntreltdr EXE is re-inflated.

At the time of order entry, the user can check the cursor is in the price field. In case of a buy order, the price value shown is taken as the default price, which is greater than LTP by a pre-set percentage. In case of a sell order, the default value will be lesser than the LTP by a pre set percentage. The time condition in both cases will automatically change to IOC. The user has the option to change any of the fields. Since the calculations are based on LTP if broadcast for the security is not received, the default value will be `MARKET'.

Order Attribute Selection: The order attribute selection enables user to set default parameters for two fields – PRO/CLI and Custodial Participant id fields in the order entry screens. The selection screen provides a facility whereby users can select or deselect required options. The PRO/CLI and custodial participant ID options as selected by the user is available in the order entry screen. In case the user deselects all options for PRO/CLI the following error message is displayed "Either PRO or CLI must be selected". If a member sets the default option in the PRO/CLI field as 'PRO', then each time the order entry screen is invoked, 'PRO' will be displayed and 'CLI' will not be available to the user for order entry. If a member selects 'PRO' and 'CLI', then each time the order entry screen is invoked, 'PRO' and 'CLI' will be available to the user for order entry. Similarly, if a member selects 'NCIT' in the custodial participant field, only 'NCIT' will be displayed on invoking the order entry screen. If a member selects broker id as default option in the custodial participant field, then only the broker id will be displayed in the order entry screen.

In addition to this, in order to prevent Self Trades an option of "Cancel Passive Order" and "Cancel Active orders" is provided. If an active order is likely to match with a passive order belonging to the same member-client or same member-proprietary combination in the same order book, then active or passive order (full or partial as the case may be) as per the option set in order entry shall be cancelled by the exchange with rejection message "Order cancelled by the System – The order could have resulted in Self-trade". By default this screen has all the options marked for display in the order entry screen. Options can be changed during trading hours. However, if a user exits the NEAT application and logs in again, the required parameters will have to be selected again for order entry.

The order entry screen is defaulted at "Book Type" field. The member is provided with the facility where he can choose the order entry screen default to be "Book Type" or "Quantity".

By default this screen has "Book Type" option marked. Options can be changed during trading hours.

If the member selects 'Book Type' in Book/Quantity field, the default cursor will be placed at "Book Type" in order entry screen/order modification screen.

If the member selects 'Quantity' in Book/Quantity field, the default cursor will be placed at "Quantity" in the order entry screen, except if the market watch is blank, in this case the default cursor will be placed at "Book Type" while in the order modification screen the default cursor will be placed at "Quantity".

This parameter selected by member will remain even if the member exits the NEAT application and until the member reinflates the NEAT exe.

The users have been provided with a facility to set up the last entered Client account number, Participant & remarks fields in the order entry screens as the default values. These values will be taken as default till the time the fields in the order entry screens are not altered or the NEAT front end is not closed. On setting the checkboxes, the values entered in the previous order will be taken as default in the relevant fields. These fields will continue to have the default values till any one of the fields is toggled, or a different order is placed. Each of these three fields can be taken as default individually or in any desired combination.

An option has also been provided to warn the user if the account number being entered for the client is not present in the client master file. A checkbox has been provided in the Order Attribute Selection screen to enable or disable this facility. Once the user receives a warning, he has the option of entering the client account number and details in the client master and resumes order entry or skip this. In case of offline order entry, the warning is for each order in the input file. The user has the option of stopping the offline file by clicking on the Offline order entry screen and clicking on the Stop button.

INEAT						
					Nilly 50	7862.75 (-36.55)
I II WELLS A	+-키기 비가이라 다		12	?		
ACC EQ N	SUPPLEMENTARY ME	ENU T	Order Attribute Selection			<u>^</u>
CROMPGREAV EQ N	Most Active Securities Index Inquiry (ALT + F3)	· ·	- Pro/Cli	- Broker ID/NCIT/INST:		
SBIN EQ.N.	Off Line Order Entry Order Limits		Pro Pro	Eroker ID		
	Order Attribute Selection		Client			
		li li		ie inst		
	Enter	Exit	- Set Previous Order E	ntry Default for		
		I	□ <u>A</u> ccount □ Par	tjoipant 🥅 <u>B</u> emarks		
			Book/Quantity			
			Book Type	C Quantity		
			I Ulient A/C check €	waming required.		
			Modify	Egit		
10:21:31 M/C :1 ANJALI KUNDE	SIGNED OFF					*
10:21:50 M/C :1 ANJALI KUNDE	SIGNED ON.					

Figure 2.13 shows screenshot of order attribute window.



Figure 2.13: Order Attribute window in NEAT CM Change screen

(xviii) Client Master Maintenance: This facility allows the user to maintain list of client in trader workstation. Along with client code other information like Client Name, PAN No., Participant Code can be maintain in client master. The user can add, modify, upload or delete clients. During order entry when the user selects the cli option and press the down arrow key in the account field, a drop down list of clients will be enabled. The user can select a particular record, by typing the first character of account number. On pressing Enter key, the account number of that record will be defaulted in the Account No. field. Also if participant exists for the selected account number, the Participant ID gets populated in the participant field of the order entry screen.

(xix) Reverse Basket on Traded Quantity: The purpose of Reverse Basket Trading is to provide the users with an offline file for reversing the trades that have taken place for a basket order. This file will contain orders for different securities of the selected basket file. The Orders will be created according to the volume of trade that has taken place for that basket. This feature can also be used to monitor the current status of the basket file as the latest status of the orders are displayed in the list box. The functionality of creating reverse basket offline order file based on orders at the time of creating the basket will continue to be available. The new functionality is another alternative to create the reverse file based on the trades executed till the point of time.

User can invoke the functionality by selecting it from the supplementary menu. On selecting the relevant basket file the details of that file are loaded in the list box. The basket file names in the combo box are user defined file names (which can be created or edited from Basket Trading Screen which is an existing functionality). All User defined basket file names are automatically loaded in to the Combo box. The User can select the basket of his choice. It is advisable to create each basket with a different name and clean up the directories regularly and not tamper with the original basket file once it has been loaded as it may give erroneous results.

On pressing the Reverse button the reverse basket file would be generated in the RTRDBASKET folder in the login drive. The file would have the same name as the basket file prefixed with a REV_. If a file with the given name already exists then it asks for overwriting the old file. The User can mention Order's duration (IOC or day) by selecting from a check box.

- (xx) Display CM Ticker: The 'Display CM Ticker ' is used to enable or disable CM ticker.
- (xxi) Display FO Ticker: The 'Display F&O Ticker ' is used to enable or disable F&O ticker.
- (xxii) Trade Confirmation Bell: The 'Trade confirmation Bell ' is used to enable or disable the bell sound at trade confirmation.
- (xxiii) Multiple Trade Cancellation: An additional facility 'Multiple Trade Cancellation' is provided to the user to cancel all the trades done by him, based on an order number.
- (xxiv) Debarred Client Maintenance: This facility allows to maintain a list of Debarred Clients. The user is provided option to add, modify, save, upload or delete debarred clients. During order entry, if a user tries to place an order for any debarred client added in the Debarred Client Master, then an error message "The account is debarred from trading" will be displayed on the order entry screen.
- (xxv) Reset User ID: This will facilitate the members to terminate the active session for users under the trading member. The facility has been provided to all corporate managers and branch managers. A branch manager can terminate the active session for all the

users of that branch except for self. Active session of the branch manager can be terminated by the corporate manager. The session of the corporate manager can be terminated only by the Exchange.

(xxvi) Offline File Conversion: The feature Offline File Conversion has been incorporated in the trading software. The user can use this functionality to convert a file with a predefined format into an output file of Offline file format. The user can upload this converted file using Offline Order Entry functionality or Advance Offline Order Entry functionality.

While using the Offline File Conversion Functionality, User has to give the complete input file name (e.g. C:\Example.txt); the output file will be generated at the same location as of input file with the name as "<filename>_conv" (e.g. C:\Example_conv.txt).

The Offline File Conversion is available only for Normal Market under RL orders. The Offline File Conversion facility will accept comma separated file as input.

This Facility is not available for the Inquiry user.

In case of any error(s), the corresponding error code is written against the record in the output file and Pop-Up "Error in File Conversion" is displayed when Offline File Conversion is completed.

(xxvii) Print Bhavcopy On/Off: "Print Bhavcopy On/Off" is used to enable or disable the printing the bhavcopy, interim bhavcopy and index bhavcopy reports.

By default, the option will be set to 'Enable'. To change the [Enable/Disable] status presses the [Spacebar]. The current status is immediately displayed on the supplementary menu screen.

- (xxviii)Reset Password: This screen enables Corporate Manager to reset the password and to enable the users of their trading member who got disabled by entering wrong passwords for more than 6 times.
- (xxix) About: The 'About' window displays the software related version number details and copyright information

2.10 Order ManageMent

Order Management consists of entering orders, order modification, order cancellation and order matching.

2.10.1 Entering Orders

The trading member can enter orders in the normal market, odd lot and auction market. A user can place orders in any of the above mentioned markets by invoking the respective order entry screens. After doing so, the system automatically picks up information from the last invoked screen (e.g. Market Watch/MBP/OO/SQ and Security List). When the user invokes

the order entry screen, the fields that are taken as default are Symbol, Series and Book Type.
In case of other fields, the system takes the following defaults:
Qty Regular lot quantity available at best price on counter side
Price of best counter order
Pro Trading member ID of the user
Order Duration Day
Disclosed quantity Fully Disclosed

Participant ID Trading member ID of the user

Active & Passive Order

When any order enters the trading system, it is an active order. It tries to find a match on the other side of the books. If it finds a match, a trade is generated. If it does not find a match, the order becomes a passive order and goes and sits in the order book.

Order Books

As and when valid orders are entered or received by the trading system, they are first numbered, time stamped and then scanned for a potential match. This means that each order has a distinctive order number and a unique time stamp on it. If a match is not found, then the orders are stored in the books as per the price/time priority. Price priority means that if two orders are entered into the system, the order having the best price gets the higher priority. Time priority means if two orders having the same price is entered, the order that is entered first gets the higher priority. Best price for a sell order is the lowest price and for a buy order, it is the highest price.

The different order books in the NEAT system are as detailed below:

- Pre-open Book : An order during Preopen session has to be a Preopen (PO) order. All the Preopen orders are stacked in system till the Preopen phase. At the end of Preopen phase, the matching of Preopen orders takes place at the Final Opening Price. By default, the Preopen (PO) book appears in the order entry screen when the Normal Market is in Preopen and the security is eligible for Preopen Session. Order entry in preopen book type is allowed only during market status is in preopen.
- Regular Lot Book: An order that has no special condition associated with it is a Regular Lot order. When a dealer places this order, the system looks for a corresponding Regular Lot order existing in that market (Passive orders). If it does not find a match at the time it enters the system, the order is stacked in the Regular Lot book as a passive order. By default, the Regular Lot book appears in the order entry screen in the normal market. Buyback orders can be placed through the Regular Lot (RL) book in the Normal

Market. The member can place a buyback order by specifying 'BUYBACKORD' in the Client Account field in the order entry screen. Such company buyback orders will be identified in MBP screen by an '*' (asterisk) indicator against such orders.

- Stop Loss Book: Stop Loss (SL) orders are released into the market when the last traded price for that security in the normal market reaches or surpasses the trigger price. Before triggering, the order does not participate in matching and the order cannot get traded. Untriggered stop loss orders are stacked in the stop loss book. The stop loss orders can be either a market order or a limit price order. For buy SL orders, the trigger price has to be less than or equal to the limit price. Similarly, for sell SL orders, the trigger price has to be greater than or equal to the limit price.
- Odd Lot Book: The Odd Lot book can be selected in the order entry screen in order to trade in the Odd Lot market. Order matching in this market takes place between two orders on the basis of quantity and price. To enter orders in the odd lot market, select the book type as OL.
- Auction Order Book: Auction order book stores orders entered by the trading members to participate in the Exchange initiated auctions. Auction orders can be initiator orders, competitor orders and solicitor orders.

Symbol & Series

Securities can be taken as default values from the order entry screen from any of the inquiry screens such as MBP, OO, PT, AL, MI and SQ. In case the security is not set up in the Market Watch screen, the Security List can also be used to take the codes as default values.

Order entry in a security is not possible if that security is suspended from trading. E.g. If a security is suspended in the normal market a message "Security is suspended in the normal market" is displayed on the order entry screen. The label 'Suspended' is also displayed in the market watch screen for the setup security.

Order entry is also not possible in case the security is not eligible to trade in a particular market. E.g. If a security is not eligible to trade in the normal market a message "Security is not allowed to trade in normal market" is displayed on the order entry screen. In case the user types the symbol series incorrectly a message "Invalid symbol series" is displayed on the screen.

Quantity

When the buy/sell order entry screen is invoked, the regular lot size available at the best price on the counter side gets defaulted in the order entry screen. In case auction book is selected for display, the quantity has to be specifically mentioned by the user. Quantity mentioned should be in multiples of regular lot size for that security.

Quantity Freeze

All orders with very large quantities will receive quantity alert at member terminal. Currently, if member enters any order exceeding the lowest of the quantity given below, results in an alert which will read as "Order entered exceeds alert quantity limit. Confirm availability of adequate capital to proceed" and only after the member clicks the button 'Yes' the order will be further processed for execution.

A global alert quantity limit of more than 25000 irrespective of the issue size of the security, whichever is less.

Price

Along with the regular lot quantity, the best price on the counterside is also taken as default value in the order entry screen. A user has the option to either enter the order at the default price or overwrite it with any other desired price. If a user mentions a price, it should be in multiples of the tick size for that particular security and within the day's minimum/maximum price range, otherwise the order is not accepted by the system and an order rejection message/ confirmation slip is generated. For a No price band scrips(scrip), if a price outside the Operational Range is entered, the order results in a price freeze and is not accepted as a valid order till the time the Exchange approves it. All auction orders require the user to mention a price.

In case the user enters an order with a 'Market' price, the order takes the last traded price in the respective market as the market price, provided no passive order exists on the same side or the counter side in that security and in that market. On the other hand, if suitable orders exist on the counter side, then the order takes the price of the counter order and a trade is generated. If an order exists on the same side but no orders exists on the counter side, then the order takes the price of the best order on that side and is stacked immediately below it. If the security has never been traded, then the market order takes the value of the base price and sits in the books as a passive order.

Another option provided to Users in the Pre-open phase of the Normal market is 'ATO' or the 'At Open Price' concept. 'Market' orders entered in the pre-open are termed as 'ATO'. Based on the opening algorithm, the system computes a potential opening price. Once the market is open for trading, the ATO orders take these prices.

In case of stop loss orders, a user has the flexibility of specifying a limit price along with the trigger price. This limit price can be selected as equal to the trigger price in the price field so as to leave it with the word 'Price'. Alternatively, a user can specify a limit price as 'Market' price.

91

Circuit Breakers

The Exchange has implemented index-based market-wide circuit breakers in compulsory rolling settlement with effect from July 02, 2001. In addition to the circuit breakers, price bands are also applicable on individual securities.

Index-based Market-wide Circuit Breakers: The index-based market-wide circuit breaker system applies at 3 stages of the index movement, either way viz. at 10%, 15% and 20%. These circuit breakers when triggered bring about a coordinated trading halt in all equity and equity derivative markets nationwide. The market-wide circuit breakers are triggered by movement of either the BSE Sensex or the Nifty 50, whichever is breached earlier.

- (a) In case of a 10% movement of either of these indices, there would be a one-hour market halt if the movement takes place before 1:00 p.m. In case the movement takes place at or after 1:00 p.m. but before 2:30 p.m. there would be trading halt for ½ hour. In case movement takes place at or after 2:30 p.m. there will be no trading halt at the 10% level and market shall continue trading.
- (b) In case of a 15% movement of either index, there would be a two-hour halt if the movement takes place before 1 p.m. If the 15% trigger is reached on or after 1:00 p.m., but before 2:00 p.m., there shall be a one-hour halt. If the 15% trigger is reached on or after 2:00 p.m. the trading shall halt for remainder of the day.
- (c) In case of a 20% movement of the index, trading shall be halted for the remainder of the day.

Trigger limit	Trigger time	Market halt duration	Pre-open call auction session post market halt
	Before 1:00 pm.	45 Minutes	15 Minutes
10%	At or after 1:00 pm upto 2.30 pm	15 Minutes	15 Minutes
	At or after 2.30 pm	No halt	Not applicable
	Before 1 pm	1 hour 45 minutes	15 Minutes
15%	At or after 1:00 pm before 2:00 pm	45 Minutes	15 Minutes
	On or after 2:00 pm	Remainder of the day	Not applicable
20%	Any time during market hours	Remainder of the day	Not applicable

The extent of duration of the market halt and pre-open session is as given below:

These percentages are translated into absolute points of index variations on a daily basis. At the end of each trading day, these absolute points of index variations are revised for the applicability for the next trading day.

Price Bands

Daily price bands are applicable on securities as below:

- (a) Daily price bands of 5% (either way) on securities as specified by the Exchange.
- (b) Daily price bands of 10% (either way) on securities as specified by the Exchange.
- (c) No price bands are applicable on scrips on which derivative products are available or scrips included in indices on which derivative products are available. In order to prevent members from entering orders at non-genuine prices in such securities, the Exchange has fixed operating range of 10% for such securities.
- (d) Price bands of 20% (either way) on all remaining scrips (including debentures, preference shares etc).

The price bands for the securities in the Limited Physical Market are the same as those applicable for the securities in the Normal Market. For auction market the price bands of 20% are applicable.

Order Types and Conditions

The system allows the trading members to enter orders with various conditions attached to them as per their requirements. These conditions are broadly divided into Time Conditions, Quantity Conditions, Price Conditions and Other Conditions. Several combinations of the above are allowed thereby providing enormous flexibility to the users. The order types and conditions are summarised below:

- (i) Time Conditions
 - (a) DAY: All orders entered into the system are currently considered as Day orders only.
 - (b) IOC: An Immediate or Cancel (IOC) order allows the user to buy or sell a security as soon as the order is released into the system, failing which the order is cancelled from the system. Partial match is possible for the order, and the unmatched portion of the order is cancelled immediately.
- (ii) Quantity Conditions

DQ: An order with a Disclosed Quantity (DQ) allows the user to disclose only a portion of the order quantity to the market. For e.g. if the order quantity is 10,000 and the disclosed quantity is 2,000, then only 2,000 is released to the market. After this quantity is fully matched, a subsequent quantity of 2,000 is disclosed. Thus, totally five disclosures with the same order number are shown one after the other in the market.

- (iii) Price Conditions
 - (a) Market: Market orders are orders for which price is specified as 'MKT' at the time the order is entered. For such orders, the system determines the price.
 - (b) Stop-Loss: This facility allows the user to release an order into the system,

after the market price of the security reaches or crosses a threshold price called trigger price.

Example: If for stop loss buy order, the trigger is Rs.93.00, the limit price is Rs.95.00 and the market (last traded) price is Rs.90.00, then this order is released into the system once the market price reaches or exceeds Rs.93.00. This order is added to the regular lot book with time of triggering as the time stamp, as a limit order of Rs.95.00.

All stop loss orders are kept in a separate book (stop loss book) in the system until they are triggered.

- (c) Trigger Price: Price at which an order gets triggered from the stop loss book.
- (d) Limit Price: Price of the orders after triggering from stop loss book.
- (i) Other Conditions
 - (a) Proprietary (PRO) / Client (CLI): A user can enter orders on his own account or on behalf of clients. By default, the system assumes that the user is entering orders on the trading member's own account. The client account field is an alphanumeric field. It is mandatory to enter the client account number in the field provided in case the user enters orders on behalf of clients. The system will assign a code 'Cli' to such an order. The user cannot specify the trading member code in the client account field.
 - (b) Participant Code: In case of "Pro" order by default, the system displays the trading member ID of the user in the participant field. In case of Cli order if "Participant ID" exist in client master maintenance the same will appear in participant filed, else trading member ID will be reflected. Only a valid participant code can be entered. In case the participant is suspended, a message to this effect is displayed to the user on the order entry screen.

2.10.2 Order Modification

All orders can be modified in the system till the time they do not get fully traded and only during market hours. Once an order is modified, the branch order value limit for the branch gets adjusted automatically. Following is the corporate hierarchy for performing order modification functionality:

- (a) A dealer can modify only the orders entered by him.
- (b) A branch manager can modify his own orders or orders of any dealer under his branch.
- (c) A corporate manager can modify his own orders or orders of all dealers and branch managers of the trading member firm.

The corporate manager/branch manager, however, cannot modify order details such that it exceeds the branch order value limit set for the day. Order modification cannot be performed by/for a trading member who is suspended or de-activated by the Exchange for any reason.

2.10.3 Order Cancellation

Order cancellation functionality can be performed only for orders which have not been fully or partially traded (for the untraded part of partially traded orders only) and only during market hours and in pre-open period.

• Single Order Cancellation

Single order cancellation can be done during trading hours either by selecting the order from the outstanding order screen or from the function key provided. Order cancellation functionality is available for all book types. But the user is not allowed to cancel auction initiation and competitor orders in auction market.

• Quick Order Cancellation

Quick Order Cancellation (Cancel All) is an extension of Single Order Cancellation enabling a user to cancel multiple outstanding orders in various trading books subject to the corporate hierarchy. The different filters available for cancelling orders by using quick order cancellation facility are symbol, series, book type, branch, user, PRO/CLI, client account number and buy/sell. Quick order cancellation can be performed by invoking the function key provided and cannot be done from the outstanding orders screen. If the criterion is not found to be correct by a trading member then an error message is displayed and the focus is set on the incorrect field to enable the user to correct it. If the selection criterion is correct then a message appears on the quick order cancellation screen stating the number of buy and sell orders to be cancelled. Quick order cancellation can be done only during market hours.

• Order Cancellation for Disabled Member

The Exchange suspends a member from trading due to various reasons. In case a member is suspended from trading by the Exchange, all pending orders in all books of the member are immediately cancelled by the system. A message: "Order Number cancelled due to suspension" is displayed at the message window screen at the trader workstation. Inquiry screens such as MBP, Market Watch and trader specific screens such as Outstanding Orders, Activity Log etc. get updated accordingly.

2.10.4 Order Matching

The buy and sell orders are matched on Book Type, Symbol, Series, Quantity and Price.

Pre-open Matching Priority

The opening price is determined based on the principle of demand supply mechanism. The equilibrium price is the price at which the maximum volume is executable. In case more than one price meets the said criteria, the equilibrium price is the price at which there is minimum unmatched order quantity. In case more than one price has same minimum order unmatched quantity, the equilibrium price is the price closest to the previous day's closing price. In case the previous day's closing price is the mid-value of pair of prices which are closest to it, then the previous day's closing price itself will be taken as the equilibrium price. In case of corporate action, previous day's closing price is adjusted to the closing price or the base price. Both limit and market orders are reckoned for computation of equilibrium price. The equilibrium price determined in pre-open session is considered as open price for the day. In case if only market orders exists both in the buy and sell side, then order is matched at previous days close price is the opening price. In case if no price is discovered in pre-open session, the price of first trade in the normal market is the open price.

Matching Priority

The best sell order is the order with the lowest price and a best buy order is the order with the highest price. The unmatched orders are queued in the system by the following priority:

- (a) Buy Price: A buy order with a higher price gets a higher priority and similarly, a sell order with a lower price gets a higher priority. E.g. Consider the following buy orders:
 - 1) 100 shares @ Rs. 35 at time 9:30 a.m.
 - 2) 500 shares @ Rs. 35.05 at time 9:43 a.m.

The second order price is greater than the first order price and therefore is the best buy order.

- (b) By Time: If there is more than one order at the same price, the order entered earlier gets a higher priority. E.g. consider the following sell orders:
 - 1) 200 shares @ Rs. 72.75 at time 9:30 a.m.
 - 2) 300 shares @ Rs. 72.75 at time 9:35 a.m.

Both orders have the same price but they were entered in the system at different time. The first order was entered before the second order and therefore is the best sell order.

As and when valid orders are entered or received by the system, they are first numbered, time stamped and then scanned for a potential match. This means that each order has a distinctive order number and a unique time stamp on it. If a match is not found, then the orders are stored in the books as per the price/time priority.

An active buy order matches with the best passive sell order if the price of the passive sell order is less than or equal to the price of the active buy order. Similarly, an active sell order matches with the best passive buy order if the price of the passive buy order is greater than or equal to the price of the active sell order.

Regular Lot Matching

- If the combined quantity of one or more matching orders on the opposite side of the regular lot book is equal to or more than the quantity of active order, the active order is *completely traded*.
- If the combined quantity of one or more matching orders on the opposite side of the regular lot book is equal to or less than the quantity of active order, the active order is *partially traded*.
- If after trading any quantity is left untraded, the order is added to the regular lot book in the price/time priority.
- The orders with the IOC attribute try to match maximum possible quantity after they are entered. Any remaining quantity is cancelled.
- The orders with DQ attribute disclose only a part of the total order quantity to the market.
- An active order with disclosed condition tries to maximise the quantity as possible regardless of the disclosed quantity i.e. a single trade takes place for a quantity more than the disclosed quantity.

If an active order with the disclosed quantity cannot trade its total quantity, it is added to the regular lot book in the price/time priority. The disclosed order quantity is determined as follows:

- a) If the remaining order quantity is less than or equal to the original disclosed quantity, the disclosed order quantity is set as equal to remaining order quantity.
- b) If the remaining order quantity is more than the original disclosed quantity, the disclosed order quantity is set to the original disclosed quantity.

Once an order with the disclosed quantity has become a passive order, it trades only in units of disclosed quantity or less. However, if there is no other competing order with the same price, a single trade of as much quantity as possible takes place between the two orders.

When the entire disclosed order quantity is fully traded the disclosed quantity gets replenished and this continues till the entire order quantity is fully traded. Each time the disclosed quantity is replenished; the order is stamped with the current trading time and added to the regular order book as fresh order.

Stop Loss Matching

All stop loss orders entered into the system are stored in the stop loss book. These orders can contain two prices:

- (a) Trigger Price: It is the price at which the order gets triggered from the stop loss book.
- (b) Limit Price: It is the price for orders after the orders get triggered from the stop loss book. If the limit price is not specified, the trigger price is taken as the limit price for the order. The stop loss orders are prioritised in the stop loss book with the most likely order to trigger first and the least likely to trigger last. The priority is same as that of the regular lot book.

The stop loss condition is met under the following circumstances:

- (a) Sell Order: A sell order in the stop loss book gets triggered when the last traded price in the normal market reaches or falls below the trigger price of the order.
- (b) Buy Order: A buy order in the stop loss book gets triggered when the last traded price in the normal market reaches or exceeds the trigger price of the order.

When a stop loss order with IOC condition enters the system, the order is released in the market after it is triggered. Once triggered, the order scans the counter order book for a suitable match to result in a trade or else is cancelled by the system.

Auction Matching

All auction orders are entered into the auction order book. The rules for matching of auctions are similar to that of the regular lot book except for the following points:

- (a) Auction order matching takes place at the end of the solicitor period for the auction.
- (b) Auction matching takes place only across orders belonging to the same auction.
- (c) All auction trades take place at the auction price.

Validation Check

While matching orders, the system performs the validation check, if the participant of any of the orders is 'Suspended', the trade does not go through.

2.11 Internet BrokIng

SEBI Committee approved the use of Internet as an Order Routing System (ORS) for communicating clients' orders to the Exchanges through brokers. ORS enables investors to place orders with his broker and have control over the information and quotes and to hit the quote on an on-line basis. Once the broker's system receives the order, it checks the authenticity of the client electronically and then routes the order to the appropriate Exchange for execution. On execution of the order, it is confirmed on real time basis. Investor receives reports on margin requirement, payments and delivery obligations through the system. His ledger and portfolio account get updated online.

NSE was the first stock exchange in India to launch internet trading in early February 2000. It provides web-based access to investors to trade directly on the Exchange. The orders originating from the PCs of the investors are routed through the Internet to the trading terminals of the designated brokers with whom they are connected and further to the Exchangefor trade execution. Soon after these orders get matched and result into trades, the investors get confirmation about them on their PCs through the same internet route.

2.12 Co-locatIon

The term "co-location/proximity hosting services" means space, power, telecommunications, and other ancillary products and services made available to market participants for the purpose of enabling them to position their computer systems/servers in close proximity to the transaction execution facility (at the Exchange). Exchanges internationally are introducing co-location services to support high frequency trading using Algorithmic Trading (ALGO) and Direct Market Access (DMA). In keeping with the global trends and maintaining high service excellence, NSE started co-location facility in Jan 2010. The state-of-the-art co-location facility at NSE provides one of the most modern datacenter facilities.

2.13 WIreleSS **a**PPIIcatIon **P**rotocol (waP)

SEBI has also approved trading through wireless medium on WAP Platform. NSE-IT launched the Wireless Application Protocol (WAP) in November 2000. This provides access to its order book through the hand held devices, which use WAP technology. This serves primarily retail investors who are mobile and want to trade from any place when the market prices for stocks at their choice are attractive. Only SEBI registered members who have been granted permission by the Exchange for providing internet based trading services can introduce the service after obtaining permission from the Exchange.

CHAPTER 3: CLEARING, SETTLEMENT AND LEGAL FRAMEWORK

3.1 IntroductIon

After a trade is executed, it needs to be settled. The clearing and settlement mechanism in Indian securities market has witnessed significant changes and several innovations during the last decade. These include use of the state-of-art information technology, emergence of clearing corporations to assume counterparty risk, shorter settlement cycle, dematerialization, electronic transfer of securities and fine-tuned risk management system.

Till January 2002, the stock exchanges in India were following a system of account period settlement for cash market transactions. An account period settlement is a settlement where the trades pertaining to a period stretching over more than one day are settled. For example, trades for the period Monday to Friday are settled together. The obligations for the account period are settled on a net basis.

Instead of the account period settlement, T+2 rolling settlement was introduced for all securities. Rolling settlement refers to the settling of trades at a standard fixed period of days after the execution occurred. In a rolling settlement, each trading day is considered as a trading period and trades executed during the day are settled based on the net obligations for the day.

3.2 Key terMInologIeS uSed In ClearIng and SettleMent ProceSS

Pay-in day is the day when the trading members/brokers are required to make payment of funds or delivery of securities to the clearing corporation of the Exchange for all transactions traded by or through them in the respective settlement period.

- (a) Securities Pay-in: The process of delivering securities to the clearing corporation to effect settlement of a sale transaction.
- (b) Funds Pay-in: The process of transfer of funds to the clearing corporation to pay for purchase transactions.

Pay-out day is the day when the clearing corporation of the stock exchange transfers funds and securities to the broker/trading member who have receivable obligation.

- (a) Securities Pay-out: The process of receiving securities from the clearing corporation to complete the securities settlement of a purchase transaction.
- (b) Funds Pay-out: The process of transfers of funds from the clearing corporation to complete the funds settlement of a sale transaction.

3.3 tranSactIon Cycle



Figure 3.1: Transaction cycle

Steps in Transaction Cycle

- (a) A person holding assets (securities/funds), either to meet his liquidity needs or to reshuffle his holdings in response to changes in his perception about risk and return of the assets, decides to buy or sell the securities.
- (b) He selects a broker and instructs him to place buy/sell order on an exchange.
- (c) The order is converted to a trade as soon as it finds a matching sell/buy order.
- (d) At the end of the trade cycle, the trades are netted to determine the obligations of the trading members to deliver securities/funds as per settlement schedule.
- (e) Buyer (seller) delivers funds (securities) and receives securities (funds) and acquires ownership of the securities. A securities transaction cycle is presented in Figure 3.1.

3.4 SettleMent agencIeS

The roles of several entities involved in the process of clearing and settling the trades executed on Exchanges are explained below:

(i) Clearing Corporation (NSCCL): The NSCCL is responsible for post-trade activities of a stock exchange. Clearing and settlement of trades and risk management are its central functions. It clears all trades, determines obligations of members, arranges for pay-in of funds/securities, receives funds / securities, processes for shortages in funds/ securities, arranges for pay-out of funds/securities to members, guarantees settlement, and collects and maintains margins / collateral/ base capital / other funds.

- (ii) Clearing Members: They are responsible for settling their obligations as determined by the NSCCL. They have to make available funds and/or securities in the designated accounts with clearing bank/depository participant, as the case may be, to meet their obligations on the settlement day. In the capital market segment, all trading members of the Exchange are required to become the Clearing Member of the Clearing Corporation.
- (iii) Custodians: A custodian is an entity who is responsible for safeguarding the documentary evidence of the title to property like share certificates, etc. The title to the custodian's property remains vested with the original holder, or in their nominee(s), or custodian trustee, as the case may be. In NSCCL, custodian is a clearing member but not a trading member. The custodian settles trades assigned by trading members. The custodian is required to confirm whether it is going to settle a particular trade or not. If it is confirmed, the NSCCL assigns that obligation to that custodian and the custodian is required to settle it on the settlement day. If the custodian rejects the trade, the obligation is assigned back to the trading / clearing member.
- (iv) Clearing Banks: Clearing banks are a key link between the clearing members and NSCCL for funds settlement. Every clearing member is required to open a dedicated settlement account with one of the clearing banks. Based on his obligation as determined through clearing, the clearing member makes funds available in the clearing account for the pay-in and receives funds in case of a pay-out. Multiple clearing banks provide advantages of competitive forces, facilitate introduction of new products viz. working capital funding, anywhere banking facilities, the option to members to settle funds through a bank, which provides the maximum services suitable to the member.

Functions of Clearing Banks

The clearing banks are required to provide the following services as a single window to all clearing members of National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd. as also to the clearing corporation:

- (a) Branch network in cities that cover bulk of the trading cum clearing members
- (b) High level automation including Real time gross settlement (RTGS)⁷ and electronic funds transfer (EFT) facilities
- (c) Facilities like (i) dedicated branch facilities (ii) software to interface with the clearing corporation (iii) access to accounts information on a real time basis
- (d) Value-added services to members such as free-of-cost funds transfer across centers etc.

⁷ Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) is the concept designed to achieve sound risk management in the settlement of interbank payments. Transactions are settled across accounts held at the Central Bank on a continuous gross basis where settlement is immediate, final and irrevocable.

- (e) Providing working capital funds.
- (f) Services as Depository Participants (an agent of the depository through which it interfaces with the investor).
- (h) Other Capital Market related facilities
- (i) All other banking facilities like issuing bank guarantees / credit facilities etc.
- (v) Depositories: A depository is an entity where the securities of an investor are held in electronic form. The person who holds a demat account is a beneficiary owner. In case of a joint account, the account holders are beneficiary holders of that joint account. Depositories help in the settlement of the dematerialised securities. Each custodian/ clearing member is required to maintain a clearing pool account with the depositories. He is required to make available the required securities in the designated account on settlement day. The depository runs an electronic file to transfer the securities from accounts of the custodians/clearing member to that of NSCCL. As per the schedule of allocation of securities determined by the NSCCL, the depositories transfer the securities on the pay-out day from the account of the NSCCL to those of members/ custodians.

3.5 ClearIng and SettleMent ProceSS

While NSE provides a platform for trading to its trading members, the National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd. (NSCCL) determines the funds/securities obligations of the trading members and ensures that trading members meet their obligations. NSCCL becomes the legal counterparty to the net settlement obligations of every member. This principle is called 'novation' and NSCCL is obligated to meet all settlement obligations, regardless of member defaults, without any discretion. Once a member fails on any obligations, NSCCL immediately cuts off trading and initiates recovery.

3.5.1 Clearing Process

Determination of Obligation: NSCCL determines what counter-parties owe and what counterparties are due to receive on the settlement date. The NSCCL interposes itself as a central counterparty between the counterparties to trades and nets the positions so that a member has security wise net obligation to receive or deliver a security and has to either pay or receive funds.

At the end of each trading day, concluded or locked-in trades are received from NSE by NSCCL. NSCCL determines the cumulative obligations of each member and electronically transfers the data to Clearing Members (CMs). This implies that all trades concluded during a particular trading period are settled together. A multilateral netting procedure is adopted to determine the net settlement obligations (delivery / receipt positions) of CMs. NSCCL then

allocates or assigns delivery of securities inter se the members to arrive at the delivery and receipt obligation of funds and securities by each member.

3.5.2 Settlement Process

The settlement process begins as soon as member's obligations are determined through the clearing process. The clearing banks and depositories provide the necessary interface between the custodians/clearing members (who clear for the trading members or their own transactions) for settlement of funds/securities obligations of trading members. The clearing corporation provides a major link between the clearing banks, clearing members and the depositories. This link ensures actual movement of funds and securities on the prescribed pay-in and payout day. The core processes involved in the settlement process are:

- (i) Pay-in of Funds and Securities: The members bring in their funds/securities to the NSCCL. They make available required securities in designated accounts with the depositories by the prescribed pay-in time. The depositories move the securities available in the accounts of members to the account of the NSCCL. Likewise members with funds obligations make available required funds in the designated accounts with clearing banks by the prescribed pay-in time. The NSCCL sends electronic instructions to the clearing banks to debit member's accounts to the extent of payment obligations. The banks process these instructions, debit accounts of members and credit accounts of the NSCCL.
- (ii) Pay-out of Funds and Securities: After processing for shortages of funds/securities and arranging for movement of funds from surplus banks to deficit banks through RBI clearing, the NSCCL sends electronic instructions to the depositories/clearing banks to release pay-out of securities/funds. The depositories and clearing banks debit accounts of NSCCL and credit settlement accounts of members. Settlement is complete upon release of pay-out of funds and securities to custodians/members.

Settlement is deemed to be complete upon declaration and release of pay-out of funds and securities. Exceptions may arise because of short delivery of securities by CMs, bad deliveries or company objections on the pay-out day. (The detailed explanation of securities and funds settlement follows in the later section).

NSCCL identifies short deliveries (discussed later) and conducts a buying-in auction on the day after the pay-out day through the NSE trading system. The delivering CM is debited by an amount equivalent to the securities not delivered and valued at a valuation price (the closing price as announced by NSE on the day previous to the day of the valuation). If the buy-in auction price is more than the valuation price, the CM is required to make good the difference. All shortages not bought-in are deemed closed out at the highest price between the first day of the trading period till the day of squaring off or closing price on the auction day plus 20%,

whichever is higher. This amount is credited to the receiving member's account on the auction pay-out day.

The settlement process for transactions in securities in the CM segment of NSE is presented in the Figure 3.2.



Settlement Process in CM segment of NSE

Figure 3.2: Settlement Process in CM segment of NSE Explanation:

- (1) Trade details from Exchange to NSCCL (real-time and end of day trade file).
- NSCCL notifies the consummated trade details to CMs/custodians who affirm back.
 Based on the affirmation, NSCCL applies multilateral netting and determines obligations.
- (3) Download of obligation and pay-in advice of funds/securities.
- (4) Instructions to clearing banks to make funds available by pay-in time.
- (5) Instructions to depositories to make securities available by pay-in-time.
- (6) Pay-in of securities (NSCCL advises depository to debit pool account of custodians/ CMs and credit its account and depository does it).
- (7) Pay-in of funds (NSCCL advises Clearing Banks to debit account of custodians/CMs and credit its account and clearing bank does it).
- Pay-out of securities (NSCCL advises depository to credit pool account of custodians/ CMs and debit its account and depository does it).
- (9) Pay-out of funds (NSCCL advises Clearing Banks to credit account of custodians/CMs and debit its account and clearing bank does it).
- (10) Depository informs custodians/CMs through DPs.
- (11) Clearing Banks inform custodians/CMs.

3.5.3 Settlement Cycle

Settlement cycles for securities in dematerialised and physical mode is explained below:

Settlement Cycle For Dematerialised Securities

(i) Normal Market: The trades executed each trading day are considered as a trading period and trades executed during the day are settled based on the net obligations for the day. At NSE, trades in rolling settlement are settled on a T+2 basis i.e. on the 2nd working day. Typically trades taking place on Monday are settled on Wednesday, Tuesday's trades settled on Thursday and so on.

A tabular representation of the settlement cycle for rolling settlement is given below in Table 3.1:

	Activity	Day
Trading	Rolling Settlement Trading	Т
Clearing	Custodial Confirmation	T+1 working days
	Delivery Generation	T+1 working day
Settlement	Securities and Funds pay-in	T+2 working days
	Securities and Funds pay-out	T+2 working days
	Valuation of shortages based on closing	T 12 working days
	prices (at T+1 closing prices)	T+2 WORKING UAYS
Post Settlement	Auction	T+2 working days
	Auction settlement	T+3 working days
	Bad Delivery Reporting	T+4 working days
	Rectified bad delivery pay-in and pay-out	T+6 working days
	Re-bad delivery reporting and pickup	T+8 working days
	Close out of re-bad delivery and funds	
	pay-in & pay-out	1+9 WULKING UAYS

Table 3.1: Settlement Cycle – Normal Market

(ii) Inter Institutional Deals: Trading in this market segment is available for 'institutional investors' only. In order to ensure that the overall FII limits are not violated, buying and selling in this segment is restricted to specific clients. Members are required to enter the custodian participant code at the time of order entry and to ensure that the selling/ buying restrictions are strictly adhered to. A sell order entered by trading members on behalf of clients other than GDR/ADR/FDI/NRI/PIO/FII or a buy order entered by trading members on behalf of client other than (GDR/ADR/FDI/NRI/PIO/FII/FI/Banks/ Mutual Funds/Insurance Companies, is deemed to be invalid. The member entering the invalid order is further liable for disciplinary action, which may include penalties, penal action, withdrawal of trading facilities, suspension etc. Deals executed in this segment are cleared on a T+2 rolling basis. Settlement of all transactions is compulsorily in demat mode only.

The settlement cycle for this segment is shown below in Table 3.2:

	Activity	Day
Trading	Rolling Settlement Trading	Т
Clearing	Custodial Confirmation	T+1 working days
	Delivery Generation	T+1 working days
Settlement	Securities and Funds pay-in	T+2 working days
	Securities and Funds pay-out	T+2 working days
	Valuation of shortages based on	
	closing prices	at T+1 closing prices
Post Settlement	Close out	T+2 working days

 Table 3.2: Settlement Cycle – Inter Institutional Deals

Settlement Cycle For Physical Securities

Limited Physical Market: For limited physical markets, settlement for trades is done on a trade-for-trade basis and delivery obligations arise out of each trade.

Salient features of Limited Physical Market settlement are:

- (a) Delivery of shares in street name and market delivery (clients holding physical shares purchased from the secondary market) is treated as bad delivery. The shares standing in the name of individuals/HUF only would constitute good delivery. The selling/delivering member must necessarily be the introducing member.
- (b) Any delivery of shares which bears the last transfer date on or after the introduction of the security for trading in the LP market is construed as bad delivery.
- (c) Any delivery in excess of 500 shares is marked as short and such deliveries are compulsorily closed-out.
- (d) Shortages, if any, are compulsorily closed-out at 20% over the actual traded price. Unrectified bad delivery and re-bad delivery are compulsorily closed-out at 20% over the actual traded price.
- (e) All deliveries are compulsorily required to be attested by the introducing/ delivering member.
- (f) The buyer must compulsorily send the securities for transfer and dematerialisation, latest within 3 months from the date of pay-out.
- (g) Company objections arising out of such trading and settlement in this market are reported in the same manner as is currently being done for normal market segment.

Securities, however, would be accepted as valid company objection, only if the securities are lodged for transfer within 3 months from the date of pay-out.

The settlement cycle for this segment is same as for the rolling settlement, as shown in Table

3.3 below:

	Activity	Day
Trading	Rolling Settlement Trading	Т
Clearing	Custodial Confirmation	T+1 working days
	Delivery Generation	T+1 working days
Settlement	Securities and Funds pay-in	T+2 working days
	Securities and Funds pay-out	T+2 working days
Post Settlement	Assigning of shortages for close out	T+2 working days
	Reporting and pick-up of bad delivery	T+4 working days
	Close out of shortages	T+4working days
	Replacement of bad delivery	T+6 working days
	Reporting of re-bad and pick-up	T+8 working days
	Close out of re-bad delivery	T+9 working days

Table 3.3: Settlement Cycle – Physical Securities

3.6 SecurItIeS and fundS SettleMent

Settlement is done from two aspect- Securities settlement and Funds settlement (Figure 3.3) These are discussed below.



Figure 3.3: Types of Settlement

3.6.1 Securities Settlement

- (a) The securities obligations of members are downloaded to members/custodians by NSCCL after the end of the trading day.
- (b) The members / custodians deliver the securities to the clearing corporation on the payin day in case of physical settlement and make available the required securities in the pool accounts with the depository participants in case of dematerialised securities.
- (c) Members are required to open accounts with depository participants of both the depositories, NSDL and CDSL. Delivering members are required to deliver all documents to the clearing corporation (in case of physical settlement) between 9:30 a.m. and 10:30 a.m. on the settlement day. Receiving members are allotted specific time slots on settlement day to collect the documents from the clearing corporation at Mumbai. In case of dematerialised settlement, the members receive their obligation by 2.30 pm on T + 1 day. The members need to arrange for the securities as per their obligations and give instructions by 10.30 am on the pay-in day.
- (d) In case of NSDL, the members need to give instructions to move the securities to the settlement account of NSCCL, whereas in case of CDSL pay-in is done based on settlement ID through in which members are required to provide separate balances for each settlement.
- (e) The members need to ensure that the settlement number and type are correctly entered to avoid any defaults.
- (f) Pursuant to SEBI directive⁸, NSCCL has introduced a settlement system for direct delivery of securities to the investors accounts with effect from April 2, 2001. This facility is known as Direct Payout to Investors which is explained below.

Direct Payout to Investors

NSCCL has introduced the facility of direct payout (i.e. direct delivery of securities) to clients' account on both the depositories. It ascertains from each clearing member, the beneficiary account details of their respective clients who are due to receive pay out of securities. Based on the information received from members, the clearing corporation sends payout instructions to the depositories, so that the client receives the pay out of securities directly to their accounts on the pay-out day. The client receives payout to the extent of instructions received from the respective clearing members. To the extent of instruction not received, the securities are credited to the CM pool account of the member. Following are the salient features of 'Direct Payout' to Investors

- (a) Clearing members are required to provide a file to NSCCL for effecting pay out to investors' accounts for a particular settlement type, settlement number and delivery type. The file is to be provided as per the structure specified by NSCCL.
- (b) The time limit for submission of files is up to 9.30.am on the pay out day

8

vide its circular SMDRP/Policy/Cir-05/2001 dated February 1, 2001

- (c) The files are uploaded by NSCCL in its system and returned with the indication of the success/rejection of the file and the records. This is purely a validation of the correctness of the file and record formats.
- (d) Clearing members should provide details of beneficiary account of the clients of the trading members in any one of the depositories.
- (e) Credit to the accounts of various constituents (i.e. client account and CM Pool / CM Clearing account) would be in the same order as specified by the clearing member in the file given to NSCCL.
- (f) If for any client account record, the quantity requested for direct payout is more than the balance available for pay out to the clearing member in that depository, the quantity available in that depository is directly credited to members settlement account in that depository. If the member receives entire shares in NSDL the same will be transferred to members pool account in NSDL.
- (g) In the following situations, the pay out is credited to CM Pool / Clearing account of the clearing members :
 - Where the clearing members fail to provide the details of the beneficiary account or where the credit to the beneficiary accounts of the clients fail, or any account whatsoever.
 - The remaining quantity received from other depository as pay out is credited to the CM Pool / Clearing account of the clearing member with the respective depositories
- (h) If the member's client has not paid the dues to the member for the said securities or for any other reason, the member has valid justification not to release the payout of a client direct in such a situation the member may not be giving the beneficiary account details of such client's in the file. In case the investor has paid the dues for delivery of securities and there is no valid justification for not releasing pay-out directly to the client, the member has to provide the details of its clients beneficiary account so that direct credit can be given to the client.

Problems pertaining to Securities Settlement

Broadly, there exist three types of settlement problems pertaining to securities settlement:

(i) Short Deliveries: A short delivery/failed delivery takes place when a broker, a custodian or the clearing corporation delivers fewer securities than what were contracted for either to another broker, a custodian or the clearing corporation. On the securities payin day, clearing member communicate to the clearing corporation about the securities that he will be able to deliver and those securities which he will not be able to deliver. Also informs an amount equivalent to the securities not delivered by him valued at the valuation price (the closing price on the day previous to the day of valuation). This is called valuation debit. A valuation debit is also conducted for bad delivery by clearing members. This problem can arise in case of both physical and dematerialized settlement. (Valuation debit is explained in the later section)

- (ii) Bad Deliveries: Bad deliveries (deliveries which are prima facie defective) are required to be reported to the clearing corporation within two days from the receipt of documents. The delivering member is required to rectify these within two days. Un-rectified bad deliveries are assigned to auction on the next day. This problem can arise only in case of physical settlement.
- (iii) Company Objections: Company objections arise when documents for securities transfer are returned due to signature mismatch or for any other reason. The original selling CM is normally responsible for rectifying/replacing defective documents to the receiving CM as per pre-notified schedule. The CM on whom company objection is lodged has an opportunity to withdraw the objection if the objection is not valid or the documents are incomplete (i.e. not as required under Guideline No.100 or 109 of SEBI Good/Bad delivery guidelines), within 7 days of lodging the complaint against him. If the CM is unable to rectify/replace defective documents on or before 21 days, NSCCL conducts a buying-in auction for the non-rectified part of defective document on the next auction day through the trading system of NSE. All objections, which are not bought-in, are deemed closed out on the auction day at the closing price on the auction day plus 20%. This amount is credited to the receiving member's account on the auction pay-out day.

3.6.2 *Funds Settlement*

Currently, NSCCL (the clearing corporation) offers settlement of funds through the clearing banks appointed by it. Every clearing member is required to maintain and operate a clearing account with any one of the empanelled clearing banks at the designated clearing bank branches. NSCCL has empanelled 13 clearing banks namely Axis Bank Ltd., Bank of India, Canara Bank, Citibank N.A, HDFC Bank, Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd., ICICI Bank, IDBI Bank, IndusInd Bank, Kotak Mahindra Bank, Standard Chartered Bank, State Bank of India and Union Bank of India. The clearing account is to be used exclusively for clearing & settlement operations.

Clearing Account

Every clearing member is required to maintain and operate a clearing account with any one of the empanelled clearing banks at the designated clearing bank branches. The clearing account is to be used exclusively for clearing operations i.e., for settling funds and other obligations to the clearing corporation including payments of margins and penal charges. Clearing members are required to authorise the clearing bank to access their clearing account for debiting and crediting their accounts, reporting of balances and other information as may be required by NSCCL from time to time as per the specified format. The clearing bank will debit/ credit the clearing account of clearing members as per instructions received from the clearing corporation. A clearing member can deposit funds into this account in any form, but can withdraw funds from this account only in self-name.

Change in Clearing Bank

In case a clearing member wishes to shift a clearing account from one designated clearing bank to another, the procedure is as follows:

- (a) The CM clearing member while requesting the clearing corporation for a change in the clearing bank account should either:
 - (i) Furnish the no objection certificate (NOC) received by the member from the existing clearing bank for shifting of account, or
 - (ii) In case no response was received by the clearing member from the existing clearing bank in respect of the NOC request even after a minimum waiting period of a fortnight, a declaration to the above effect along with an acknowledged copy of the NOC request made by the member to the existing clearing bank.
- (b) The clearing corporation would thereon issue a letter of introduction to the other designated clearing bank.
- (c) On opening the account with the other designated clearing bank, the clearing member should submit to the clearing corporation, the account particulars issued by the bank and also the acknowledged copy of the letter issued by the clearing member to the clearing bank.
- (d) The clearing corporation should thereon communicate the date from which the new clearing account will be operational and also the date after which the existing clearing account may be closed by the clearing member.

Settlement of Funds

- (a) Members are informed of their funds obligation for various settlements through the daily clearing data download. The daily funds statement gives date-wise details of each debit/ credit transaction in the member's clearing account whereas the summary statement summarises the same information for a quick reference.
- (b) The member account may be debited for various types of transactions on a daily basis. The member is required to ensure that adequate funds are available in the clearing account towards all obligations, on the scheduled date and time. The member can refer to his various obligation statements and provide for funds accordingly.

- (c) To ensure timely fulfillment of funds obligations, members may avail of the facility of standing instructions to transfer the requisite amount from some other account to the clearing account or a temporary overdraft facility from the bank. In case the member has availed such a facility, the member may furnish details of his obligation to the bank to ensure timely transfer of funds towards the same to avoid inconvenience.
- (d) The member with a funds pay-in obligation is required to have clear funds in his account on or before 11.00 a.m. on the scheduled pay-in day.
- (e) The payout of funds is credited to the clearing account of the members on or after 1.30 p.m. on the scheduled payout day.

Funds shortages

In case there is a funds shortage of a particular specific value, trading is not permitted and securities payout is withheld as per the norms in place from time to time.

Penal Charges

Penalties are charged to members for:

- (a) Failure to fulfill their funds obligations
- (b) Failure to fulfill their securities deliverable obligations
- (c) Margin Shortages
- (d) Security Deposit Shortages
- (e) Other violations in respect of client code modifications, non-confirmation of custodial trades, company objections reported against the members' etc.

3.7 ShortageS handlIng

On the securities pay-in day, NSCCL identifies short deliveries and the respective clearing member is debited by an amount equivalent to the securities not delivered by him and valued at a valuation price. This is called a valuation debit. A valuation debit is also conducted for bad delivery by clearing members.

NSCCL conducts a buying-in auction for security shortages on the day after the pay-out day through the NSE trading system. If the buy-in auction price is more than the valuation price, the member is required to make good the difference.

3.7.1 Valuation Prices

Prices at which valuation debits are conducted called Valuation Prices and are calculated as below:

(i) Valuation Price for failure to deliver for Regular Market, and Limited Physical Market Deals: The valuation price for securities which were not delivered on the settlement day for securities, is the closing price of such securities, on the immediate trading day preceding the pay-in day for the securities.

(ii) Valuation Price for Bad Delivery for Regular Market and the Limited Physical Market Deals: The valuation price for securities which constitute bad deliveries, is the closing price of such securities, on the immediate trading day preceding the bad delivery rectification day for the securities.

3.7.2 *Close-out Procedures*

All shortages not bought-in are deemed closed out at the highest price between the first day of the trading period till the day of squaring off or closing price on the auction day plus 10%/20% (as the case may be). This amount is credited to the receiving member's account on the auction pay-out day.

The close out procedure is done in the following manner for different markets and varies from case to case.

- (i) For Regular Market:
 - (a) In the case of failure to give delivery: At the highest price prevailing in the NSE from the first day of the relevant trading period till the day of closing out or 20% above the closing price on the auction day, whichever is higher. In cases of securities having corporate actions all cases of short delivery of cum transactions which cannot be auctioned on cum basis or where the cum basis auction pay out is after the book closure/record date, would be compulsory closed out. For compulsory close out, the following formula is applicable:
 - (i) Higher of 10% above the closing price of the security in Normal Market on the auction day
 - (ii) The highest traded price from first trading day of the settlement till the auction day.
 - (b) In the case of non rectification/replacement for bad delivery: At the highest price prevailing in the NSE from the first day of the relevant trading period till the day of the closing out or 20% above the official closing price on the auction day, whichever is higher.
 - (c) In the case of non rectification/replacement for objection cases: At 20% above the official closing price on the auction day.
- (ii) For Limited Physical Market Deals:
 - (a) In the case of failure to give delivery: At 20% over the actual trade price
 - (b) In the case of non rectification/replacement for bad delivery: At 10% over the actual trade price

- (c) In the case of non rectification/replacement for objection cases: At 20% above the official closing price in regular market on the auction day.
- (iii) Auction Market:
 - (a) In the case of auction non delivery: When the auction seller fails to deliver in part or full on auction pay-in day, the deal is squared up at the highest price prevailing in the NSE from the first day of the relevant trading period till the day of closing out or 20% over the official closing price on the close out day whichever is higher and is charged to the auction seller unless otherwise specified.
 - (b) In the case of an auction bad delivery: An auction delivery reported as bad delivery is squared up at the highest price prevailing in the NSE from the first day of the relevant trading period till the day of closing out or 10% over the official closing price on the close out day, whichever is higher and will be charged to the auction seller unless otherwise specified.
- (iv) Rectified/Replaced bad deliveries reported as bad delivery (Rebad delivery):
 - (a) For Regular Market Deals: At the highest price prevailing in the NSE from the first day of the relevant trading period till the day of the closing out or 10% above the official closing price on the auction day whichever is higher.
 - (b) For Limited Physical Deals: Rectified / replaced shares reported as bad delivery (Rebad delivery) is squared up at 10% over the actual trade price.
- (v) Company objection cases reported as bad delivery:

Rectified /replaced company objection reported as bad delivery is squared up at 10% above the official closing price on the auction day.

(vi) Close out price for deleted security:

Security for which trading has been discontinued on the Exchange (hereinafter referred to as deleted security), close out shall be the last 26 weeks average trade price on the exchange with a close out mark up of 20%.

(vii) Deleted security on account of payment of additional call money:

In the case of securities for which trading has been discontinued on the Exchange on account of payment of additional call money (deleted security), the security where the respective call money has been paid (new security) will be considered to arrive at the closing price.

Company objections received in the 'deleted security' will be required to be reported in the 'new security' symbol / series. In case the 'new security' is not available for the reason of such security not being introduced for trading on the Exchange/trading being discontinued on the Exchange, company objections will be required to be reported in the 'deleted security' and closing price for such deleted security will be at 20 % over the official closing price on the last traded day of the 'deleted security' on the Exchange.

(viii) Deleted security on account of payment of redemption:

In the case of securities for which trading has been discontinued on the Exchange on account of redemption (deleted security), the security (with the new face value after redemption) introduced for trading by the Exchange (new security) will be considered to arrive at the closing price.

Company objections received in the 'deleted security' will be required to be reported in the new security symbol / series and members will be entitled to claim redemption amount as corporate benefit.

In case the 'new security' is not available for the reason of such security not being introduced for trading on the Exchange / trading being discontinued on the Exchange on account of full redemption, company objections will be required to be reported in the 'deleted security' and closing price for such deleted security will be at 20% over the official closing price on the last traded day of the 'deleted security' on the Exchange.

(ix) Deleted security on account of merger / amalgamation / hive off / scheme of restructuring:

In the case of securities for which trading has been discontinued on the Exchange on account of merger / amalgamation/ scheme of restructuring ('deleted security'), the security with which the deleted security is merged / amalgamated / hived off / restructured into ('new security') will be considered to arrive at the closing price. Closing price for such 'deleted security' will be the official closing price of the new security on the auction day prevalent on the Exchange. In case where the price of the 'new security' is not available for the reason of such security not being traded on the Exchange, the closing price for such deleted security will be at 20% over the official closing price on the last traded day of 'deleted security' on the Exchange. In case, where more than one security ('additional securities') is being given by the company in lieu of the 'deleted security', the claim of company objection lodged for such 'deleted security' shall be settled as follows:

- (a) If such 'additional securities' are traded on the Exchange, in the ratio in which they have been issued by the company.
- (b) If any one or more of these 'additional securities' are not traded on any Stock Exchange, no claim shall arise, for such security not traded.
- (c) If any one or more of these 'additional securities' are not traded on the Exchange but traded on some other Stock Exchanges, the relevant closing price of such

securities shall be the closing price on the Regional Exchange, to be notified by NSCCL.

- (x) Close out price for bonds:
 - (a) In case of failure to give delivery, non rectification/replacement of bad delivery, rectified/replaced bad delivery subsequently reported as re-bad, auction non-delivery, and auction delivery reported as bad delivery, closing out price will be the highest rate prevailing on the Exchange from the first day of the relevant trading period till the day of closing out or 5% over the official closing price on the auction day, whichever is higher.
 - (b) In case of non rectification / replacement of company objection and rectified/ replaced company objections reported as bad delivery, closing price will be 5% over the official closing price on the auction day.

3.8 **FISkS In SettleMent**

The following two kinds of risks are inherent in a settlement system:

- (i) Counterparty Risk: This arises if parties do not discharge their obligations fully when due or at any time thereafter. This has two components, namely replacement cost risk prior to settlement and principal risk during settlement.
 - (a) The replacement cost risk arises from the failure of one of the parties to transaction. While the non-defaulting party tries to replace the original transaction at current prices, he loses the profit that has accrued on the transaction between the date of original transaction and date of replacement transaction. The seller/ buyer of the security loses this unrealised profit if the current price is below/ above the transaction price. Both parties encounter this risk as prices are uncertain. It has been reduced by reducing time gap between transaction and settlement and by legally binding netting systems.
 - (b) The principal risk arises if a party discharges his obligations but the counterparty defaults. The seller/buyer of the security suffers this risk when he delivers/ makes payment, but does not receive payment/delivery. This risk can be eliminated by delivery vs. payment mechanism which ensures delivery only against payment. This has been reduced by having a central counterparty (NSCCL) which becomes the buyer to every seller and the seller to every buyer. A variant of counterparty risk is liquidity risk which arises if one of the parties to transaction does not settle on the settlement date, but later. The seller/buyer who does not receive payment/delivery when due, may have to borrow funds/securities to complete his payment/delivery obligations. Another variant is the third party risk which

arises if the parties to trade are permitted or required to use the services of a third party which fails to perform. For example, the failure of a clearing bank which helps in payment can disrupt settlement. This risk is reduced by allowing parties to have accounts with multiple banks. Similarly, the users of custodial services face risk if the concerned custodian becomes insolvent, acts negligently, etc.

(ii) System Risk: This comprises of operational, legal and systemic risks. The operational risk arises from possible operational failures such as errors, fraud, outages etc. The legal risk arises if the laws or regulations do not support enforcement of settlement obligations or are uncertain. Systemic risk arises when failure of one of the parties to discharge his obligations leads to failure by other parties. The domino effect of successive failures can cause a failure of the settlement system.

These risks have been contained by enforcement of an elaborate margining and capital adequacy standards to secure market integrity, settlement guarantee funds to provide counterparty guarantee, legal backing for settlement activities and business continuity plan, etc.

3.9 Risk Management

A sound risk management system is integral to/pre-requisite for an efficient clearing and settlement system. The National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd. (NSCCL), a wholly owned subsidiary of NSE, was incorporated in August 1995 and commenced clearing operations in April 1996. NSCCL ensures that trading members' obligations are commensurate with their net worth and has put in place a comprehensive risk management system which is constantly monitored and upgraded to pre-empt market failures. The risk containment measures are discussed below:

3.9.1 Capital Adequacy Requirements

The trading members are required to provide liquid assets which adequately cover various margins & minimum capital requirements. Liquid assets of the member include their initial membership deposits including the security deposits. Members may provide additional collateral deposit towards liquid assets, over and above their minimum membership deposit requirements (see table 3.4).

The acceptable forms of capital towards liquid assets and the applicable haircuts are listed below:

(i) Cash Equivalents: Cash, bank fixed deposits from approved banks, bank guarantees from approved banks and government securities with 10% haircut, units of liquid mutual funds or government securities mutual funds with 10% haircut.

- (ii) Other Liquid assets:
 - (a) Liquid (Group I) Equity Shares in demat form, as specified by NSCCL from time to time deposited with approved custodians. Haircuts applied are equivalent to the VaR margin for the respective securities.
 - (b) Mutual fund units other than those listed under cash equivalents decided by NSCCL from time to time. Haircut equivalent to the VaR margin for the units computed using the traded price if available, or else, using the NAV of the unit treating it as a liquid security.
 - (c) Corporate bonds in demat form as decided by NSCCL from time to time with haircuts as specified by NSCCL

Table 3.4: Capital Adequacy Norms for Membership on NSE (Rs. in lakh)

Table 3.4 : Deposit & Networth Requirements (Corporates /Limited LiabilityPartnership)

DEPOSIT STRUCTURE (` in lakhs)								
Segment	Type of Membership		Cash- NSEIL	Non- Cash NSEIL	Cash NSCCL	Non- Cash NSCCL	Total	Net Worth
Capital Market	TM & SCM	1	85	-	15	25	125	100
	ТМ		25	-	-	-	25	100
Futures &	TM & SCM		25	-	25	25	75	100
Options	TM & CM		25	-	25	25	75	300
	PCM		-	-	25	25	50	300
	Existing	ТМ	2	8	-	-	10	100
		TM & SCM	2	8	25	25	60	500
Currency	Members	TM & CM	2	8	25	25	60	1000
Derivatives	Now	ТМ	2	13	-	-	15	100
Segment	Members	TM & SCM	2	18	25	25	70	500
-		TM & CM	2	18	25	25	70	1000
	PCM		-	-	25	25	50	1000

* TM = Trading Membership

* TM & SCM = Trading and Self Clearing Membership

* TM & CM = Trading and Clearing Membership

* PCM = Professional Clearing Membership

DEPOSIT STRUCTURE (` in lakhs)								
Segment	Type of Membership		Cash- NSEIL	Non- Cash NSEIL	Cash NSCCL	Non- Cash NSCCL	Total	Net Worth
Capital Market	TM & SCM		26.5	-	6	17.5	50	75
	ТМ		25	-	-	-	25	75
Futures &	TM & SCM		25	-	25	25	75	100
options	TM & CM		25	-	25	25	75	300
Currency Derivatives Segment	Existing Members	ТМ	2	8	-	-	10	100
		TM & SCM	2	8	25	25	60	500
		TM & CM	2	8	25	25	60	1000
	New Members	ТМ	2	13	-	-	15	100
		TM & SCM	2	18	25	25	70	500
		TM & CM	2	18	25	25	70	1000

Table 3.5 Deposit & Networth Requirements(Individual / Partnership Firms)

- * TM = Trading Membership
- * TM & SCM = Trading and Self Clearing Membership
- * TM & CM = Trading and Clearing Membership
- * PCM = Professional Clearing Membership

Fees and Charges :

- Application Processing Fees : `10,000/- + Applicable Service Tax.
- Admission Fees : One time ` 5,00,000/- + Applicable Service Tax except in case of Alpha Membership
- Annual subscription charges (Captial Market Segment):

For Corporates - `1,00,000 P.A. + Applicable Service Tax

For Individuals/Partnership Firms - ` 50,000 P.A. + Applicable Service Tax

- Advance minimum transaction charges (Futures & Options segment): `1,00,000 p.a.
 + Applicable Service Tax
- Advance transaction charges (Currency Derivatives segment) `50,000 p.a. + Applicable Service Tax

3.9.2 Margins

Margins form a key part of the risk management system. In the stock markets there is always an uncertainty in the movement of share prices. This uncertainty leads to risk which is addressed by margining system of stock markets. Let us understand the concept of margins with the help of a following example.

Example: Suppose an investor purchases 1000 shares of 'xyz' company at Rs.100/- on January 1, 2008. Investor has to give the purchase amount of Rs.1,00,000/- (1000 x 100) to his broker

on or before January 2, 2008. Broker, in turn, has to give this money to stock exchange on January 3, 2008. There is always a small chance that the investor may not be able to bring the required money by required date. As an advance for buying the shares, investor is required to pay a portion of the total amount of Rs.1,00,000/- to the broker at the time of placing the buy order. Stock exchange in turn collects similar amount from the broker upon execution of the order. This initial token payment is called margin. It is important to remember that for every buyer there is a seller and if the buyer does not bring the money, seller may not get his / her money and vice versa. Therefore, margin is levied on the seller also to ensure that he/ she gives the 100 shares sold to the broker who in turn gives it to the stock exchange.

In the above example, assume that margin was 15%. That is investor has to give Rs.15,000/

-(15% of Rs.1,00,000/) to the broker before buying. Now suppose that investor bought the shares at 11 am on January 1, 2008. Assume that by the end of the day, price of the share falls by Rs.25/-. That is total value of the shares has come down to Rs.75,000/-. That is buyer has suffered a notional loss of Rs.25,000/-. In our example buyer has paid Rs.15,000/- as margin but the notional loss, because of fall in price, is Rs.25,000/-. That is notional loss is more than the margin given.

In such a situation, the buyer may not want to pay Rs.1,00,000/- for the shares whose value has come down to Rs.75,000/-. Similarly, if the price has gone up by Rs.25/-, the seller may not want to give the shares at Rs.1,00,000/-. To ensure that both buyers and sellers fulfill their obligations irrespective of price movements, notional losses are also need to be collected.

Prices of shares keep on moving every day. Margins ensure that buyers bring money and sellers bring shares to complete their obligations even though the prices have moved down or up.

Imposition of Margins

For imposition of margins, the stocks are categorized on basis of their trading frequency and impact cost⁹ (see table 3.5). The criteria for categorization of stocks for imposition of margins is mentioned below:

(a) The securities are classified into three groups based on their liquidity. The stocks which have traded atleast 80% of the days for the previous six months constitute Group I (Liquid Securities) and Group II (Less Liquid Securities). Out of the scrips identified above, the scrips having mean impact cost of less than or equal to 1% are categorized under Group I and the scrips where the impact cost is more than 1, are categorized under Group II. The remaining stocks are classified into Group III (Illiquid Securities).

⁹ Impact cost represents the cost of executing a transaction in a given stock, for a specific predefined order size, at any given point of time.

(b) The impact cost is calculated on the 15th of each month on a rolling basis considering the order book snapshots of the previous six months. On the basis of the impact cost so calculated, the scrips are moved from one group to another group from the 1st of the next month.

Group	Trading frequency (overtheprevioussix months*)	Impact Cost (over the previous six months*)	
Liquid Securities (Group I)	At least 80 % of the days	Less than or equal to 1 %	
Less Liquid Securities (Group II)	At least 80 % of the days	More than 1 %.	
Illiquid Securities (Group III)	Less than 80 % of the days	N/A	

Table 3.6: Imposition of Margins

* For securities that have been listed for less than 6 months, the trading frequency and the impact cost is computed using the history of the scrip.

Categorisation of Newly Listed Securities

- (a) For the first month and till the time of monthly review a newly listed security is categorised in that group where the market capitalization of the newly listed security exceeds or equals the market capitalization of 80% of the securities in that particular group. Subsequently, after one month, whenever the next monthly review is carried out, the actual trading frequency and impact cost of the security is computed, to determine the liquidity categorization of the security.
- (b) In case any corporate action results in a change in ISIN, then the securities bearing the new ISIN is treated as newly listed security for group categorization.

Types of Margins

Daily margins payable by the trading members in the Cash market consists of the following:

- (i) Value at Risk (VaR) margin
- (ii) Mark to Market Margin
- (iii) Extreme Loss Margin

The margins are computed at client level. A member entering an order, needs to enter the client code. Based on this information, margin is computed at the client level, which will be payable by the trading members on upfront basis. Let us see in details what is meant by these margins.

Value at Risk Margin

VaR is a single number, which encapsulates whole information about the risk in a portfolio. It measures potential loss from an unlikely adverse event in a normal market environment. It involves using historical data on market prices and rates, the current portfolio positions, and

models (e.g., option models, bond models) for pricing those positions. These inputs are then combined in different ways, depending on the method, to derive an estimate of a particular percentile of the loss distribution, typically the 99th percentile loss.

Computation of VaR Margin: VaR Margin is a margin intended to cover the largest loss that can be encountered on 99% of the days (99% Value at Risk). For liquid securities, the margin covers one-day losses while for illiquid securities; it covers three-day losses so as to allow the clearing corporation to liquidate the position over three days. This leads to a scaling factor of square root of three for illiquid securities. For liquid securities, the VaR margins are based only on the volatility of the security while for other securities, the volatility of the market index is also used in the computation (see table 4.6).

Some Definitions: Computation of the VaR margin requires the following definitions:

- (a) Security sigma: It means the volatility of the security computed as at the end of the previous trading day. The computation uses the exponentially weighted moving average method applied to daily returns in the same manner as in the derivatives market.
- (b) Security VaR: It means the higher of 7.5% or 3.5 security sigmas.
- (c) Index sigma: It means the daily volatility of the market index (CNX Nifty or BSE Sensex) computed as at the end of the previous trading day. The computation uses the exponentially weighted moving average method applied to daily returns in the same manner as in the derivatives market.
- (d) Index VaR: It means the higher of 5% or 3 index sigmas. The higher of the Sensex VaR or Nifty VaR would be used for this purpose.

Liquidity Categorization	One-Day VaR	Scalingfactor for illiquidity	VaR Margin
Liquid Securities (Group I)	Security VaR	1.00	Security VaR
Less Liquid Securities (Group II)	Higher of Security VaR and three times Index VaR	1.73 (square root of 3.00)	Higher of 1.73 times Security VaR and 5.20 times Index VaR
Illiquid Securities	Five times Index VaR	1.73	8.66 times Index VaR
(Group III)		(square root of 3.00)	

 Table 3.7: VaR Margins for Different Groups of Securities

All securities are classified into three groups for the purpose of VaR margin as discussed above. For the securities listed in Group I, scrip wise daily volatility calculated using the exponentially weighted moving average methodology applied to daily returns. The scrip wise daily VaR would be 3.5 times the volatility so calculated subject to a minimum of 7.5%. For the securities listed in Group II, the VaR margin is higher of scrip VaR (3.5 sigma) or three

times the index VaR, and it shall be scaled up by root 3 (^). For the securities listed in Group III, the VaR margin would be equal to five times the index VaR and scaled up by root 3.

Upfront margin rates (VaR margin + Extreme Loss Margin) applicable for all securities in Trade for Trade-Surveillance (TFTS) shall be 100%.

VaR margin rate for a security constitutes the following:

- (a) Value at Risk (VaR) based margin, which is arrived at, based on the methods stated above. The index VaR, for the purpose, would be the higher of the daily Index VaR based on CNX NIFTY or BSE SENSEX. The index VaR would be subject to a minimum of 5%.
- (b) Security Specific Margin, NSCCL may stipulate security specific margins for the securities from time to time.

The VaR margin rate computed, as mentioned above, will be charged on the net outstanding position (buy value-sell) of the respective clients on the respective securities across all open settlements. There would be no netting off of positions across different settlements. The net position at a client level for a member are arrived at and thereafter, it is grossed across all the clients including proprietary position to arrive at the gross open position.

For example, in case of a member, if client A has a buy position of 1000 in a security and client B has a sell position of 1000 in the same security, the net position of the member in the security would be taken as 2000. The buy position of client A and sell position of client B in the same security would not be netted. It would be summed up to arrive at the member's open position for the purpose of margin calculation.

Collection of VaR Margin: The VaR margin is collected on an upfront basis by adjusting against the total liquid assets of the member at the time of trade. The VaR margin is collected on the gross open position of the member. The gross open position for this purpose would mean the gross of all net positions across all the clients of a member including its proprietary position. For this purpose, there would be no netting of positions across different settlements.

Upfront margin rates (VaR margin + Extreme Loss Margin) applicable for all securities in Trade for Trade- Surveillance (TFTS) shall be 100 %. The Intra-day VAR files is generated based on the prices at 11.00 a.m., 12.30 p.m., 2.00 p.m., and 3.30 p.m. everyday. Such intra-day VAR files are used for margining of intra-day member positions. In addition to the above, a VAR file at end of day and begin of day is provided and the same is applicable on the positions for next trading day.

Mark-to-Market Margin

Mark to market loss is calculated by marking each transaction in security to the closing price of the security at the end of trading. In case the security has not been traded on a particular day, the latest available closing price at the NSE is to be considered as the closing price. In case the net outstanding position in any security is nil, the difference between the buy and sell values is considered as notional loss for the purpose of calculating the mark to market margin payable.

The mark to market margin (MTM) is collected from the member before the start of the trading of the next day. The MTM margin is collected/adjusted from/against the cash/cash equivalent component of the liquid net worth deposited with the Exchange.

The MTM margin is collected on the gross open position of the member. The gross open position means the gross of all net positions across all the clients of a member including its proprietary position. For this purpose, the position of a client would be netted across its various securities and the positions of all the clients of a broker would be grossed.

There would be no netting off of the positions and setoff against MTM profits across two rolling settlements i.e. T day and T-1 day. However, for computation of MTM profits/losses for the day, netting or setoff against MTM profits would be permitted.

In case of Trade for Trade Segment (TFT segment) each trade is marked to market based on the closing price of that security. The MTM margin so collected is released on completion of pay-in of the settlement.

Client	Security	Tiday	Tday	Total profit/	MTM for
Client	Security	I-I day	Tuay	loss of Client	broker
Client A	Security X	800	300		
	Security Y	-500	-1200		
	Total	300	-900	-900	
Client B	Security Z	700	-400		
	Security W	-1000	800		
	Total	-300	400	-300	
Client C	Security X	1000	500		
	Security Z	-1500	-800		
	Total	-500	-300	-800	
Client D	Security Y	700	-200		
	Security R	-300	800		
	Total	400	600	1000	
Member					-2000

Example: Let us understand the MTM computation with the help of the following example:

For a Client A, his MTM profit/ loss would be calculated separately for his positions on T-1 and T day (two different rolling settlements). For the same day positions of the client, his losses in some securities can be set off/netted against profits of some other securities. Thus, we would arrive at the MTM loss/profit figures of the two different days T and T-1. These two figures

cannot be netted. Any loss will have to be collected and same will not be setoff against profit arising out of positions of the other day.

Thus, as stated above MTM profits / losses would be computed for each of the clients; Client A, Client B, Client C etc. As regards collection of margin from the broker, the MTM would be grossed across all the clients i.e. no setoff of loss of one client with the profit of another client. In other words, only the losses will be added to give the total MTM loss that the broker has to deposit with the exchange. In this example, the broker has to deposit MTM Margin of Rs 2000.

Extreme Loss Margin

The Extreme Loss Margin for any security is higher of:

- (a) 5%, or
- (b) 1.5 times the standard deviation of daily logarithmic returns of the security price in the last six months. This computation is done at the end of each month by taking the price data on a rolling basis for the past six months and the resulting value is applicable for the next month.

The Extreme Loss Margin is collected/ adjusted against the total liquid assets of the member on a real time basis.

The Extreme Loss Margin is collected on the gross open position of the member. The gross open position for this purpose would mean the gross of all net positions across all the clients of a member including its proprietary position.

There would be no netting off of positions across different settlements. The Extreme Loss Margin collected is released on completion of pay-in of the settlement.

Cross Margining

An off-setting position for a client in different segments has lower risk as loss on one position is off-set by profit in the other position. An example for an off-setting position can be a buy position of 100 in security "A" in capital market and short position of 100 in stock futures of security "A" in derivative segment. As the risk of the off-setting positions is lower, the margin requirement for the combined positions has to be lower which is considered as cross margining.

The benefit of cross margining is provided on the following off setting positions:

- a. Index futures and constituent stock futures for same expiry in F&O segment
- b. Index futures and constituent stock positions in Cash segment
- c. Stock futures in F&O segment and stock positions in Cash segment

The offseting positions in respect of (a) and (b) above are computed considering the weightage of that security in the index. A file is provided by NSE on its website

<u>www.nseindia.com</u> providing minimum number of units of stock/stock future required to offset position in index future. The number of units is changed only in case of change in share capital of the constituent security due to corporate action or issue of additional share capital or change in the constituents of the index.

The cross margining benefits are computed and provided on an on-line real time basis in respect of all existing and confirmed positions. The offsetting positions are margined only to the extent of 25% of all applicable margins (all upfront margins, i.e. initial margins and Exposure margins).

Margin Shortfall

In case of any shortfall in margin:

- (a) The members are not permitted to trade with immediate effect.
- (b) Penalty for margin violation

Penalty applicable for margin violation is levied on a monthly basis based on slabs as mentioned below in Table 3.7:

Table 3.8: Penalty for Margin Shortfall

Instances of Disablement	Penalty to be levied
1st instance 2nd to 5th instance of disablement	0.07% per day 0.07% per day +Rs.5000/- per instance from 2nd to 5th instance
6th to 10th instance of disablement	0.07% per day+ Rs. 20000 (for 2nd to 5th instance) +Rs.10000/- per instance from 6th to 10th instance
11th instance onwards	0.07% per day +Rs. 70,000/- (for 2nd to 10th instance) +Rs.10000/- per instance from 11th instance onwards. Additionally, the member will be referred to the Disciplinary Action Committee for suitable action

Instances as mentioned above refer to all disablements during market hours in a calendar month. The penal charge of 0.07% per day is applicable on all disablements due to margin violation anytime during the day.

Margins for institutional deals

As specified by SEBI¹⁰, all institutional transactions should be margined in the capital market segment from T+1 day subsequent to confirmation of the transactions by the custodians. For this purpose, institutional investors include:

- (a) Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs) registered with SEBI.
- (b) Mutual Funds (MFs) registered with SEBI.
- (c) Public Financial Institutions as defined under Section 4A of the Companies Act, 1956.

¹⁰ SEBI Circular No. MRD/DoP/SE/Cir- 06 /2008, March 19 2008

- (d) Banks, i.e., a banking company as defined under Section 5(1)(c) of the Banking Regulations Act, 1949.
- (e) Insurance companies registered with IRDA.
- (f) Pension Funds regulated by Pension Fund Regulatory and Development Authority (PFRDA).

Levy of margin for institutional deals

- (i) Institutional transactions are identified by the use of the participant code at the time of order entry.
- (ii) Transactions entered into on behalf of custodial participants i.e. carrying custodial participant code is considered as institutional deals unless not confirmed by the respective custodians in which case the transactions are considered as a normal transactions and all applicable margins are levied on the members.
- (iii) Members may also enter "INST" code in the custodial participant code at the time of entering orders on behalf of the institutional clients.
- (iv) Members are required to allocate the INST trades only to the above categories.
- (v) In respect of institutional transactions confirmed by the custodians the margins are levied on the custodians.
- (vi) In respect of institutional transactions rejected/not accepted by the custodians the margins is levied on the members who have executed the transactions.
- (vii) The margins are computed and levied at a client (Custodial Participant code) level in respect of institutional transactions and collected from the custodians/members.

Retail Professional Clearing Member

In case of transactions which are to be settled by Retail Professional Clearing Members (PCM), all the trades with PCM code are included in the trading member's positions till it is confirmed by the PCM. Margins are collected from respective trading members until confirmation of trades by PCM. On confirmation of trades by PCM, such trades are reduced from the positions of trading member and included in the positions of PCM. The PCM is then liable to pay margins on the same.

Capping of Margins

In case of a buy transaction, the VaR margins, Extreme loss margins and mark to market losses together should not exceed the purchase value of the transaction. In case of a sale transaction, the VaR margins and Extreme loss margins together should not exceed the sale value of the transaction and mark to market losses should also be levied.

Exemption upon early Pay-in of Securities

In cases where early pay-in of securities is made prior to the securities pay-in, such positions for which early pay-in (EPI) of securities is made is exempt from margins. The EPI of securities is allocated to clients having net deliverable position, on a random basis unless specific client details are provided by the member/ custodian. Member/Custodians, however should ensure that appropriate early pay-in benefit of margin is passed on to the relevant clients. Additionally, member/custodian can specify the clients to whom the early pay-in may be allocated.

Exemption upon early Pay-in of Funds

In cases where early pay-in of funds is made prior to the funds pay-in, such positions for which early pay-in (EPI) of funds is made are exempt from margins based on the client details provided by the member/ custodian. Early pay-in of funds specified by the member/ custodians for a specific client and for a settlement is allocated against the securities in the descending order of the net buy value of outstanding position of the client.

3.9.3 On-Line Exposure Monitoring

NSCCL has put in place an on-line monitoring and surveillance system whereby exposure of the members is monitored on a real time basis. A system of alerts has been built in so that both the member and NSCCL are alerted as per pre-set levels (reaching 70%, 85%, 90%, 95% and 100%) when the members approach their allowable limits. The system enables NSSCL to further check the micro-details of members' positions, if required and take proactive action.

The on-line surveillance mechanism also generates various alerts/reports on any price/volume movement of securities not in line with past trends/patterns. For this purpose the exchange maintains various databases to generate alerts. Alerts are scrutinised and if necessary taken up for follow up action. Open positions of securities are also analysed. Besides this, rumors in the print media are tracked and where they are price sensitive, companies are contacted for verification. Replies received are informed to the members and the public.

3.9.4 Off-line Monitoring

Off-line surveillance activity consists of inspections and investigations. As per regulatory requirement, trading members are to be inspected in order to verify the level of compliance with various rules, byelaws and regulations of the Exchange. The inspection verifies if investor interests are being compromised in the conduct of business by the members.

3.9.5 Index-based Market-wide Circuit Breakers/ Price Bands for Securities

An index based market-wide circuit breaker system applies at three stages of the index movement either way at 10%, 15% and 20%. These circuit breakers bring about a coordinated trading halt in trading on all equity and equity derivatives markets across the country. The

breakers are triggered by movements in either Nifty 50 or Sensex, whichever is breached earlier. Details of circuit breakers are given in Chapter 3.

3.9.6 Settlement Guarantee Mechanism

A Settlement Guarantee Fund provides the cushion for any residual risk. In the event of failure of a trading member to meet settlement obligations or committing default, the Fund is utilized to the extent required for successful completion of the settlement. This has eliminated counter party risk of trading on the Exchange. The market has now full confidence that settlements will take place in time and will be completed irrespective of possible default by isolated trading members.

The Settlement Guarantee Fund is an important element in facilitating the settlement process. The Fund operates like a self-insurance mechanism and is funded through the contributions made by NSCCL, NSE, penalty amounts, fines etc. recovered by NSCCL.

3.10 International Securities Identification Number

SEBI being the National Numbering Agency for India has permitted NSDL to allot International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) for demat shares. While allotting ISINs, NSDL ensures that:

- (a) The ISINs allotted by NSDL does not at any point of time breach the uniqueness of ISIN of physical form for the same security.
- (b) ISIN for a security is allotted only when the security is admitted to NSDL or on receipt of request for ISIN from CDSL.
- (c) The numbering system is simple.
- (d) The numbering system of ISIN is in compliance with the structure of ISIN adopted by SEBI.

Numbering System of ISIN: The numbering structure for securities in NSDL is of 12 digit alpha numeric string. The first two characters represent country code i.e. IN (in accordance with ISO 3166). The third character represents the Issuer Type as detailed in Table 3.9.

IssuerType	Code allotted
Central Government	A
State Government	В
Municipal Corporation	С
Union Territories	D
Company, Statutory Corporation, Banking Company	E
Mutual Funds including UTI	F

Table 3.9: Issuers Type

Note: ISINs for Government Securities (Gsec) i.e. loans raised by Central and State Government are allotted by Reserve Bank of India (RBI).

The list may be expanded as per need. Maximum issuer types can be 35 (A to Z and 0 to 8. The partly paid up shares are identified by 9). The next 4 characters (fourth to seventh character) represent company identity of which first 3 characters are numeric and fourth character is alpha character. The numbering begins with '001A' and continues till '999A' and proceeds to '001B'. The next two characters (the eight and ninth characters) represent security type for a given issuer. Both the characters are numeric. The next two characters (the tenth and eleventh characters) are serially issued for each security of the issuer entering the system. Last digit is check digit. The security types are planned which may be expanded as per the need as detailed in Table 3.10.

Security Type	Code
Equity Shares	01
Mutual Fund	01
Convertible Preference Shares	03
Non Convertible Preference Shares	04
Secured Debentures	07
Unsecured Debentures	08
Regular Return Bonds, Promisory Notes	09
Floating Rate Bond	10
Deep Discount Bond	11
Step Discount Bond	12
Warrants	13
Commercial Paper	14
Pass Through Certificate	15
Certificate of Deposit	16
Security Receipt	18

Table 3.10: Security Types

Box 3.1: Investor Protection Fund

Investor Protection Fund (IPF) has been set up as a trust under Bombay Public Trust Act, 1950 under the name and style of National Stock Exchange Investor Protection Fund Trust and is administered by the Trustees. The purpose of IPF is to take care of investor claims which may arise out of non-settlement of obligations by trading members. The IPF is utilised to settle claims of such investors whose trading member has been declared a defaulter or expelled by the Exchange. Further the stock exchanges have been allowed to utilize interest income earned on IPF for Investor Protection Fund for investor education, awareness and research. The maximum amount of claim payable from the IPF to the investor is Rs. 15 lakh.

3.11 Data and Report Downloads

NSCCL downloads various reports in csv format to clearing members with regards to daily obligation report, custodial trade reports, delivery reports, funds report, margin reports etc, each of which is discussed in the following section.

3.11.1 *Obligation Reports*

- Daily Obligation Report: This report contains obligations of a Clearing Member (computed after segregation of the custodial trades for trading members). This is a daily report which is downloaded at the end of the trading day to each Clearing Member. This report provides security-wise information on:
 - (a) Daily purchases and sales and their value.
 - (b) Cumulative purchases and sales, and their value for the trading period.
- (ii) Final Obligation Report: At the end of the trading period, members receive Settlement Obligation Statement for funds and securities. This report indicates the net obligation to deliver or receive for each security in which he has had dealings and net obligation to pay or receive funds.
- (iii) Net Daily Obligation Report: This is a daily report which is downloaded at the end of the trading day to each Clearing Member. This report provides security-wise information on the cumulative net purchases or net sales and their value for the trading day.
- (iv) Net Final Obligation Report: This is a daily report which provides the net obligation for securities and funds to be delivered or received and is downloaded on the T+1 day.

3.11.2 *Custodial Trade Reports*

- (i) Order Confirmation Report: This report contains information of all Custodial trades which are not confirmed by the Custodians as of the day of the report.
- (ii) Custodian Trades Report: This report gives the trade details such as symbol, cpcode, client code, quantity, value for all trades executed by a member.
- (iii) Trades Report: This report gives the statement of all the securities traded by the trading member for the respective Custodial participants.

3.11.3 Deliveries Reports

- (i) Demat Final Delivery Statement (DFDS): This report provides details of the electronic shares delivered by a member as securities pay-in for various settlements for the given settlement date. The report is sorted on Settlement Type/Settlement Number/Delivery Type/Symbol/Series/ISIN.
- (ii) Demat Final Receipt Statement (DFRS): This report provides details of the electronic shares received by a member as securities pay-out for various settlements for the

given settlement date. The report is sorted on Settlement Type/Settlement Number/ Delivery Type/Symbol/Series/ISIN.

- (iii) Client Allocation Details (CADT): This report provides details of pay out directly credited to the client's beneficiary account. It gives details of DP ID and Beneficiary account where the pay-out is credited and also details of securities, which have not been credited to client account.
- (iv) Memberwise With-held Securities Statement: This report gives details for securities payout withheld for members.
- (v) Deliveries Report: After allocation, the NSECM Clearing System generates Trading Member-wise delivery statement. This delivery statement is security-wise. The statement provides information on delivering centre, receiving centre, number of shares to deliver or receive for each security and also the code of the receiving entity or delivering entity respectively.
- (vi) Security Shortage Report: The Security Shortage Statement lists down the shortage in the delivery of the securities as compared to the Clearing Members obligation of securities pay-in. The details given in the list contain the delivering centre, receiving centre, delivery number against which securities are delivered short, the security, the quantity of shares delivered short, the Valuation price and the amount to be debited to the delivering members account for the quantity of shares delivered short, the receipt number and the counter party receiving members name/code.

3.11.4 *Funds Reports*

Two Funds Reports are being downloaded to all trading members on a daily basis i.e., Daily Funds Summary Statement and Daily Funds Statement.

Daily funds summary statement provides details about the transactions effected in the trading members clearing account at the Clearing Bank. This statement is similar to the Bank statement provided by the Clearing Bank. The debit appearing in the summary statement is equal to the withdrawals as per the bank statement and the credit is equal to the deposits as per the bank statement.

Daily funds statement provides the break-up for each debit and credit appearing in the daily funds summary statement. Both the reports are downloaded on a daily basis after the debits/ credits have been effected by the clearing bank.

3.11.5 *Auction Reports*

(i) Auction Square Up Debit Statement: This report gives details of unauctioned deliveries that are squared-up by the Exchange.

- (ii) Auction Square Up Credit Statement: This report gives details of unauctioned deliveries that are squared-up by the Exchange. This report is downloaded at the end of the auction trading day.
- (iii) Auction Difference Statement: This report gives details of the auctioned deliveries for which the valuation price exceeds the auction traded price. This report is downloaded at the end of the auction trading day.

3.11.6 *Other Reports*

The following reports are downloaded in the common/clearing folder on the extranet:

- (i) Corporate Action Report: This report gives the statement of the corporate actions which are set by NSCCL (i.e. dividend, AGM, book closure date, record date etc.).
- (ii) Securities Master report: This report will display information regarding Security Settlement Mode for a particular settlement type and number.
- (iii) Settlement Calendar: This report gives the monthly settlement schedule.

Further the following reports are also available on EXTRANET:

- (i) Detailed Margin Report (MG02): This report provides client wise, security wise, and settlement wise amount of margin and exposure for the day.
- (ii) Consolidated Margin Report (MG01): This report provides amount of margin payable and amount of exposure and MABC available for the day.
- (iii) Member Wise STT file (MWST): This file gives the details of client wise security wise Securities Transaction Tax calculated for the member for a trading day.

3.12 SEBI (Intermediaries) Regulations, 2008

One of the main functions of SEBI is to register and regulate the functioning of various types of intermediaries and persons associated with securities market in a manner as to ensure smooth functioning of the markets and protection of interests of the investors. These intermediaries, as detailed in the SEBI Act are: stock-brokers, sub- broker, share transfer agents, bankers to an issue, trustees of trust deed, registrars to an issue, merchant bankers, underwriters, portfolio managers, investment advisers, depositories, participants, custodians of securities, foreign institutional investors, credit rating agencies, asset management companies, clearing members of a clearing corporation, trading member of a derivative segment of a stock exchange, collective investment schemes, venture capital funds, mutual funds, and any other intermediary associated with the securities market.

SEBI had issued regulations governing the registration and regulatory framework for each of these intermediaries. However, given the fact that many requirements and obligations of

most intermediaries are common, SEBI consolidated these requirements and issued the SEBI (Intermediaries) Regulations, 2008. These regulations were notified on May 26, 2009.

These regulations apply to all the intermediaries mentioned above, except foreign institutional investors, foreign venture capital investors, mutual funds, collective investment schemes and venture capital funds.

The salient features of the Regulations are as under:

- (a) The SEBI Regulations put in place a comprehensive regulation which is applicable to all intermediaries. The common requirements such as grant of registration, general obligations, common code of conduct, common procedure for action in case of default and miscellaneous provisions are applicable for all intermediaries.
- (b) An applicant can file application in the prescribed format along with additional information as required under the relevant regulations along with the requisite fees. The existing intermediaries may, within the prescribed time, file the disclosure in the specified form. The disclosures are required to be made public by uploading the information on the website specified by SEBI. The information of commercial confidence and private information furnished to SEBI shall be treated confidential. In the event intermediary wishes to operate in a capacity as an intermediary in a new category, such person may only file the additional shortened forms disclosing the specific requirements of the new category as per the relevant regulations.
- (c) The Fit and Proper criteria have been modified to make it principle based. The common code of conduct has been specified at one place.
- (d) The registration granted to intermediaries has been made permanent unless surrendered by the intermediary or suspended or cancelled in accordance with these regulations.
- (e) Procedure for action in case of default and manner of suspension or cancellation of certificate has been simplified to shorten the time usually faced by the parties without compromising with the right of reasonable opportunity to be heard. Surrender of certificate has been enabled without going through lengthy procedures.
- (f) While common requirements will be governed by the new regulations, the intermediaries specific requirements will continue to be as per the relevant regulations applicable to individual intermediaries. The relevant regulations will be amended to provide for the specific requirements.

^{*} This chapter only touches upon the broad regulatory framework for the Indian securities markets, giving the main clauses of various acts, rules and regulations that have a bearing on the functioning of the markets. For greater etails, it is recommended that original acts, rules and regulations may be referred to.

3.13 SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015

The malpractice of 'insider trading' affects the innocent investors. In simple terms 'insider trading' means selling or buying in securities on the basis of price sensitive unpublished information of a listed corporate which if published could lead to a fall or rise in the prices of shares of the corporate.

To tackle the problem of insider trading, SEBI issued the SEBI (Insider Trading) Regulations 1992. These regulations were further made stringent through amendments in 2015 and they were notified as the SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations 2015.

The important definitions used in the regulations are:

- Dealing in securities means an act of subscribing, buying, selling or agreeing to subscribe, buy, sell or deal in any securities by any person either as principal or agent.
- (ii) Insider means any person who, is or was connected with the company or is deemed to have been connected with the company, and who is reasonably expected to have access to unpublished price sensitive information in respect of securities of a company, or who has received or has had access to such unpublished price sensitive information.
- (iii) A connected person means any person who:
 - (a) is a director, as defined in the Companies Act, 2013 of a company, or is deemed to be a director of that company by virtue of that Act, or
 - (b) occupies the position as an officer or an employee of the company or holds a position involving a professional or business relationship between himself and the company whether temporary or permanent and who may reasonably be expected to have an access to unpublished price sensitive information in relation to that company.
- (iv) A person is deemed to be a connected person if such person:
 - (a) is a company under the same management or group or any subsidiary company thereof within the meaning of the Companies Act, 2013 or sub-clause (g) of section 2 of the Monopolies and Restrictive Trade Practices Act, 1969 as the case may be; or
 - (b) is an intermediary as specified in section 12 of SEBI Act, 1992, Investment company, Trustee Company, Asset Management Company or an employee or director thereof or an official of a stock exchange or of clearing house or corporation;

- (c) is a merchant banker, share transfer agent, registrar to an issue, debenture trustee, broker, portfolio manager, investment advisor, sub-broker, investment company or an employee thereof, or, is a member of the board of trustees of a mutual fund or a member of the board of directors of the asset management company of a mutual fund or is an employee thereof who have a fiduciary relationship with the company;
 - (d) is a member of the board of directors, or an employee, of a public financial institution as defined in the Companies Act, 2013;
 - (e) is an official or an employee of a self regulatory organisation recognised or authorised by the Board of a regulatory body;
 - (f) is a relative of any of the aforementioned persons;
 - (g) is a banker of the company.
 - (h) relative of the connected person.
- (v) Price sensitive information means any information which is related directly or indirectly to a company and which if published is likely to materially affect the price of securities of a company. It includes only such information which if published is likely to materially affect the price of securities of a company. The following is deemed to be price sensitive information:
 - (a) periodical financial results of the company;
 - (b) intended declaration of dividends (both interim and final);
 - (c) issue of securities or buy-back of securities;
 - (d) any major expansion plans or execution of new projects;
 - (e) amalgamation, mergers or takeovers;
 - (f) disposal of the whole or substantial part of the undertaking;
 - (g) significant changes in policies, plans or operations of the company.
- (vi) Unpublished information means information which is not published by the company or its agents and is not specific in nature. However, speculative reports in print or electronic media are not considered as published information.

3.13.1 **Prohibition on Dealing, Communicating or Counseling**

Under this regulation, no insider should:

 (a) either on his own behalf or on behalf of any other person, deal in securities of a company listed on any stock exchange when in possession of any unpublished price sensitive information; (b) communicate, counsel or procure, directly or indirectly, any unpublished price sensitive information to any person who while in possession of such unpublished price sensitive information should not deal in securities. This is however, not applicable to any communication required in the ordinary course of business or profession or employment or under any law.

The regulations require that no company should deal in the securities of another company or associate of that other company while in possession of any unpublished price sensitive information.

3.13.2 Investi gation

If SEBI suspects any person of having violated the provisions of insider regulation, it may make inquiries with such person or with the stock exchanges, mutual funds, other persons associated with the securities market, intermediaries and selfregulatory organisation in the securities market to form a prima facie opinion as to whether there is any violation of insider regulations.

Where SEBI forms a prima facie opinion that it is necessary to investigate and inspect the books of accounts, either documents and records of an insider or the stock exchanges, mutual funds, other persons associated with the securities market, intermediaries and self-regulatory organisation in the securities market, it may appoint an investigating authority for the purpose.

The investigating authority has to submit its report to SEBI, after completion of investigations in accordance with the provisions of the regulations.

After considering the report, SEBI is required to communicate its findings to the suspected person and seek a reply from such person. Such suspected person is required to reply to the findings within 21 days to SEBI. After receipt of the reply, SEBI may take such measures to safeguard and protect the interest of investors, securities market and for due compliance with the insider trading regulations.

SEBI also has powers to appoint an auditor to investigate into the books of accounts or the affairs of the insider or the stock exchanges, mutual funds, other persons associated with the securities market, intermediaries and self-regulatory organisation in the securities market.

3.13.3 Disclosures and Internal Procedure for Prevention of Insider Trading

All listed companies and organisations associated with securities markets such as intermediaries, asset management company, trustees of mutual funds, selfregulatory organisations recognised by SEBI, recognised stock exchanges, clearing house or corporations, public financial institutions and professional firms such as auditors, accountancy firms, law firms, analysts, consultants, etc., assisting or advising listed companies, are required to frame a code of internal procedures and conduct as per the prescribed format provided in SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations without diluting it any manner and ensure compliance of the same.

The regulations require certain disclosures to be made by directors, officers and substantial shareholders in listed companies. These are:

- (i) Initial Disclosure:
 - (a) Any person who holds more than 5% shares or voting rights in any listed company should disclose to the company in prescribed form, the number of shares or voting rights held by such person, on becoming such holder, within 2 working days of:
 - (i) the receipt of intimation of allotment of shares; or
 - (ii) the acquisition of shares or voting rights, as the case may be.
 - (b) Any person who is a director or officer of a listed company should disclose to the company in prescribed form, the number of shares or voting rights held by such person, within 2 working days of becoming a director or officer of the company.
- (ii) Continual Disclosure
 - (a) Any person who holds more than 5% shares or voting rights in any listed company should disclose to the company in prescribed form the number of shares or voting rights held and change in shareholding or voting rights, even if such change results in shareholding falling below 5%, if there has been change in such holdings from the last disclosure and such change exceeds 2% of total shareholding or voting rights in the company.
 - (b) Any person who is a director or officer of a listed company, should disclose to the company in prescribed form, the total number of shares or voting rights held and change in shareholding or voting rights, if there has been a change in such holdings from the last disclosure made and the change exceeds Rs. 5 lakh in value or 25,000 shares or 1% of total shareholding or voting rights, whichever is lower. The disclosure mentioned above should be made within 2 working days of:
 - (i) the receipt of intimation of allotment of shares, or
 - (ii) the acquisition or sale of shares or voting rights, as the case may be.
- (iii) Disclosure by Company to Stock Exchanges

Every listed company, within two days of receipt, should disclose to all stock exchanges on which the company is listed, the information relating to continual and initial disclosure given above. The disclosures required under this regulation may also be made through electronic filing in accordance with the system devised by the stock exchanges. Further, the SEBI Act, which inter-alia, prescribes the penalty for insider trading (Section 15G), was amended in 2002 to increase the penalty for insider trading to Rs 25 crore or three times the amount of profits made out of insider trading, whichever is higher.

3.14SEBI (Prohibition of Fraudulent and unfair Trade Practices relating To Securities Market) Regulations, 2003

The SEBI (Prohibition of Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices relating to the Securities Market) Regulations, 2003 enable SEBI to investigate into cases of market manipulation and fraudulent and unfair trade practices. The regulations specifically prohibit market manipulation, misleading statements to induce sale or purchase of securities, unfair trade practices relating to securities. The important terms defined under the regulations are:

- (i) Fraud includes any act, expression, omission or concealment committed whether in a deceitful manner or not by a person or by any other person or his agent while dealing in securities in order to induce another person with his connivance or his agent to deal in securities, whether or not there is any wrongful gain or avoidance of any loss, and should also include:
 - (a) a knowing misrepresentation of the truth or concealment of material fact in order that another person may act to his detriment;
 - (b) a suggestion as to a fact which is not true by one who does not believe it to be true;
 - (c) an active concealment of a fact by one having knowledge or belief of the fact;
 - (d) a promise made without any intention of performing it;
 - (e) a representation made in a reckless and careless manner whether it be true or false;
 - (f) any such act or omission as any other law specifically declares to be fraudulent;
 - (g) deceptive behaviour by a person depriving another of informed consent or full participation;
 - (h) a false statement made without reasonable ground for believing to be true;

(i) the act of an issuer of securities giving out misinformation that affects the market price of the security, resulting in investors being effectively misled even though they did not rely on the statement itself or anything derived from it other than the market price.

The term "fraudulent" should be construed accordingly. Nothing contained in this clause is applicable to any general comments made in good faith in regard to the economic policy of the Government; the economic situation of the country; trends in the securities market; any other matter of a like nature.

(ii) Dealing in Securities is defined to include an act of buying, selling or subscribing pursuant to any issue of any securities or agreeing to buy, sell or subscribe to any issue

of any securities or otherwise transacting in any way in any security by any person as principal, agent or intermediary as defined under the SEBI Act.

3.14.1 Prohibition of Certain Dealings in Securities

The regulation provides that no person should directly or indirectly:

- (a) buy, sell or otherwise deal in securities in a fraudulent manner;
- (b) use or employ, in connection with issue, purchase or sale of any security listed or proposed to be listed in a recognised stock exchange, any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of the provisions of the Act or the rules or the regulations made thereunder;
- (c) employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud in connection with dealing in or issue of securities which are listed or proposed to be listed on a recognised stock exchange;
- (d) engage in any act, practice, course of business which operates or would operate as fraud or deceit upon any person in connection with any dealing in or issue of securities which are listed or proposed to be listed on a recognised stock exchange in contravention of the act, rules and regulations.

3.14.2 Prohibition of Manipulative, Fraudulent and Unfair Trade Practices

The Regulation provides that no person should indulge in a fraudulent or an unfair trade practice in securities. Any dealing in securities is deemed to be fraudulent or an unfair trade practice if it involves fraud and may include all or any of the following:

- (a) indulging in an act which creates false or misleading appearance of trading in the securities market;
- (b) dealing in a security not intended to effect transfer of beneficial ownership but intended to operate only as a device to inflate, depress or cause fluctuations in the price of such security for wrongful gain or avoidance of loss;
- advancing or agreeing to advance any money to any person thereby inducing any other person to offer to buy any security in any issue only with the intention of securing the minimum subscription to such issue;
- (d) paying, offering or agreeing to pay or offer, directly or indirectly, to any person any money or money's worth for inducing such person for dealing in any security with the object of inflating, depressing, maintaining or causing fluctuation in the price of such security;
- (e) any act or omission amounting to manipulation of the price of a security;
- (f) publishing or causing to publish or reporting or causing to report by a person dealing in securities any information which is not true or which he does not believe to be true prior to or in the course of dealing in securities.
- (g) entering into a transaction in securities without intention of performing it or without intention of change in ownership of such security.
- (h) selling, dealing or pledging of stolen or counterfeit security whether in physical or dematerialized form.
- (i) an intermediary promising a certain price in respect of buying or selling of a security to a client and waiting till a discrepancy arises in the price of such security and retaining the difference in prices as profit for himself.
- (j) an intermediary providing his clients with such information relating to a security as cannot be verified by the clients before their dealing in such security.
- (k) an advertisement that is misleading or that contains information in a distorted manner and which may influence the decision of the investors.
- an intermediary reporting trading transactions to his clients entered into on their behalf in an inflated manner in order to increase his commission and brokerage.
- (m) an intermediary not disclosing to his client transactions entered into on his behalf including taking an option position.
- (n) circular transactions in respect of a security entered into between intermediaries in order to increase commission to provide a false appearance of

trading in such security or to inflate, depress or cause fluctuations in the price of such security.

- (o) encouraging the clients by an intermediary to deal in securities solely with the object of enhancing his brokerage or commission.
- (p) an intermediary predating or otherwise falsifying records such as contract notes.
- (q) an intermediary buying or selling securities in advance of a substantial client order or whereby a futures or option position is taken about an impending transaction in the same or related futures or options contract.
- (r) planting false or misleading news which may induce sale or purchase of securities.

3.15 the dePoSItorIeS act, 1996

The paper based ownership and transfer of securities was a major drawback of the Indian securities markets since it often resulted in delay in settlement and transfer of securities, leading to 'bad delivery', theft, forgery etc. The rapid growth in number and volume of transactions in the securities markets further highlighted the limitations of handling securities in the physical/ paper mode. As a result, in line with the developments in the securities industry worldwide the paper based settlement and clearing system was replaced with depository system or a scrip less trading system. This transition was facilitated by the Depositories Act, 1996.

This Act provides for the establishment of depositories in securities with the objective of ensuring free transferability of securities with speed, accuracy and security by:

- (a) making securities of public limited companies freely transferable subject to certain exceptions;
- (b) dematerialising the securities in the depository mode; and
- (c) providing for maintenance of ownership records in a book entry form. In order to streamline the settlement process, the Act envisages transfer of ownership of securities electronically by book entry without making the securities move from person to person.

The Act has made the securities of all public limited companies freely transferable, restricting the company's right to use discretion in effecting the transfer of securities, and the transfer deed and other procedural requirements under the Companies Act have been dispensed with.

The terms used in the Act are defined as under:

(a) Beneficial owner means a person whose name is recorded as such with a depository.

- (b) Depository means a company, formed and registered under the Companies Act, 2013 and which has been granted a certificate of registration under subsection (1A) of section 12 of the SEBI Act, 1992.
- (c) Issuer means any person making an issue of securities.
- (d) Participant means a person registered as such under sub-section (1A) of section 12 of the SEBI Act, 1992.
- (e) Registered owner means a depository whose name is entered as such in the register of the issuer.

No depository can act as a depository unless it obtains a certificate of commencement of business from the SEBI Board.

The Depositories Act, defines the rights and obligations of depositories, participants, issuers and beneficial owners which are mentioned below (Chapter III):

- Agreement between Depository and Participant: A depository is required to enter into an agreement in the specified format with one or more participants as its agent.
- (ii) Services of Depository: Any person, through a participant, may enter into an agreement, in such form as may be specified by the bye-laws, with any depository for availing its services.
- (iii) Surrender of Certificate of Security: Any person who has entered into an agreement with a depository should surrender the certificate of security, for which he seeks to avail the services of a depository, to the issuer in such manner as may be specified by the regulations. The issuer, on receipt of certificate of security, should cancel the certificate

of security and substitute in its records the name of the depository as a registered owner in respect of that security and inform the depository accordingly. A depository should, on receipt of information enter the name of the person in its records, as the beneficial owner in respect of that security and inform the depository accordingly.

- (iv) Registration of Transfer of Securities with Depository; On receipt of intimation from a participant, the depository is required to register the transfer of security in the name of the transferee. If a beneficial owner or a transferee of any security seeks to have custody of such security, the depository should inform the issuer accordingly.
- (v) Options to Receive Security Certificate or Hold Securities with Depository: Every person subscribing to securities offered by an issuer should have the option either to receive the security certificates or hold securities with a depository.
Where a person opts to hold a security with a depository, the issuer should intimate such depository the details of allotment of the security, and on receipt of such information the depository should enter in its records the name of the allottee as the beneficial owner of that security.

- (vi) Securities in Depositories to be in Fungible Form: All securities held by a depository should be in dematerialised and be in fungible form.
- (vii) Rights of Depositories and Beneficial Owner: A depository is deemed to be the registered owner for the purpose of effecting transfer of ownership of security on behalf of a beneficial owner. The depository as a registered owner does not have any voting rights or any other rights in respect of securities held by it. The beneficial owner is entitled to all the rights and benefits and is subjected to all the liabilities in respect of his securities held by a depository.
- (viii) Pledge or Hypothecation of Securities held in a Depository: A beneficial owner may with the previous approval of the depository create a pledge or hypothecation in respect of a security owned by him through a depository. Every beneficial owner is required to give intimation of such pledge or hypothecation to the depository and accordingly the depository makes entries in its records. Any entry in the records of a depository would act as an evidence of a pledge or hypothecation.
- (ix) Furnishing of Information and Records by Depository and Issuer: Every depository should furnish to the issuer information about the transfer of securities in the name of beneficial owners at such intervals and in such manner as may be specified by the bye-laws. Every issuer should make available to the depository copies of the relevant records in respect of securities held by such depository.
- (x) Option to Opt out in Respect of any Security: If a beneficial owner seeks to opt out of a depository in respect of any security, he should inform the depository accordingly. After receiving the information, the depository is required to make appropriate entries in its

records and inform the issuer. Within thirty days of the receipt of intimation from the depository and on fulfillment of such conditions and payment of such fees as may be specified by the regulations, the issuer is required to issue the certificate of securities to the beneficial owner or the transferee, as the case may be.

(xi) Depository to Indemnify Loss in certain cases: In case of any loss caused to the beneficial owner due to the negligence of the depository or the participant, the depository has to indemnify beneficial owner. Where the loss due to the negligence of the participant is indemnified by the depository, the depository has the right to recover the same from such participant.

3.16 IndIan Contract Act, 1872

In the securities markets, the SCRA governs the contracts for or relating to the purchase or sale of securities. However, the provisions of the Indian Contract Act, 1872 also have a bearing on these securities' contracts as this is a general Act which governs the rights of parties in a contract and the effects thereof.

Following are some important terms/definitions used in the Indian Contract Act:

- (i) Contract: According to section 2(h) of the Indian Contract Act, 1872, a contract is an agreement enforceable by law. Therefore, there has to be an agreement to create a contract and secondly, it has to satisfy certain requirements mentioned in section 10 of the Act, i.e., the agreement has to be between parties competent to contract, with their free consent, for a lawful object and with lawful consideration, and it should not have been expressly declared as void agreement.
- (ii) Standard Form Contracts: With an enormous increase in commercial transactions, the concept of Standard Form Contracts has come into existence. Various business organisations like insurance companies, airways, securities market regulator, other businessman etc. generally get the terms of the contract printed on a standard form and the other side is simply required to agree to the same, or sometimes to sign in token of his having agreed to the terms of the contract so drafted. A standard form contract is a pre-established record of legal terms regularly used by a business entity or firm in transactions with customers. The record specifies the legal terms governing the relationship between the firm and another party. The firm requires the other party to accept the record without amendment and without expecting the other party to know or understand its terms. A Standard Form Contract is effective upon acceptance.
- (iii) Agency Contract: An agent is a person employed to do any act for another or to represent another in dealings with third persons, as per section 182 of the Indian Contract Act, 1872. The person for whom such act is done, or who is so represented, is called the Principal. Principal is bound by the acts done by an agent or the contracts entered into by him on behalf of the principal in the same manner, as if the acts had been done or the contracts had been entered into by the principal himself, in person.

An agent has a dual capacity: one, he serves as a connecting link between his principal and the third person, and second, he can have a contractual relationship with his principal.

An agent, having an authority to do an act, has authority to do every lawful thing which is necessary in order to do such act. An agent having authority to carry on a business, has authority to do every lawful thing necessary for the purpose, or usually done in the course, of conducting such business.

(iv) Sub-agent: A sub-agent is a person employed by, and acting under the control of, the original agent in the business of the agency. Though the general rule is against delegation of authority by an agent or the appointment of a sub-agent, there could be such an appointment in exceptional situations recognised by law. Thus, when any act does not need personal performance by the agent himself, or the principal agrees to the appointment of a subagent, or the ordinary custom of trade permits the same, or the nature of the business of agency so warrants, nature of the agency so warrants, a sub-agent may be validly appointed by an agent.

When a sub-agent has been properly appointed the position of various parties is as under:

- (a) The principal is, so far as regards third persons, represented by the subagent, and is bound by and responsible for his acts, as if he were an agent originally appointed by the principal.
- (b) The agent is responsible to the principal for the acts of the subagent.
- (c) The sub-agent is responsible for his acts to the agent, but not to the principal except in case of fraud or willful wrong.

3.17 IncoMetaxact, 1961

Some of the important definitions related to Income Tax Act are as follows:

- (i) Domestic Company means an Indian company, or any other company which, in respect of its income liable to tax under this act, has made the prescribed arrangements for the declaration and payment, within India, of the dividends (including dividends on preference shares) payable out of such income, as per Section 2 (22A).
- (ii) Dividend, according to Section 2(22) includes:

(a) any distribution by a company of accumulated profits, whether capitalised or not, if such distribution entails the release by the company to

its shareholders of all or any part of the assets of the company;

- (b) any distribution to its shareholders by a company of debentures, debenturestock, or deposit certificates in any form, whether with or without interest, and any distribution to its preference shareholders of shares by way of bonus, to the extent to which the company possesses accumulated profits, whether capitalised or not;
- (c) any distribution made to the shareholders of a company on its liquidation, to the extent to which the distribution is attributable to the accumulated profits of the company immediately before its liquidation, whether capitalised or not;
- (d) any distribution to its shareholders by a company on the reduction of its capital, to the extent to which the company possesses accumulated profits which arose after the end of the previous year ending next before the 1st day of April, 1933, whether such accumulated profits have been capitalised or not;
- (e) any payment by a company, not being a company in which the public are substantially interested, of any sum (whether as representing a part of the assets of the company or otherwise) made after the 31st May, 1987, by way of advance or loan to a shareholder, being a person who is the beneficial owner of shares (not being shares entitled to a fixed rate of dividend whether with or without a right to participate in profits) holding not less than ten per cent of the voting power, or to any concern in which such shareholder is a member or a partner and in which he has a substantial interest (hereafter in this clause referred to as the said concern) or any payment by any such company on behalf, or for the individual benefit, of any such shareholder, to the extent to which the company in either case possesses accumulated profits;

but 'dividend' does not include:

- (a) a distribution made in accordance with sub-clause (c) or sub-clause (d) in respect of any share issued for full cash consideration, where the holder of the shares is not entitled in the event of liquidation to participate in the surplus assets;
- (b) a distribution made in accordance with sub-clause (c) or sub-clause (d) in so far as such distribution is attributable to the capitalised profits of the company representing bonus shares allotted to its equity shareholders after the 31st day of March, 1964 (and before the 1st day of April, 1965);
- (c) any advance or loan made to a shareholder (or the said concern) by a company in the ordinary course of its business, where the lending of money is a substantial part of the business of the company;

- (d) any dividend paid by a company which is set off by the company against the whole or any part of any sum previously paid by it and treated as a dividend within the meaning of sub-clause (e), to the extent to which it is so set off;
- (e) any payment made by a company on purchase of its own shares from a shareholder in accordance with the provisions of section 77A of the Companies Act, 1956.
- (f) any distribution of shares pursuant to a demerger by the resulting company to the shareholders of the demerged company (whether or not there is a reduction of capital in the demerged company).
- (iii) Dividend Income (Section 8): For the purposes of inclusion in the total income of an assessee:
 - (i) any dividend declared by a company or distributed or paid by it within the meaning of sub-clause (a) or sub-clause (b) or sub-clause (c) or sub-clause
 (d) or sub-clause (e) of clause (22) of Section 2, should be deemed to be the income of the previous year in which it is so declared, distributed or paid, as the case may be;
 - (ii) any interim dividend should be deemed to be the income of the previous year, in which the amount of such dividend is unconditionally made available by the company to the member who is entitled to it.
- (iv) Interest on Securities (Clause 28B of Section 2) means:
 - (i) interest on any security of the Central Government or a State Government,
 - (ii) interest on debentures or other securities for money issued by or on behalf of a local authority or a company or a corporation established by a Central, State or provincial Act.
- (v) Capital Asset
 - (i) Long term capital asset means a capital asset which is not a short term capital asset, as per Clause 29A of Section 2.
 - (ii) Short term capital asset means a capital asset held by an assessee for not more than thirty-six months* immediately preceding the date of its transfer, (Clause 42A of Section 2)* twelve months in the case of a share held in a company or any other security listed in a recognised stock exchange in India or a unit of the Unit Trust of India established under the Unit Trust of India Act, 1963 or a unit of a Mutual Fund specified under clause (23D) of section 10 or a zero coupon bond.

(vi) Capital Gains (Section 45)

Any profits or gains arising from the transfer of a capital asset effected in the previous year should, save as otherwise provided in sections (54, 54B, 54D, 54E, 54EA, 54EB, 54F, 54G and 54H), be chargeable to income-tax under the head 'Capital gains', and should be deemed to be the income of the previous year in which the transfer took place.

Where any person has had at any time during previous year any beneficial interest in any securities, then any profits or gains arising from transfer made by the depository or participant of such beneficial interest in respect of securities should be chargeable to income-tax as the income of the beneficial owner of the previous year in which such transfer took place and should not be regarded as income of the depository who is deemed to be registered owner of securities by virtue of sub-section (1) of section 10 of the Depositories Act, 1996, and for the purposes of section 48 and provison to clause (42A) of section 2, the cost of acquisition and the period of holding of any securities should be determined on the basis of the first-in-first-out method.

Types of Capital Gains

- 1. Long term Capital Gain means capital gain arising from the transfer of a long term capital asset.
- 2. Short term Capital Gain means capital gain arising from the transfer of a short term capital asset.

PAN compulsory for Securities transaction

The Income-tax (Eighth Amendment) Rules, 2002 made it mandatory for a person to quote permanent account numbers (PAN), issued by the income tax department, for securities transactions of over Rs. 1 lakh.

Tax on long-term capital gains (Section 112)

Where the total income of an assessee includes any income, arising from the transfer of a long-term capital asset, which is chargeable under the head 'Capital gains', the tax payable by the assessee on the total income should be the aggregate of:

- (i) in the case of an individual or a Hindu Undivided Family, being a resident:
 - (a) the amount of income-tax payable on the total income as reduced by the amount of such long-term capital gains, had the total income as so reduced been his total income; and
 - (b) the amount of income-tax calculated on such long-term capital gains at the rate of twenty per cent:

- (ii) in the case of a domestic company:
 - (a) the amount of income-tax payable on the total income as reduced by the amount of such long-term capital gains, had the total income as so reduced been its total income; and
 - (b) the amount of income-tax calculated on such long-term capital gains at the rate of twenty per cent
- (iii) in the case of a non-resident (not being a company) or a foreign company:
 - (a) the amount of income-tax payable on the total income as reduced by the amount of such long-term capital gains , had the total income as so reduced been its total income; and
 - (b) the amount of income-tax calculated on such long-term capital gains at the rate of twenty percent
- (iv) in any other case of a resident:
 - (a) the amount of income-tax payable on the total income as reduced by the amount of long-term capital gains, had the total income as so reduced been its total income; and
 - (b) the amount of income-tax calculated on such long-term capital gains at the rate of twenty per cent

Where the gross total income of an assessee includes any income arising from the transfer of a long term capital asset, the gross total income should be reduced by the amount of such income and the deduction should be allowed as if the gross total income as so reduced were the gross total income of the assessee. Where the total income of an assessee includes any income arising from the transfer of a long-term capital asset, the total income should be reduced by the amount of such income and the rebate under section 88 should be allowed from the income-Tax on the total income as so reduced.

Chapter 4: Introduction to Derivatives

The term 'Derivative' stands for a contract whose price is derived from or is dependent upon an underlying asset. The underlying asset could be a financial asset such as currency, stock and market index, an interest bearing security or a physical commodity. Today, around the world, derivative contracts are traded on electricity, weather, temperature and even volatility. According to the Securities Contract Regulation Act, (1956) the term "derivative" includes:

- a security derived from a debt instrument, share, loan, whether secured or unsecured, risk instrument or contract for differences or any other form of security;
- a contract which derives its value from the prices, or index of prices, of underlying securities.

The concept of derivatives can be traced back to the Mesopotamian era when the sixth Babylonian king allowed sale of goods and assets at a pre-agreed price, delivered at a future date. This is nothing but a derivative. The working of a derivative contract of this nature is very simple. Let us understand this with the help of an illustration.

illustration:

Consider that you are a farmer who has 10 acres of land. You can either cultivate rice in all 10 acres or cultivate rice in 5 acres and wheat in the remaining 5. If you cultivate rice in all 10 acres, and the demand for wheat is high that year, it would mean that you lose out on potentially high profits that you could have made if you had cultivated wheat. If you cultivate rice and wheat, and if the demand and price for rice is very high that year, then you lose out on potentially high profits arising from rice. So how do you resolve this issue?

You can enter into a contract with a distributor to purchase all your produce – whether it be all rice or 50% rice and 50% wheat, at the beginning itself, before you even begin cultivation. This way, you are assured that whatever is agreed upon, if you cultivate it, it will be sold in its entirety. Even the price that you will get for it is agreed upon in the beginning itself. Thus, you don't incur any risk from the decision, that your produce may not get sold. This agreement is a derivative contract, where the underlying asset is the produce!

Why is iT Important To learn about Derivatives?

In the past two decades, there has been exponential growth in the volume of international trade and business due to the adoption of globalization and liberalization all over the world. The demand for the international money and financial instruments increased significantly at global level. In turn, change in exchange rates, interest rates and stock prices of different financial markets have increased the financial risk to the corporates and investors globally. Adverse changes in any of these threatened the survival of business world. Therefore, in order to manage such risk, the new instruments have been developed in the financial markets, which are popularly known as financial derivatives at national and

international financial market. The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure commitments to prices for future dates for giving protection against adverse movements in future prices to reduce the extent of financial risk in financial markets. Now there is a faster development in derivatives products as well as trading as they are very significant for every corporates and investors.

In India, emergence and growth of derivative market is completely new phenomenon. The introduction of equity derivatives was essentially the beginning of a new era in the Indian Capital Market. With the launch of Index Futures in June 2000, as the first derivative product, SEBI expanded the portfolio by quickly adding index options, individual stock options and individual stock futures. So now, the growth of this market has been quite significant. With these products in place, Indian Capital Market is at par with any other Capital Market across the globe. The Indian derivative market has exhibited exponential growth in terms of volume and number of contracts traded. The market turnover of NSE has grown from Rs 2,365 crores in 2000-01 to Rs 3, 82, 11,408.05 crores in 2013-14 and BSE market turnover also increased from Rs 5021.81 crores in 2003-04 to Rs 92, 19,434.32 crores in 2013-14. Within a short span of fourteen years, there is a substantial development in derivatives trading in terms of turnover and number of contracts traded in India.

As derivatives are new products in Indian capital market, most of the investors are not aware about such a new products. Thus, there is a need to make the sense of availability of these new financial products and their usefulness particularly among medium and retail investors.

4.1 Types of DerivaTive ConTraCTs

- 2 Derivatives can be classified in 3 ways: On the basis of the nature of the derivative contract
- 3 On the basis of the Underlying asset
- 4 On the basis of the place of trading

Classification basis Nature of Contract

Derivatives can be broadly classified into 2 types based on the nature of contract as can be seen from the diagram below. All types of derivatives fall into either of these 2 categories



Forward Commitment

These derivatives comprise of an assured occurrence in the future. The underlying asset will get exchanged at a fixed future time, at a fixed price, agreed upon by both parties at the time of entering into the contract. Since the exchange is fixed at a future time, it is called a Forward Commitment. Neither party can back out of the contract once it has been entered into, except under mutual consent. Futures, Forwards and Swaps are three main types of derivatives that fall under this category. We will discuss each of these in detail in subsequent sessions.

Contingent Claim

These derivatives comprise of an exchange subject to a certain event occurring at a future time. If the event occurs, then the underlying asset will be exchanged at a fixed future time, at a fixed price, agreed upon by both parties at the time of entering into the contract. Since the exchange is contingent on the occurrence of an event, it is known as contingent claim. If the event does not occur, the contract becomes null and void and will expire on the expiration date. Options and swaps come under this category.

• Classification basis Underlying

Another way of classifying derivatives, is on the basis of the Underlying Asset. The types are as follows:

type of Derivative	underlying asset
Equity	Stock / Share
Index	Any broad-spectrum or sectoral index
Interest rate	Debt instrument – loans / asset backed securities
Currency	Foreign Exchange
Commodities	Any commodity

• ClassifiCation on the basis of plaCe of trade

Derivatives can either be traded over the counter (OTC) or on an organized exchange. Based on the place of trade, they are called OTC derivatives and Exchange traded derivatives respectively. Usually forwards, some types of options, swaps exotic products are OTC derivatives. Futures, exchange-traded options are exchange traded derivatives.

Box 4.1: over the Counter (otC) Derivative Contracts

Derivatives that trade on an exchange are called exchange traded derivatives, whereas privately negotiated derivative contracts are called OTC contracts. The OTC derivatives markets have the following features compared to exchange-traded derivatives: (i) The management of counter-party (credit) risk is decentralized and located within individual institutions, (ii) There are no formal centralized limits on individual positions, leverage, or margining, (iii) There are no formal rules for risk and burden-sharing, (iv) There are no formal rules or mechanisms for ensuring market stability and integrity, and for safeguarding the collective interests of market participants, and (iv) The OTC contracts are generally not regulated by a regulatory authority and the exchange's self-regulatory organization. They are however, affected indirectly by national legal systems, banking supervision and market surveillance.

4.2 **Basic Derivatives**

Over the past couple of decades several exotic contracts have also emerged but these are largely the variants of these basic contracts. Let us briefly define some of these abovementioned contracts

Forward Contracts: These are promises to deliver an asset at a pre- determined date in future at a predetermined price. Forwards are highly popular on currencies and interest rates. The contracts are traded over the counter (i.e. outside the stock exchanges, directly between the two parties) and are customized according to the needs of the parties. Since these contracts do not fall under the purview of rules and regulations of an exchange, they generally suffer from counterparty risk i.e. the risk that one of the parties to the contract may not fulfill his or her obligation.

Futures Contracts: A futures contract is an agreement between two parties to buy or sell an asset at a certain time in future at a certain price. These are basically exchange traded, standardized contracts. The exchange stands guarantee to all transactions and counterparty risk is largely eliminated.

The buyers of futures contracts are considered having a long position whereas the sellers are considered to be having a short position. It should be noted that this is similar to any asset market where anybody who buys is long and the one who sells in short.

Futures contracts are available on variety of commodities, currencies, interest rates, stocks and other tradable assets. They are highly popular on stock indices, interest rates and foreign exchange.

Option Contracts: Options give the buyer (holder) a right but not an obligation to buy or sell an asset in future. Options are of two types - calls and puts. Calls give the buyer the right but not the obligation to buy a given quantity of the underlying asset, at a given price

on or before a given future date. Puts give the buyer the right, but not the obligation to sell a given quantity of the underlying asset at a given price on or before a given date. One can buy and sell each of the contracts. When one buys an option he is said to be having a long position and when one sells he is said to be having a short position.

It should be noted that, in the first two types of derivative contracts (forwards and futures) both the parties (buyer and seller) have an obligation; i.e. the buyer needs to pay for the asset to the seller and the seller needs to deliver the asset to the buyer on the settlement date. In case of options only the seller (also called option writer) is under an obligation and not the buyer (also called option purchaser). The buyer has a **right** to buy (call options) or sell (put options) the asset from / to the seller of the option but he may or may not exercise this right. In case the buyer of the option does exercise his right, the seller of the option must fulfill whatever is his obligation (for a call option the seller has to deliver the asset from the buyer of the option). An option can be exercised at the expiry of the contract period (which is known as European option contract) or anytime up to the expiry of the contract period (termed as American option contract).

Swaps: Swaps are private agreements between two parties to exchange cash flows in the future according to a prearranged formula. They can be regarded as portfolios of forward contracts. The two commonly used swaps are:

- Interest rate swaps: These entail swapping only the interest related cash flows between the parties in the same currency.
- Currency swaps: These entail swapping both principal and interest between the parties, with the cash flows in one direction being in a different currency than those in the opposite direction.

4.3 History of Financial Derivatives Markets

Financial derivatives have emerged as one of the biggest markets of the world during the past two decades. A rapid change in technology has increased the processing power of computers and has made them a key vehicle for information processing in financial markets. Globalization of financial markets has forced several countries to change laws and introduce innovative financial contracts which have made it easier for the participants to undertake derivatives transactions.

Early forward contracts in the US addressed merchants' concerns about ensuring that there were buyers and sellers for commodities. 'Credit risk', however remained a serious problem. To deal with this problem, a group of Chicago businessmen formed the Chicago Board of Trade (CBOT) in 1848. The primary intention of the CBOT was to provide a centralized location (which would be known in advance) for buyers and sellers to negotiate forward contracts. In 1865, the CBOT went one

step further and listed the first 'exchange traded" derivatives contract in the US. These contracts were called 'futures contracts". In 1919, Chicago Butter and Egg Board, a spin-off of CBOT, was reorganized to allow futures trading. Its name was changed to Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME). The CBOT and the CME remain the two largest organized futures exchanges, indeed the two largest "financial" exchanges of any kind in the world today.

The first exchange-traded financial derivatives emerged in 1970's due to the collapse of fixed exchange rate system and adoption of floating exchange rate systems. As the system broke down currency volatility became a crucial problem for most countries. To help participants in foreign exchange markets hedge their risks under the new floating exchange rate system, foreign currency futures were introduced in 1972 at the Chicago Mercantile Exchange. In 1973, the Chicago Board of Trade (CBOT) created the Chicago Board Options Exchange (CBOE) to facilitate the trade of options on selected stocks. The first stock index futures contract was traded at Kansas City Board of Trade. Currently the most popular stock index futures contract in the world is based on S&P 500 index, traded on Chicago Mercantile Exchange. During the mid eighties, financial futures became the most active derivative instruments generating volumes many times more than the commodity futures. Index futures, futures on T-bills and EuroDollar futures are the three most popular futures contracts traded today. Other popular international exchanges that trade derivatives are LIFFE in England, DTB in Germany, SGX in Singapore, TIFFE in Japan, MATIF in France, Eurex etc.

Futures contracts on interest-bearing government securities were introduced in mid-1970s. The option contracts on equity indices were introduced in the USA in early 1980's to help fund managers to hedge their risks in equity markets. Afterwards a large number of innovative products have been introduced in both exchange traded format and the Over the Counter (OTC) format.

Box 4.2: History of Derivative trading at Nse

The derivatives trading on the NSE commenced on June 12, 2000 with futures trading on Nifty 50 Index. Subsequent trading in index options and options on individual securities commenced on June 4, 2001 and July 2, 2001. Single stock futures were launched on November 9, 2001. Ever since the product base has increased to include trading in futures and options on CNX IT Index, Bank Nifty Index, Nifty Midcap 50 Indices etc. Today, both in terms of volume and turnover, NSE is the largest derivatives exchange in India. The derivatives contracts have a maximum of 3-month expiration cycles except for a long dated Nifty Options contract which has a maturity of 5 years. Three contracts are available for trading, with 1 month, 2 months and 3 months to expiry. A new contract is introduced on the next trading day following the expiry of the near month contract.

The OTC derivatives have grown faster than the exchange-traded contracts in the recent years. Table 4.1 gives a bird's eye view of these contracts as available worldwide on several exchanges.

underlying	type of Derivative Contract				
asset	Exchange- traded futures	Exchange- traded options	OTC swap	OTC forward	OTCoption
Equity	Index future Stock future	Index option	Equity swap	Back to back repo agreement	Stock options Warrants
Interest rate	Interest rate futures linked to MIBOR	Options on futures	Interest rate swaps	Forward rate agreement	Interest rate caps, floors & collars. Swaptions
Credit	Bond future	Option on Bond future	Credit default swap Total return swap	Repurchase agreement	Credit default option
Foreign exchange	Currency future	Option on currency future	Currency swap	Currency forward	Currency option

Table 4.1: spectrum of Derivative Contracts Worldwide

The above list is not exhaustive. Several new and innovative contracts have been launched over the past decade around the world including option contracts on volatility indices.

4.4 Participants in a Derivative Market

- As with the regular financial markets, derivatives markets have the following participants: Stock Exchange: Where the derivatives are created and traded.
- Investors: Investors in derivatives could be retail investors, institutional investors, banks, corporates. Each investor has different objectives of investing in derivatives. The types of investors are detailed below.
- Regulatory Authorities: They ensure smooth functioning of the markets and ensures fair practices are being followed by all participants. SEBI regulates the equity derivative markets, RBI the interest rate and currency derivative markets and FMC (Forward Markets Commission) the commodity markets. FMC is now merged with SEBI, and hence SEBI overlooks both parts of the derivative markets.
- Others: Other participants such as Clearing and settlement agencies, credit rating agencies, investor grievances etc are shared between the financial markets and the

derivatives markets.

types of investors:

The derivatives market is similar to any other financial market and has following three broad categories of investors:

- Hedgers: These are investors with a present or anticipated exposure to the underlying asset which is subject to price risks. Hedgers use the derivatives markets primarily for price risk management of assets and portfolios. Banks, treasury of companies etc fall under this category.
- **speculators:** These are individuals who take a view on the future direction of the markets. They take a view whether prices would rise or fall in future and accordingly buy or sell futures and options to try and make a profit from the future price movements of the underlying asset. Retail investors who invest for the purpose of making profits on gains fall under this category.
- **arbitrageurs:** They take positions in financial markets to earn riskless profits. The arbitrageurs take short and long positions in the same or different contracts at the same time to create a position which can generate a riskless profit. Institutional players, proprietary dealers may fall under this category.

4.5 Economic Function of the Derivative Market

The derivatives market performs a number of economic functions. In this section, we discuss some of them.

Prices in an organized derivatives market reflect the perception of the market participants about the future and lead the prices of underlying to the perceived future level. The prices of derivatives converge with the prices of the underlying at the expiration of the derivative contract. Thus derivatives help in discovery of future as well as current prices.

The derivatives market helps to transfer risks from those who have them but do not like them to those who have an appetite for them.

Derivatives, due to their inherent nature, are linked to the underlying cash markets. With the introduction of derivatives, the underlying market witnesses higher trading volumes. This is because of participation by more players who would not otherwise participate for lack of an arrangement to transfer risk.

Speculative trades shift to a more controlled environment in derivatives market. In the absence of an organized derivatives market, speculators trade in the underlying cash markets. Margining, monitoring and surveillance of the activities of various participants become extremely difficult in these kind of mixed markets.

An important incidental benefit that flows from derivatives trading is that it acts as a catalyst for new entrepreneurial activity. The derivatives have a history of attracting many bright,

creative, well-educated people with an entrepreneurial attitude. They often energize others to create new businesses, new products and new employment opportunities, the benefit of which are immense.

In a nut shell, derivatives markets help increase savings and investment in the long run. A key aspect of use of derivatives is Leverage, which allows investors to actually transact in higher amounts than what they are investing. Transfer of risk also enables market participants to expand their volume of activity.

4.6 Understanding Interest Rates

Interest rate is the return on any equity or debt investment. Interest rates can be discrete or continuous. When people invest in financial markets (such as equity shares), returns on assets change continuously. Here, we find that continuous compounding of returns (the interest rate on equity) takes place. On the other hand a fixed deposit is discretely compounded and the frequency could be from annual to quarterly to daily. A continuously compounded investment will always give higher returns than a discretely compounded investment, irrespective of frequency of compounding, for the same investment period.

Interest rates are always quoted in percentage terms on per annum basis. However, they also indicate the frequency along with the per annum rates.

example: The statement that interest rate on a given deposit is equal to 10% per annum implies that the deposit provides an interest rate of 10% on an annually compounded basis (using the formula $A=P^*(1+r/t)t$) where P is the principal, r is the rate of interest and t is the time.

Thus, if Rs 100 is deposited in a fixed deposit it would give a return of Rs 100*(1+0.1) = Rs 110.

However the final amount will be different if the compounding frequency changes. For instance, if the compounding frequency is changed to semi annual and the rate of interest on Rs.100 is 10% then the amount on maturity would be Rs. 110.250 (calculated as $100*(1+0.1/2)^2$).

The returns on investment are influenced by the rate of interest and the compounding frequency. Higher the interest rate and higher the compounding frequency, higher the returns on investment!

The table 4.1 below shows the change in amount when the same interest rate is compounded

more frequently i.e. from annual to daily and finally continuous compounding.

table 4.1: interest rate and Compounding Frequency

Principal	interest	Compounding	Calculation	amount in
(rs)	rate (%)	Frequency		one year (rs)
100	10%	Annual	100(1+10%)	110.000
100	10%	Semi Annual	100[1+(10%/2)] ²	110.250
100	10%	Quarterly	100[1+(10%/4)] ⁴	110.381
100	10%	Monthly	100[1+(10%/12)] ¹²	110.471
100	10%	Daily	100[1+(10%/365)] ³⁶⁵	110.516
100	10%	Continuously	100 * e ^(10% * 1)	110.517

It should be noted that daily compounding is the new norm for calculating savings accounts balances by banks in India (starting from April 1, 2010). The continuous compounding is done by multiplying the principal with ert where r is the rate of interest and t the time period. e is exponential function which is equal to 2.718.

illustration 4.1

What is the equivalent rate for continuous compounding for an interest rate which is quoted:

- * 8% per annum semi annual compounding?
- * 8% per annum annual compounding?

solution:

- a. 2 * ln(1+0.08/2)=0.078441=7.844%
- b. ln(1+.08) =0.07696=7.696%

illustration 4.2

A bank quotes you an interest rate of 10% per annum with quarterly compounding. What is the equivalent rate when it is:

- (d) Continuous compounding
- (e) Annual compounding.

solution:

- a. 4 * ln (1+0.10/4)=0.098770=9.877%
- b. (1+0.10/4)⁴ 1= 10.38%

Part (b) of Illustration 2.2 is also called effective annual rate calculation. By this method any given interest rate or return can be converted to its effective annual interest rate or effective annual return.

4.7 Understanding the Stock Index

An index is a number which measures the change in a set of values over a period of time.

A stock index represents the change in value of a set of stocks which constitute the index.

More specifically, a stock index number is the current relative value of a weighted average of the prices of a pre-defined group of equities. A stock market index is created by selecting a group of stocks that are representative of the entire market or a specified sector or segment of the market. It is calculated with reference to a base period and a base index value. The beginning value or base of the index is usually set to a number such as 100 or 1000.

The main index of the NSE is the Nifty 50. The Nifty 50 is a well diversified 50 stock index accounting for 13 sectors of the economy. It is used for a variety of purposes such as benchmarking fund portfolios, index based derivatives and index funds. The base value of the Nifty, which is the benchmark broad-based index of the National Stock Exchange, was set to 1000 on the start date of November 3, 1995. Thereafter, changes in the values of the group of equities used to create the index will be reflected on this base number in weighted average percentage terms.

Broad-based market indices are meant to capture the overall behavior of equity markets.

Stock market indices are useful for a variety of reasons. Some uses of them are:

- As a barometer for market behaviour,
- As a benchmark for portfolio performance,
- As an underlying in derivative instruments like Index futures, Index options, and
- In passive fund management by index funds/ETFs

Sectoral indices capture the behavior of a particular sector, just as market indices capture behavior of the overall market. For eg: The Bank Nifty / Nifty Bank Index, which is a banking sector index of the NSE, which contains the 12 most liquid and large capitalised stocks from the banking sector which trade on the National Stock Exchange (NSE). It provides investors and market intermediaries a benchmark that captures the capital market performance of Indian banking sector.

4.8 Economic Significance of Index Movements

Index movements reflect the changing expectations of the stock market about future dividends of the corporate sector, just as how stock values reflect expectations of investors about a particular company. The index goes up if the stock market perceives that the prospective dividends in the future will be better than previously thought. When the prospects of dividends in the future become pessimistic, the index

drops. The ideal index gives us instant picture about how the stock market perceives the future of corporate sector.

Every stock price moves for two possible reasons:

- News about the company- micro economic factors (e.g. a product launch, or the closure of a factory, other factors specific to a company)
- News about the economy macro economic factors (e.g. budget announcements, changes in tax structure and rates, political news such as change of national government, other factors common to all companies in a country)

The index captures the second part, the movements of the stock market as a whole (i.e. news about the macroeconomic factors related to entire economy). This is achieved by averaging. Each stock contains a mixture of two elements - stock news and index news. When we take an average of returns on many stocks, the individual stock news tends to cancel out and the only thing left is news that is common to all stocks. The news that is common to all stocks is news about the economy. The correct method of averaging is that of taking a weighted average, giving each stock a weight proportional to various aspects like its market capitalization, price and so on.

Example: Suppose an index contains two stocks, A and B. A has a market capitalization of Rs.1000 crore and B has a market capitalization of Rs.3000 crore. Then we attach a weight of 1/4 to movements in A and 3/4 to movements in B.

We will study more on how indices are constructed and the issues therein in the next section.

4.9 Index Construction

A good index is a trade-off between diversification and liquidity. A well diversified index is more representative of the market/economy. There are however, diminishing returns to diversification. Going from 10 stocks to 20 stocks gives a sharp reduction in risk. Going from 50 stocks to 100 stocks gives very little reduction in risk. Going beyond 100 stocks gives almost zero reduction in risk. Hence, there is little to gain by diversifying beyond a point. The more serious problem lies in the stocks which are included into an index when it is broadened. If the stock is illiquid, the observed prices yield contaminated information and actually worsen an index.

The computational methodology followed for construction of stock market indices are

- 2 Free Float Market Capitalization Weighted Index,
- 3 Market Capitalization Weighted index and the
- 4 Price Weighted Index.

Free Float Market Capitalisation Weighted index: The free float factor (Investible

Weight Factor), for each company in the index is determined based on the public shareholding of the companies as disclosed in the shareholding pattern submitted to the stock exchange by these companies¹. The Free float market capitalization is calculated in the following manner:

Free Float Market Capitalisation = Issue Size * Price * Investible Weight Factor The Index in this case is calculated as per the formulae given below:

Index = Free float current market capitalization Free Float Base Market Capitalization × Base Value

The India Index Services Limited (IISL), a a subsidiary of NSE Strategic Investment Corporation Limited, introduced the free float market capitalization methodology for its main four indices, viz., Nifty 50, Nifty 50 USD, Nifty Next 50 and Nifty 100. With effect from May 4, 2009 Nifty 50 Junior and with effect from June 26, 2009, Nifty 50, Nifty 100 and Nifty 50 USD are being calculated using free float market capitalisation.

Market Capitalisation Weighted index: In this type of index calculation, each stock in the index affects the index value in proportion to the market value of all shares outstanding. In this the index would be calculated as per the formulae below:

Where,

Current market capitalization - Sum of (current market price * Issue size) of all securities in the index.

Base market capitalization - Sum of (market price * issue size) of all securities as on base date.

Price Weighted index: In a **price weighted index** each stock influences the index in proportion to its price per share. The value of the index is generated by adding the prices of each of the stocks in the index and dividing then by the total number of stocks. Stocks with a higher price will be given more weight and, therefore, will have a greater influence over the performance of the index.

¹ The free float method excludes (i) Government holding in the capacity of strategic investor, (ii) Shares held by promoters through ADRs/GDRs, (iii) Strategic stakes by corporate bodies/Individuals /HUF, (iv) Investments under FDI Category, (V) Equity held by associate /group companies

4.10 Desirable Attributes of an Index

A good market index should have the following attributes:

- It should capture the behaviour of a large variety of different portfolios in the market.
- The stocks included in the index should be highly liquid.
- It should be professionally maintained.
- A single stock or a small group of stocks in the index should not move the index significantly. Otherwise, the shifts in other stocks will not be sufficiently captured in the index

In brief the level of diversification of a stock index should be monitored on a continuous basis. It should ensure that the index is not vulnerable to speculation. Stocks with low trading volume or with very tight bid ask spreads are illiquid and should not be a part of index. The index should be managed smoothly without any dramatic changes in its composition. Box 4.1 describes how Nifty 50 addresses these issues.

Box 4.1: the Nifty 50

The Nifty 50 is a float-adjusted market capitalization weighted index derived from economic research. It was designed not only as a barometer of market movement but also to be a foundation of the new world of financial products based on the index like index futures, index options and index funds. A trillion calculations were expended to evolve the rules inside the Nifty 50 index. The results of this work are remarkably simple: (a) the correct size to use is 50, (b) stocks considered for the Nifty 50 must be liquid by the 'impact cost' criterion, (c) the largest 50 stocks that meet the criterion go into the index.

The research that led up to Nifty 50 is well-respected internationally as a pioneering effort in better understanding how to make a stock market index. The Nifty 50 covers 21 sectors of the Indian economy and offers investment managers exposure to the Indian market in one efficient portfolio. It is used for a variety of purposes, such as benchmarking fund portfolios, index based derivatives and index funds.

The Nifty is uniquely equipped as an index for the index derivatives market owing to its low market impact cost and (b) high hedging effectiveness. The good diversification of Nifty generates low initial margin requirement.

Impact cost

Impact cost represents the cost of executing a transaction in a given stock, for a specific predefined order size, at any given point of time. Impact cost is a practical and realistic measure of market liquidity; it is closer to the true cost of execution faced by a trader in comparison to the bid-ask spread. In mathematical terms it is the percentage markup observed while buying / selling the desired quantity of a stock with reference to its ideal price (best buy + best sell) / 2.

Example A:

Order Book Snapshot			
Buy Quantity	Buy Price	Sell Quantity	Sell Price
1000	98	1000	99
2000	97	1500	100
1000	96	1000	101

TO BUY 1500 SHARES			
Ideal Price	=	<u>99 + 98</u> 2	= 98.5
Actual Buy Price	=	(1000 × 99) + (500 × 100) 1500	= 99.33
IMPACT COST (FOR 1500 shares)	=	$\frac{99.33 - 98.50}{98.50} \times 100$	= 0.84%

Impact cost of the Nifty 50 for a portfolio size of Rs.50 lakhs is 0.06% for the month March 2015.

4.11 Applications of Index

Besides serving as a barometer of the economy/market, the index also has other applications in finance. Various products have been designed based on the indices such as the index derivatives, index funds² and the exchange traded funds³. We here restrict our discussion to only index derivatives.

4.10.1 Index Derivatives

Index derivatives are derivative contracts which have the index as the underlying. The most popular index derivative contracts the world over are index futures and index options. NSE's market index, the Nifty 50 was scientifically designed to enable the launch of index-based products like index derivatives⁴ and index funds.

Following are the reasons of popularity of index derivatives:

- Institutional and large equity-holders need portfolio-hedging facility. Indexderivatives are more suited to them and more cost-effective than derivatives based on individual stocks. Pension funds in the US are known to use stock index futures for risk hedging purposes.
- Index derivatives offer ease of use for hedging any portfolio irrespective of its composition.
- Stock index is difficult to manipulate as compared to individual stock prices, more so in India, and the possibility of cornering is reduced. This is partly because an individual stock has a limited supply, which can be cornered.
- Stock index, being an average, is much less volatile than individual stock prices. This

implies much lower capital adequacy and margin requirements.

- Index derivatives are cash settled, and hence do not suffer from settlement delays and problems related to bad delivery, forged/fake certificates.
- It is easier for retail investors to understand indices and track their movements, than pick stocks and track them. Hence, index derivatives are more popular amongst retail investors than stock indices.

Index futures and options are traded on the stock exchanges in India. The National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE) commenced trading in derivatives with index futures on June 12, 2000. The futures contracts on the NSE are based on the Nifty 50. The exchange introduced trading on index options based on the Nifty 50 on June 4, 2001. Additionally, exchange traded derivatives contracts linked to Nifty 50 are traded at Singapore Exchange Ltd. (SGX), Chicago Mercantile Exchange Inc. (CME) and Osaka Exchange Inc. (OSE).

Points to Remember

Interest rates are the return on any investment to an investor. In case of funds lent, it is the return to the lender on account of the risk taken by lending the funds to the borrower. Interest rates may be fixed or floating. They may also be continuous or discreet in frequency. The frequency of the interest rate influences the returns on the investment, i.e. higher the frequency, higher the returns, sum, period and rate of interest being the same.

Indices are a broad market measure tool composed of representative stocks that map market behavior. They may be either broad market indices or sectoral indices, i.e. representative of a single sector. The important characteristics to be borne in mind while composing an index is that the index should truly mirror the performance of the market it represents, the stocks it is composed of must be liquid and no single / set of stocks must significantly move the index.

Index derivatives and Interest rate derivatives are traded on both the major stock exchanges in India.

 ⁽C) An index fund is a fund that tries to replicate the index returns. It does so by investing in index stocks in the proportions in which these stocks exist in the index.
 (d) ETFs are just what their name implies: baskets of securities that are traded, like individual stocks, on an

⁽d) ETFs are just what their name implies: baskets of securities that are traded, like individual stocks, on an exchange. Unlike regular open-end mutual funds, ETFs can be bought and sold throughout the trading day like any stock.

Chapter 5: Futures Contracts, Mechanism and Pricing

In recent years, derivatives have become increasingly important in the field of finance. As we saw in the first chapter, futures and options are now actively traded on many exchanges, forward contracts are popular on the OTC market. We shall first discuss about forward contracts along with their advantages and limitations. We then introduce futures contracts and describe how they are different from forward contracts. The terminology of futures contracts along with their trading mechanism has been discussed next.

The key idea of this chapter however is the pricing of futures contracts. The concept of cost of carry for calculation of the forward price has been a very powerful concept. One would realize that it essentially works as a parity condition and any violation of this principle can lead to arbitrage opportunities. The chapter explains mechanism and pricing of both Index futures and futures contracts on individual stocks.

5.1 Forward Contracts

A forward contract is an agreement to buy or sell an asset on a specified date for a specified price. Hence, it's a Forward Commitment type of derivative. One of the parties to the contract assumes a *long position (buy position)* and agrees to buy the underlying asset on a certain specified future date for a certain specified price. The other party assumes a *short position (sell position)* and agrees to sell the asset on the same date for the same price. Other contract details like delivery date, price and quantity are negotiated bilaterally by the parties to the contract. The forward contracts are normally traded outside the exchanges, in the OTC market.

The salient features of forward contracts are as given below:

- They are bilateral contracts and hence exposed to counter-party risk. Counter-party risk is the risk that the other party to the contract may not honour their part of the agreement. This is significant especially in case of Forward contracts as it can be entered into between any 2 individuals / companies / institutions, and it is not overseen by the exchanges and other regulatory bodies. Standard contract laws apply to these contracts though.
- Each contract is custom designed, and hence is unique in terms of contract size, expiration date and the asset type and quality. Even the delivery and storage terms may be negotiated mutually and built into the contract. This gives higher flexibility to the parties to the contract, which is not true in case of futures, as we will see later.
- The contract price is generally not available in public domain as these contracts are privately negotiated.

- On the expiration date, the contract has to be settled by delivery of the asset. It may
 also be cash-settled, as agreed by the parties at the inception of the contract. In
 cash settlement, the parties pay / receive the loss or gain arising from the contract to
 them in cash to the other party.
- If the party wishes to reverse the contract, it has to compulsorily go to the same counterparty, which often results in high prices being charged. This is because, since these contracts are highly customized, it would be very difficult to find another counterparty with the exact same terms as the original contract to enter into an equal and opposite transaction.

Forward contract illustration

The working of a forward / futures contract can be depicted as follows:

At the beginning of the transaction:



No money or asset is exchanged at this juncture

On expiry of the futures contract, i.e. the fixed date in the future as per the contract:



5.2 Limitations of Forward Markets

Forward markets world-wide are posed by several problems:

- Lack of centralization of trading, Each contract is bilaterally negotiated and is not listed on any centralized platform, like a stock exchange
- Illiquidity due to the customized nature of each contract, it would be difficult to trade it in the open market as specifications would be different from one investor to another.
- Counterparty risk risk of default by any party to the transaction

In the first two of these, the basic problem is that of too much flexibility and generality. The forward market is like a real estate market, in which any two consenting adults can form contracts against each other. This often makes them design the terms of the deal which are convenient in that specific situation, but makes the contracts non-tradable.

Counterparty risk is quite high in case of Forward contracts. When one of the two sides

to the transaction declares bankruptcy, the other suffers. When forward markets trade standardized contracts, though it avoids the problem of illiquidity, still the counterparty risk remains a very serious issue.

Futures contracts aim to disperse some of these issues with forward contracts.

5.3 Introduction to Futures

A futures contract is an agreement between two parties to buy or sell an asset at a certain time in the future at a certain price. But unlike forward contracts, the futures contracts are standardized and exchange traded. To facilitate liquidity in the futures contracts, the exchange specifies certain standard features of the contract. The futures contracts are created by the Stock exchange and made available for trade in the open market. , each set by the stock exchange. It is a standardized contract with standard underlying instrument, a standard quantity and quality of the underlying instrument that can be delivered, (or which can be used for reference purposes in settlement) and a standard timing of such settlement. A futures contract may be offset prior to maturity by entering into an equal and opposite transaction. The standardized items in a futures contract are:

- Quantity of the underlying
- Quality of the underlying
- The date and the month of delivery
- The units of price quotation and minimum price change
- Location of settlement

5.4 Distinction between Futures and Forwards Contracts

Forward contracts are often confused with futures contracts. The confusion is primarily because both serve essentially the same economic functions of allocating risk in the presence of future price uncertainty. However futures are a significant improvement over the forward contracts as they eliminate counterparty risk and offer more liquidity. Table 5.1 lists the distinction between the forwards and futures contracts.

Futures	Forwards
Trade on an organized exchange	OTC in nature
Standardized contract terms	Customised contract terms
More liquid	Less liquid
Requires margin payments	No margin payment
Follows daily settlement	Settlement happens at end of period
Lower counter-party risk	High counter-party risk

Table5.1: Distinction between Futures and Forwards

5.5 Futures Terminology

- **Long position:** The investor who buys the contract, and therefore the underlying asset, is said to assume a long position in the transaction
- **Short position:** The investor who sells the contract, and therefore the underlying asset, is said to assume a short position in the transaction. These are terms also used in case of other derivative contracts.
- **Spot price:** The price at which an underlying asset trades in the spot market.
- **Futures price:** The price that is agreed upon at the time of the contract for the delivery of an asset at a specific future date.
- **Contract cycle:** It is the period over which a contract trades. The index futures contracts on the NSE have one-month, two-month and three-month expiry cycles which expire on the last Thursday of the month. Thus a January expiration contract expires on the last Thursday of January and a February expiration contract ceases trading on the last Thursday of February. On the Friday following the last Thursday, a new contract having a three-month expiry is introduced for trading.
- **Expiry date:** is the date on which the final settlement of the contract takes place.
- **Contract size:** The amount of asset that has to be delivered under one contract. This is also called as the lot size.
- **Basis:** Basis is defined as the futures price minus the spot price. There will be a different basis for each delivery month for each contract. In a normal market, basis will be positive. This reflects that futures prices normally exceed spot prices.
- **Cost of carry:** Measures the storage cost plus the interest that is paid to finance the asset less the income earned on the asset.
- **Initial margin:** The amount that must be deposited in the margin account at the time a futures contract is first entered into is known as initial margin.
- **Marking-to-market:** In the futures market, at the end of each trading day, the margin account is adjusted to reflect the investor's gain or loss depending upon the futures closing price. This is called marking-to-market.
- **Maintenance margin:** Investors are required to place margins with their trading members before they are allowed to trade. If the balance in the margin account falls below the maintenance margin, the investor receives a margin call and is expected to top up the margin account to the initial margin level before trading commences on the next day.

5.6 Trading Underlying vs. Trading Single Stock Futures

The single stock futures market in India has been a great success story. One of the reasons

for the success has been the ease of trading and settling these contracts.

To trade securities, one must open a security trading account with a securities broker and a demat account with a securities depository. Buying security involves putting up all the money upfront. With the purchase of shares of a company, the holder becomes a part owner of the company. The shareholder typically receives the rights and privileges associated with the security, which may include the receipt of dividends, invitation to the annual shareholders meeting and the power to vote. Selling securities involves buying the security before selling it. Even in cases where short selling is permitted, it is assumed that the securities broker owns the security and then "lends" it to the trader so that he can sell it.

To trade in futures, one must open a futures trading account with a derivatives broker. Buying futures simply involves putting in the margin money. This margin money is a form of security that the broker takes from the investor for the transaction. The broker in turn has to put up margin money with the stock exchange. They enable the futures traders to take a position in the underlying security without having to open an account with a securities broker. With the purchase of futures on a security, the holder essentially makes a legally binding promise or obligation to buy the underlying security at some point in the future (the expiration date of the contract). Security futures do not represent ownership in a corporation and the holder is therefore not regarded as a shareholder. Only when on expiration of the contract he actually gets delivery of the stocks, is he considered a shareholder of the company. However, in India, all futures are cash-settled, i.e. the investor does not get physical delivery of shares on expiration of the contract. Instead, he either receives or has to pay cash equivalent to his loss / gain on account of the futures purchase as against the prevailing spot market prices. This happens on an on-going basis through a process called Mark-to-Market, defined earlier.

5.7 fuTures Payoffs

Payoff means the returns from either buying or selling a futures contract as against buying or selling the underlying asset. Payoff is positive if the position held brings profits to the holder, the payoff is negative if the position held brings losses to the holder. Futures contracts have linear or symmetrical payoffs. It implies that the losses as well as profits for the buyer and the seller of a futures contract are unlimited. These linear payoffs are fascinating as they can be combined with options and the underlying to generate various complex payoffs.

Payoff for buyer of futures: Long futures

The payoff for a person who buys a futures contract is similar to the payoff for a person who holds an asset. He has a potentially unlimited upside as well as a potentially unlimited downside. Take the case of a speculator who buys a two-month Nifty index futures contract when the Nifty stands at 6000.

The underlying asset in this case is the Nifty portfolio. When the index moves up,

the long futures position starts making profits, and when the index moves down it starts making losses.





The figure 5.1 above shows the profits/losses for a long futures position. The investor bought futures when the index was at 6000. If the index goes up, his futures position starts making profit. If the index falls, his futures position starts showing losses.

Payoff for seller of futures: Short futures

The payoff for a person who sells a futures contract is similar to the payoff for a person who shorts an asset. He has a potentially unlimited upside as well as a potentially unlimited downside. Take the case of a speculator who sells a two-month Nifty index futures contract when the Nifty stands at 6000. The underlying asset in this case is the Nifty portfolio. When the index moves down, the short futures position starts making profits, and when the index moves up, it starts making losses.





The figure 5.2 shows the profits/losses for a short futures position. The investor sold futures when the index was at 6000. If the index goes down, his futures position starts making profit. If the index rises, his futures position starts showing losses.

5.8 Pricing Futures

Pricing of futures contract is very simple. The important concept here is the Cost of Carry Logic. Simply put, cost of carry is the cost incurred when you hold a certain investment position. This includes interest costs, margin expenses, financial expenses for advisors, fees etc. In case of commodities, it also includes cost of storage, insurance and so on. Essentially, it encompasses all such costs incurred to hold a particular position in futures.

Using the cost-of-carry logic, we calculate the fair value of a futures contract. Every time the observed price deviates from the fair value, arbitragers would enter into trades to capture the arbitrage profit. This in turn would push the futures price back to its fair value. The cost of carry model used for pricing futures is given below:

F = Se^{r⊺}

where:

- r Cost of financing (using continuously compounded interest rate)
- T Time till expiration in years

e 2.71828

Example: Security XYZ Ltd trades in the spot market at Rs. 1150. Money can be invested at 11% p.a. The fair value of a one-month futures contract on XYZ is calculated as follows:

$$F = Se^{rT}$$

= 1150* $e^{0.11*_{12}^{1}}$
F = 1160

5.8.1 Pricing Equity Index Futures

A futures contract on the stock market index gives its owner the right and obligation to buy or sell the portfolio of stocks characterized by the index. Stock index futures are cash settled; there is no delivery of the underlying stocks. In their short history of trading, index futures have had a great impact on the world's securities markets. Its existence has revolutionized the art and science of institutional equity portfolio management.

The main differences between commodity and equity index futures are that:

- (d) There are no costs of storage involved in holding equity.
- (e) Equity comes with a dividend stream, which is a negative cost if you are long the stock and a positive cost if you are short the stock.

Therefore, Cost of carry = Financing cost - Dividends. Thus, a crucial aspect of dealing with equity futures as opposed to commodity futures is an accurate forecasting of dividends. The better the forecast of dividend offered by a security, the

better is the estimate of the futures price.

5.8.2 Pricing Index Futures given expected Dividend amount

The pricing of index futures is based on the cost-of-carry model, where the carrying cost is the cost of financing the purchase of the portfolio underlying the index, minus the present value of dividends obtained from the stocks in the index portfolio. This has been illustrated in the example below.

illustration:

Nifty futures trade on NSE as one, two and three-month contracts. Money can be borrowed at a rate of 10% per annum. What will be the price of a new two-month futures contract on Nifty?

- (f) Let us assume that ABC Ltd. will be declaring a dividend of Rs.20 per share after 15 days of purchasing the contract.
- (g) Current value of Nifty is 6000 and Nifty trades with a multiplier of 50.
- (h) Since Nifty is traded in multiples of 50, value of the contract is 50*6000 = Rs.300,000.
- (i) If ABC Ltd. Has a weight of 7% in Nifty, its value in Nifty is Rs.21,000 i.e.(300,000 * 0.07).
- (j) If the market price of ABC Ltd. is Rs.140, then a traded unit of Nifty involves 150 shares of ABC Ltd. i.e. (21,000/140).
- (k) To calculate the futures price, we need to reduce the cost-of-carry to the extent of dividend received. The amount of dividend received is Rs.3000 i.e. (150*20). The dividend is received 15 days later and hence compounded only for the remainder of 45 days. To calculate the futures price we need to compute the amount of dividend received per unit of Nifty. Hence we divide the compounded dividend figure by 50.
- (I) Thus, the futures price is calculated as;

$$F = 6000 * e^{0.1 * 60/365} - \left[\frac{150 * 20 * e^{0.1 * 45/365}}{50} = 6,038.7\right]$$

5.8.3 *priCing Index futures given expeCted dividend Yield*

If the dividend flow throughout the year is generally uniform, i.e. if there are few historical cases of clustering of dividends in any particular month, it is useful to calculate the annual dividend yield.

$$F = Se^{(r-q)*T}$$

Where:

- F futures price
- S spot index value r cost of financing
- Q expected dividend yield T holding period

example:

A two-month futures contract trades on the NSE. The cost of financing is 10% and the dividend yield on Nifty is 2% annualized. The spot value of Nifty 6000. What is the fair value of the futures contract?

Fair value = $6000 * e^{(0.1-0.02) \times (60/365)} = Rs. 6079.43$

The cost-of-carry model explicitly defines the relationship between the futures price and the related spot price. As we know, the difference between the spot price and the futures price is called the basis.

Nuances:

As the date of expiration comes near, the basis reduces - there is a *convergence* of the futures price towards the spot price. On the date of expiration, the basis is zero. If it is not, then there is an arbitrage opportunity. Arbitrage opportunities can also arise when the basis (difference between spot and futures price) or the spreads (difference between prices of two futures contracts) during the life of a contract are incorrect. At a later stage we shall look at how these arbitrage opportunities can be exploited.

Figure 5.3: variation of basis over time



The figure 3.3 above shows how basis changes over time. As the time to expiration of a contract reduces, the basis reduces. Towards the close of trading on the day of settlement, the futures price and the spot price converge. The closing price for the June 28 futures contract is the closing value of Nifty on that day.

5.8.4 Pricing Stock Futures

A futures contract on a stock gives its owner the right and obligation to buy or sell the stocks. Like index futures, stock futures are also cash settled; there is no delivery of the underlying stocks.

Just as in the case of index futures, the main differences between commodity and stock futures are that:

- There are no costs of storage involved in holding stock.
- Stocks come with a dividend stream, which is a negative cost if you are long the stock and a positive cost if you are short the stock.

Therefore, Cost of carry = Financing cost - Dividends. Thus, a crucial aspect of dealing with stock futures as opposed to commodity futures is an accurate forecasting of dividends. The better the forecast of dividend offered by a security, the better is the estimate of the futures price.

5.8.5 Pricing Stock Futures when no Dividend expected

The pricing of stock futures is also based on the cost-of-carry model, where the carrying cost is the cost of financing the purchase of the stock, minus the present value of dividends obtained from the stock. If no dividends are expected during the life of the contract, pricing futures on that stock involves multiplying the spot price by the cost of carry. It has been illustrated in the example given below:

example:

XYZ Ltd.'s futures trade on NSE as one, two and three-month contracts. Money can be borrowed at 10% per annum. What will be the price of a unit of new two-month futures contract on XYZ Ltd. if no dividends are expected during the two-month period?

Assume that the spot price of XYZ Ltd. is Rs. 228.

Thus, futures price $F = 228 * e^{0.1*(60/365)}$

= Rs. 231.90

5.8.6 *Pricing Stock Futures when Dividends are Expected*

When dividends are expected during the life of the futures contract, pricing involves reducing the cost of carry to the extent of the dividends. The net carrying cost is the cost of financing the purchase of the stock, minus the present value of dividends obtained from the stock. This is explained in the illustration below:

example:

XYZ Ltd. futures trade on NSE as one, two and three-month contracts. What will be the price of a unit of new two-month futures contract on XYZ Ltd. if dividends are expected during the two-month period?

Let us assume that XYZ Ltd. will be declaring a dividend of Rs. 10 per share after 15 days of

purchasing the contract. Assume that the market price of XYZ Ltd. is Rs. 140.

To calculate the futures price, we need to reduce the cost-of-carry to the extent of dividend received. The amount of dividend received is Rs.10. The dividend is received 15 days later and hence compounded only for the remainder of 45 days.

Thus, futures price

 $F = 140 * e^{(0.1 * 60/365)} - 10 * e^{(0.1*45/35)} = Rs.132.20$

5.9 Understanding Beta (β)

Beta measures the sensitivity of stocks responsiveness to market factors. Generally, it is seen that when markets rise, most stock prices rise and vice versa. Beta measures how much a stock would rise or fall if the market rises / falls. The market is indicated by the index, say Nifty 50.

The index has a beta of one. A stock with a beta of 1.5% will rise / fall by 1.5% when the Nifty 50 rises / falls by 1%. Which means for every 1% movement in the Nifty, the stock will move by 1.5% ($\beta = 1.5\%$) in the same direction as the index. A stock with a beta of - 1.5% will rise / fall by 1.5% when the Nifty 50 falls / rises by 1%. Which means for every 1% movement in the Nifty, the stock will move by 1.5% (β = 1.5%) in the opposite direction as the index. Similarly, Beta of a portfolio, measures the portfolios responsiveness to market movements. In practice given individual stock betas, calculating portfolio beta is simple. It is nothing but the weighted average of the stock betas. If the index moves up by 10 percent, the portfolio value will increase by 10 percent. Similarly if the index drops by 5 percent, the portfolio value will drop by 5 percent. A portfolio with a beta of two, responds more sharply to index movements. If the index moves up by 10 percent, the value of a portfolio with a beta of two will move up by 20 percent. If the index drops by 10 percent, the value of a portfolio with a beta of two will fall by 20 percent. Similarly, if a portfolio has a beta of 0.75, a 10 percent movement in the index will cause a 7.5 percent movement in the value of the portfolio.

5.10 Numerical Illustration of applications of Stock Futures

Futures are popularly used as a risk management tool in companies, banks, public departments and investors. They are also used for speculation and making profits out of market movements. There are various strategies which can be adopted for achieving these objectives. Let us look at each of them now.

5.10.1 Hedging: Long Security, Sell Futures

Futures can be used as a risk-management tool. Investors can hedge their risk of making losses in transactions by simultaneously taking opposite positions in the spot and futures market.

For example, an investor who holds the shares of a company sees the value of his security falling from Rs. 450 to Rs.390. In the absence of stock futures, he would either suffer the discomfort of a price fall or sell the security in anticipation of a market upheaval. With security futures he can minimize his price risk. All he needs to do is enter into an offsetting stock futures position, in this case, take on a short futures position.

Assume that the spot price of the security which he holds is Rs.390. Two-month futures cost him Rs.402. For this he pays an initial margin. Now if the price of the security falls any further, he will suffer losses on the security he holds. However, the losses he suffers on the security will be offset by the profits he makes on his short futures position.

Take for instance that the price of his security falls to Rs.350. The fall in the price of the security will result in a fall in the price of futures. Futures will now trade at a price lower than the price at which he entered into a short futures position. Hence his short futures position will start making profits. The loss of Rs.40 incurred on the security he holds, will be made up by the profits made on his short futures position.

5.10.2 Speculation: Bullish Security, Buy Futures

Investors can speculate on underlying assets by investing in the futures instead of the actual security. Here, leverage helps them by increasing the total exposure to the asset as compared to what they could take in the spot market.

Take the case of a speculator who has a view on the direction of the market. He would like to trade based on this view. He believes that a particular security that trades at Rs.1000 is undervalued and expect its price to go up in the next two-three months. How can he trade based on this belief? In the absence of a derivative product, he would have to buy the security and hold on to it. Assume that he buys 100 shares which cost him one lakh rupees. His hunch proves correct and two months later the security closes at Rs.1010. He makes a profit of Rs.1000 on an investment of Rs. 100,000 for a period of two months. This works out to an annual return of 6 percent.

Today a speculator can take exactly the same position on the security by using futures contracts. Let us see how this works. The security trades at Rs.1000 and the two-month futures trades at 1006. Just for the sake of comparison, assume that the minimum contract value is 100,000. He buys 100 security futures for which he pays a margin of Rs. 20,000. Two months later the security closes at 1010. On the day of expiration, the futures price converges to the spot price and he makes a profit of Rs. 400 on an investment of Rs. 20,000. This works out to an annual return of 12 percent. Because of the leverage they provide, security futures form an attractive option for speculators.
5.10.3 Speculation: Bearish Security, Sell Futures

In the previous section we saw speculation where the investor believed the security would

increase in value over a period of time. Now consider the opposite scenario where the investor believes that a particular security is over- valued and is likely to see a fall in price. How can he trade based on his opinion? In the absence of a derivative product, there wasn't much he could do to profit from his opinion. Today all he needs to do is sell stock futures.

Let us understand how this works. Simple arbitrage ensures that futures on an individual securities move correspondingly with the underlying security, as long as there is sufficient liquidity in the market for the security. If the security price rises, so will the futures price. If the security price falls, so will the futures price. Now take the case of the trader who expects to see a fall in the price of ABC Ltd. He sells one two-month contract of futures on ABC at Rs.240 (each contact for 100 underlying shares). He pays a small margin on the same. Two months later, when the futures contract expires, ABC closes at 220. On the day of expiration, the spot and the futures price converges. He has made a clean profit of Rs.20 per share. For the one contract that he bought, this works out to be Rs. 2000.

5.10.4 Arbitrage: Overpriced Futures: Buy Spot, Sell Futures

As we discussed earlier, the cost-of-carry ensures that the futures price stay in tune with the spot price. Whenever the futures price deviates substantially from its fair value, arbitrage opportunities arise.

If you notice that futures on a security that you have been observing seem overpriced, how can you cash in on this opportunity to earn riskless profits? Say for instance, ABC Ltd. trades at Rs.1000. One-month ABC futures trade at Rs.1025 and seem overpriced. As an arbitrageur, you can make riskless profit by entering into the following set of transactions.

- 1. On day one, borrow funds, buy the security on the cash/spot market at 1000.
- 2. Simultaneously, sell the futures on the security at 1025.
- 3. Take delivery of the security purchased and hold the security for a month.
- 4. On the futures expiration date, the spot and the futures price converge. Now unwind the position.
- 5. Say the security closes at Rs.1015. Sell the security.
- 6. Futures position expires with profit of Rs. 10.
- 7. The result is a riskless profit of Rs.15 on the spot position and Rs.10 on the futures position.
- 8. Return the borrowed funds.

If the cost of borrowing funds to buy the security is less than the arbitrage profit possible, it makes sense for you to arbitrage. In the real world, one has to build in the transactions costs

into the arbitrage strategy.

5.10.5 Arbitrage: Underpriced Futures: Buy Futures, Sell Spot

Whenever the futures price deviates substantially from its fair value, arbitrage opportunities arise. It could be the case that you notice the futures on a security you hold seem underpriced. How can you cash in on this opportunity to earn riskless profits? Say for instance, ABC Ltd. trades at Rs.1000. One-month ABC futures trade at Rs. 965 and seem underpriced. As an arbitrageur, you can make riskless profit by entering into the following set of transactions.

- 1. On day one, sell the security in the cash/spot market at 1000.
- 2. Make delivery of the security.
- 3. Simultaneously, buy the futures on the security at 965.
- 4. On the futures expiration date, the spot and the futures price converge. Now unwind the position.
- 5. Say the security closes at Rs.975. Buy back the security.
- 6. The futures position expires with a profit of Rs.10.
- 7. The result is a riskless profit of Rs.25 on the spot position and Rs.10 on the futures position.

If the returns you get by investing in riskless instruments is more than the return from the arbitrage trades, it makes sense for you to arbitrage. This is termed as reverse-cash-and-carry arbitrage. It is this arbitrage activity that ensures that the spot and futures prices stay in line with the cost-of-carry. As we can see, exploiting arbitrage involves trading on the spot market. As more and more players in the market develop the knowledge and skills to do cash-and-carry and reverse cash-and-carry, we will see increased volumes and lower spreads in both the cash as well as the derivatives market.

5.11 heDging Using SToCk inDex fuTures

As we have seen previously, hedging is a risk mitigation mechanism. A certain exposure in a security can hedged by an equal and opposite transaction in the futures for the same security. But what is the risk that is mitigated? Broadly there are two types of risks (as shown in the figure below) and hedging is used to minimize these risks.



Unsystematic risk is also called as Company Specific Risk or Diversifiable Risk. Systematic Risk is the market-wide risk. Let us understand both these with some examples.

Suppose, an investor holds shares of steel company and has no other investments. Any change in the government policy would affect the price of steel

and the companies share price. This is considered as Unsystematic Risk. This risk can be reduced through appropriate diversification. The investor can buy more stocks of different industries to diversify his portfolio so that the price change of any one stock does not affect his portfolio. However, diversification does not reduce risk in the overall portfolio completely. Diversification reduces unsystematic risk.

There is another risk associated with the overall market returns, which is called as the Systematic Risk or Market Risk or Non-diversifiable Risk. It is that risk which cannot be reduced through diversification. Given the overall market movement (falling or rising), stock portfolio prices are affected. Generally, a falling overall market would see most stocks falling (and vice versa). This is the market specific risk. The market is denoted by the index. A fall in the index (say Nifty 50) in a day sees most of the stock prices fall. Therefore, even if the investor has a diversified portfolio of stocks, the portfolio value is likely to fall of the market falls. This is due to the inherent Market Risk or Unsystematic Risk in the portfolio.

Hedging using Stock Index Futures or Single Stock Futures is one way to reduce the Unsystematic Risk.

Hedging can be done in two ways by an investor who has an exposure to the underlying stock(s): By selling Index futures or by selling stock Futures and buying the stock in the spot market. Let us now look at how these work.

5.11.1 By Selling Index Futures

Consider the following scenario:

On Dec 01 2013, an investor buys 125 shares of Infosys @ Rs. 3000 per share (approximate portfolio value of Rs. 3,75,000). However, the investor fears that the market will fall and thus needs to hedge. He uses Nifty December Futures to hedge.

- Infosys trades as Rs. 3000
- Nifty index is at 5950
- December Nifty futures is trading at Rs. 6000.
- The beta of Infosys is 1.2.

To hedge, the investor needs to sell [Rs. $3,75,000 \times 1.2$] = Rs. 4,50,000 worth of Nifty futures (4,50,000/6000 = 75 Nifty Futures)

On Dec 19 2013, the market falls.

- Infosys trades at Rs. 2750
- December Nifty futures is trading at Rs. 5600

Thus, the investor's loss in Infosys is Rs. 31,250 (Rs. 250×125). The investors stock value now drops to Rs. 3,43,750 from Rs. 3,75,000. However, December Nifty futures position gains by Rs. 30,000 (Rs. 400×75). Thus the final portfolio (Stocks + Futures) value is Rs. 3,73,500 (Rs. 3,75,000 + Rs. 30,000 – Rs. 31,250).

Therefore, the investor does not faces a nominal loss of Rs.1,250 in the portfolio. Without an exposure to Nifty Futures, he would have faced a loss of Rs. 31,250.

Thus the example above shows that hedging:

Prevents losses inspite of a fall in the value of the underlying shares

Helps investor to continue to hold the shares while taking care of intermittent losses

Can be done by anyone with an exposure to an underlying asset class

Warning: Hedging involves costs and the outcome may not always be favourable if prices move in the reverse direction.

5.11.2 By Selling Stock Futures And Buying In Spot Market

An investor on December 12, 2013 buys 125 shares of Infosys at the price of Rs. 3000 per share. The portfolio value being Rs. 3,75,000 (Rs. 3000 x 125). The investor feels that the market will fall and thus needs to hedge by using Infosys Futures (stock futures).

- The Infosys futures (near month) trades at Rs. 3100.
- To hedge, the investor will have to sell 125 Infosys futures.

On futures expiry day: The Infosys spot price is Rs. 2900.

Thus the investor's loss is Rs. 12,500 (125 * (3000 - 2900)) and the stock value would reduce to Rs. 3,62,500 (Rs. 3,75,000 - 12,500). On the other hand the investors profit in the futures market would be Rs. 25,000 (125 * (3100 - 2900)). Thus the final portfolio (Stocks

```
+ Futures) value is Rs. 3,87,500 (Rs. 3,75,000 + Rs. 25,000 - Rs.12,500).
```

5.12 OpTion Terminology

- **Call option:** It gives the holder the right but not the obligation to buy an asset by a certain date for a certain price.
- **Put option:** A It gives the holder the right but not the obligation to sell an asset by a certain date for a certain price.
- **Holder of an option:** The buyer of an option is the one who by paying the option premium buys the right but not the obligation to exercise his option on the seller/ writer.
- **Writer of an option:** The writer of a call/put option is the one who receives the option premium and is thereby obliged to sell/buy the asset if the buyer exercises on him.
- **Option price/premium:** It is the price which the option buyer pays to the option seller. It is also referred to as the option premium.
- **Expiration date:** The date specified in the options contract is known as the expiration date, the exercise date, the strike date or the maturity.
- Strike price: The price specified in the options contract is known as the strike price or

the exercise price.

- **American options:** These can be exercised at any time upto the expiration date.
- **European options:** These can be exercised only on the expiration date itself. European options are easier to analyze than American options and properties of an American option are frequently deduced from those of its European counterpart.
- **Index options:** Have the index as the underlying. They can be European or American. They are also cash settled. All Indian Index Options are European Options.
- **Stock options:** They are options on individual stocks and give the holder the right to buy or sell shares at the specified price. They can be European or American. All stock options on NSE are European options since 01/01/2012.
- In-the-money option: An in-the-money (ITM) option would lead to a positive cash flow
 to the holder if it were exercised immediately. A call option on the index is said to be inthe-money when the current index stands at a level higher than the strike price (i.e. spot
 price > strike price). If the index is much higher than the strike price, the call is said to
 be deep ITM. In the case of a put, the put is ITM if the index is below the strike price.
- At-the-money option: An at-the-money (ATM) option would lead to zero cash flow if it were exercised immediately. An option on the index is at-the-money when the current index equals the strike price (i.e. spot price = strike price).
- Out-of-the-money option: An out-of-the-money (OTM) option would lead to a negative cash flow if it were exercised immediately. A call option on the index is out-of-the-money when the current index stands at a level which is less than the strike price (i.e. spot price < strike price). If the index is much lower than the strike price, the call is said to be deep OTM. In the case of a put, the put is OTM if the index is above the strike price.
- Intrinsic value of an option: The option premium has two components intrinsic value and time value. Intrinsic value of an option at a given time is the amount the holder of the option will get if he exercises the option at that time. The intrinsic value of a call is Max[0, (St K)] which means that the intrinsic value of a call is the greater of 0 or (St
 - K). Similarly, the intrinsic value of a put is Max[0, K St],i.e. the greater of 0 or (K
 - St). K is the strike price and St is the spot price.
- **Time value of an option:** The time value of an option is the difference between its premium and its intrinsic value. Both calls and puts have time value. The longer the time to expiration, the greater is an option's time value, all else equal. At expiration, an option should have no time value.

5.13 Comparison between futures and Options

Options are different from futures in several senses. At a practical level, the option buyer faces an interesting situation. He pays for the option in full at the time it is purchased. After this, he only has an upside. There is no possibility of the options position generating any further losses to him (other than the funds already paid for the option). This is different from futures, which is free to enter into, but can generate very large losses. This characteristic makes options attractive to many occasional market participants, who cannot put in the time to closely monitor their futures positions.

Let us understand this with a scenario. A farmer wants to grow wheat and ensure that its price and sale quantity is locked in. So, he goes to a distributor and negotiates with him. Let us first consider the case of a Futures Contract (forward contract in this case).

- The terms of the contract are as follows: Quantity 100 kg
- Futures Price Rs. 20/kg
- Period 3 months

At the end of 3 months, the spot price for wheat is Rs. 25/kg. However, since the farmer has entered into the futures contract at Rs. 20/kg, and because the futures contract is binding, he has to sell 100kg of wheat at Rs. 20. If he did not enter into this contract, he could have sold at Rs. 25, thus making a total profit of Rs. 500 over the futures contract. But this is not possible, hence he makes a Loss of Rs. 500 over the spot price.

This is where an option contract proves more profitable.

Let us see what happens if he had purchased an option contract (put option). Terms are as follows:

- Quantity 100 kg
- Strike Price Rs. 20/kg
- Period 3 months
- Option Premium Rs. 100

At the end of 3 months, the spot price for wheat is Rs. 25/kg

Now, since the farmer is getting a better price in the spot market, and because it is a put option of which he is the holder, he has no obligation to sell to the distributor at the strike price. He instead sells it in the spot market, thus making a profit of Rs. 500 over the strike price. However, he has paid an option premium of Rs. 100 while entering into the contract. Thus, his net profit will be Rs. 400.

Thus, if he purchases the option contract, his downside is limited by the amount of option

premium he has paid, but the upside is very high.

Buying put options is like buying insurance. To buy a put option on Nifty is to buy insurance which reimburses the full extent to which Nifty drops below the strike price

of the put option. This is attractive to many people, and to mutual funds creating "guaranteed return products". Table 5.1 presents the comparison between the futures and options.

table 5.1: Comparison between Futures and options

Futures	options
Exchange traded	Same as futures.
Exchange defines the product	Same as futures.
Price is zero, strike price moves	Strike price is fixed, price moves.
Price is zero	Price is always positive.
Linear payoff	Nonlinear payoff.
Both long and short at risk	Only short at risk.

More generally, options offer "nonlinear payoffs" whereas futures only have "linear payoffs". By combining futures and options, a wide variety of innovative and useful payoff structures can be created.

Points to Remember

Forwards and futures are forward commitment type of derivatives. Forwards are over-thecounter contracts wherein parties to the contract agree to exchange the underlying asset at a future date at a fixed price. These contracts are bilaterally negotiated and not listed on an exchange. The forward price is not available in the public domain. These contracts are illiquid and exposed to counter-party risk.

Futures contracts are exchange traded derivatives that are by nature the same as forward contracts. The main difference is that the contracts are introduced on an exchange with standardized terms such as price, quantity, quality of underlying asset and so on. The counterparty risk in futures is lower and they are more liquid than forward contracts.

Pricing of index and stock futures is done by the cost of carry method, viz

 $F = Se^{rT}$

where:

(g) Cost of financing (using continuously compounded interest rate)

T Time till expiration in years e 2.71828

Futures are used as a risk management tool by corporate, banks and investors. A risk in the spot markets can be hedged by entering into an equal and opposite transaction for the same exposure in the futures market. There are various strategies used for Speculation and arbitrage by simultaneous transactions in the spot and futures market.

In case of speculation, the use of futures provides additional exposure due to the leverage

factor, than directly purchasing in the spot markets.

In case of arbitrage, the investor can take advantage of discrepancies in the spot and futures price of the same stock by taking purchasing in one market and selling in the other, thus making almost risk-free profit in such scenarios.

Hedging can be achieved by either using index futures or the stock futures itself, to remove unsystematic risk in a transaction.